

### **University of Huddersfield Repository**

Kumarapandian, Shamganth

Threshold-Based Relay Selection for Cooperative Wireless Network

#### **Original Citation**

Kumarapandian, Shamganth (2021) Threshold-Based Relay Selection for Cooperative Wireless Network. Doctoral thesis, University of Huddersfield.

This version is available at http://eprints.hud.ac.uk/id/eprint/35519/

The University Repository is a digital collection of the research output of the University, available on Open Access. Copyright and Moral Rights for the items on this site are retained by the individual author and/or other copyright owners. Users may access full items free of charge; copies of full text items generally can be reproduced, displayed or performed and given to third parties in any format or medium for personal research or study, educational or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge, provided:

- The authors, title and full bibliographic details is credited in any copy;
- A hyperlink and/or URL is included for the original metadata page; and
- The content is not changed in any way.

For more information, including our policy and submission procedure, please contact the Repository Team at: E.mailbox@hud.ac.uk.

http://eprints.hud.ac.uk/

## THRESHOLD-BASED RELAY SELECTION FOR

### **COOPERATIVE WIRELESS NETWORK**

### SHAMGANTH KUMARAPANDIAN

A thesis submitted to the University of Huddersfield in partial fulfilment of the requirements

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Huddersfield

March 2021

## **Copyright Statement**

- The author of this thesis (including any appendices and/or schedules to this thesis) owns any copyright in it (the "Copyright") and s/he has given The University of Huddersfield the right to use such copyright for any administrative, promotional, educational and/or teaching purposes.
- ii. Copies of this thesis, either in full or in extracts, may be made only in accordance with the regulations of the University Library. Details of these regulations may be obtained from the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made.
- iii. The ownership of any patents, designs, trademarks and any and all other intellectual property rights except for the Copyright (the "Intellectual Property Rights") and any reproductions of copyright works, for example graphs and tables ("Reproductions"), which may be described in this thesis, may not be owned by the author and may be owned by third parties. Such Intellectual Property Rights and Reproductions cannot and must not be made available for use without the prior written permission of the owner(s) of the relevant Intellectual Property Rights and/or Reproductions

### Acknowledgements

I take this opportunity to thank my supervisors Dr.Qasim Ahmed and Dr.Martin James Sibley for their guidance, unconditional support and continuous encouragement throughout this research journey which motivate me to complete this thesis.

I would like to express my sincere thanks to my supervisor Dr.Qasim Ahmed for his motivation, support and review comments in each stage of this thesis which drives me to arrive at the completion of this thesis. The motivation and guidance of Dr.Qasim Ahmed structure the thesis draft into a complete thesis.

Also my special thanks to Dr.Martin James Sibley for motivating me to publish papers in conferences and journals during the course of my PhD program and the publications are possible based on the review comments and suggestions of Dr.Martin James Sibley.

I also would like to take this opportunity to thank Dr.Faheem Khan - my co-supervisor for the comments and suggestions given during the progress review at the final stage. Also, I take this opportunity to thank all my progression viva examiners in the earlier stages of this research their review comments in each stage shape this work and to reach the completion.

I dedicate this thesis to my family without their moral support it would not be possible for me to complete the thesis.

## Abstract

Cooperative communication plays a vital role in the wireless domain recently due to its numerous benefits such as coverage extension, improvement in spectral efficiency, and throughput by increasing the complexity of the system. Furthermore, security becomes a key issue for implementing a cooperative communication system.

In this thesis, the complexity is reduced by employing differential modulation as they do not require complete channel state information (CSI). Different threshold-based relay selection schemes are also proposed to reduce complexity. Furthermore, the security issue in the cooperative wireless network is addressed by enhancing the physical layer security using the proposed double threshold-based optimal relay selection scheme.

## List of Publications

Publications during the PhD program:

- Shamganth, K., & Sibley, M. J. (2020). Relay Selection-Based Physical-Layer Security Enhancement in Cooperative Wireless Network. In Data Communication and Networks (pp. 305-320). Springer, Singapore.
   (Part of this publication is included in Chapter-5 of this thesis)
- Shamganth, K., & Sibley, M. J. (2018). Complexity analysis of double-threshold based relay selection in D2D cooperative network. J. Wirel. Netw. Commun, 8(1), 1-6.
  (Part of this publication is included in Chapter-4 of this thesis)
- Shamganth, K., & Sibley, M. J. (2017, August). A survey on relay selection in cooperative device-to-device (D2D) communication for 5G cellular networks. In 2017 International Conference on Energy, Communication, Data Analytics and Soft Computing (ICECDS) (pp. 42-46). IEEE.

(Part of this publication is included in Chapter-2 of this thesis)

4. Shamganth, K., Al-Ghnimi, S., & Sibley, M. J. (2016). Performance Analysis of Threshold Based Relay Selection Technique in Cooperative Wireless Networks. International Journal of Electronics and Communication Engineering & Technology, 7(1).

(Part of this publication is included in Chapter-3 and Chapter-4 of this thesis)

- Shamganth, K., & Sibley, M. J., SamiGhnimi (2014). A Novel Multi-hop Threshold based Relay Selection Scheme. International Journal of Advanced Research in Computer Science and Software Engineering, 4(4).
  (Part of this publication is included in Chapter-3 of this thesis)
- Shamganth, K., Sibley, M. J., Al-Naimy, F. S., & Reena, M. P. (2012, December). Cooperative MIMO based cellular networks: A comprehensive survey. In IET Chennai 3rd International on Sustainable Energy and Intelligent Systems (SEISCON 2012) (pp. 1-8). IET.

(Part of this publication is included in Chapter-2 of this thesis)

## Table of Contents

Copyright Statement	2
Acknowledgements	3
Abstract	4
List of Publications	5
List of Figures	10
List of Tables	17
List of Abbreviations	18
Chapter 1: Introduction	20
1.1 Introduction and Motivation	20
1.2 Main Objectives	21
1.3 Thesis Contributions	21
1.4 Thesis Organization	22
Chapter 2: Background and Related Literature	24
2.1 Theoretical Background	24
2.1.1 Cooperative Communication	24
2.1.1.1 Cooperative Relaying Protocols	26
2.1.1.2 Need for Relay Selection in Cooperative Wireless Network	s 27

2.2 Related Li	terature	30
2.2.1	Wireless Relay Networks	30
2.2.2	Cooperative Wireless Communication	31
	2.2.2.1 Relay Selection	33
	2.2.2.2 Threshold based Relay Selection	36
2.2.3	Differential Modulation based Cooperative Communication	44
2.2.4	Physical Layer Security in Cooperative Communication	48
2.3 Research (	Gap	49
Chapter 3: Single	Threshold based Relay Selection	52
3.1 Introduction	on	52
3.2 Single-Th	reshold based AF with Coherent Modulation	53
3.2.1	Proposed Single Threshold-based Relay Selection Scheme	53
3.2.2	System Model of Single Threshold based Relay Selection	54
3.2.3	SER Analysis of Single Relay Selection Scheme	59
3.2.4	BER Analysis of Single Relay Cooperative DiffAF	73
3.3 Cooperativ	ve DiffAF with Single Threshold	78
3.3.1	System Model	79
3.3.2	BER Analysis of Single-Threshold based DiffAF Relay Selection Scheme	81
3.4 Conclusion	n	85

Chapter 4: Double-Threshold and Multi-Threshold based	
Multi-Relay selection	87
4.1 Introduction	87
4.2 Double Threshold-based Multi-Relay Selection with AF relaying	89
4.2.1 System Model	90
4.2.2 SER Analysis	99
4.3 Multi-Relay based Multi-Threshold DiffAF with Differential Modulation usin	ng
the proposed combiner	101
4.3.1 System Model	102
4.3.2 BER Analysis	107
4.4 Multi-Relay based Multi-Threshold AF with Coherent Modulation	114
4.5 Double Threshold-based Multi-Relay DiffAF with Differential Modulation	117
4.5.1 System Model	117
4.6 Complexity Analysis of the Proposed Double-Threshold based Relay Selection	on
Scheme	127
4.7 Complexity Analysis of the Proposed Multi-Threshold based Relay Selection	
Scheme	133
4.8 Conclusion	144
Chapter 5: Double Threshold Relay Selection based Physical Layer	
Security enhancement in Cooperative Wireless Network	145
5.1 Introduction	145

5.2 System Model	146
5.2.1 Simulation Results and Discussion	150
5.3 Conclusion	165
Chapter 6: Conclusions and Recommendations	167
6.1 Conclusions	167
6.2 Further Recommendations	170
References	172
Appendices	183

38,056 words.

# List of Figures

Figure 2.1.	Three-node relay model	26
Figure 2.2.	Relay selection in Cooperative wireless network	28
Figure 2.3.	Base Station controlled relaying	29
Figure 3.1.	System Model Single-Threshold based Relay Selection	55
Figure 3.2(a).	Performance of Single relay AF with	
	$P_s = \frac{2}{3}P_t$ and $P_r = \frac{1}{3}P_t$	64
Figure 3.2(b).	SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with	
	$P_s = 0.8333P_t$ and $P_r = 0.16777P_t$	65
Figure 3.2(c).	SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with	
	$P_s = 0.5394P_t$ and $P_r = 0.4605P_t$	66
Figure 3.2(d).	SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with	
	$P_s = 0.16777P_t \text{ and } P_r = 0.8333P_t$	66
Figure 3.3.	SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with 16-PSK:	
	$P_s = \frac{2}{3}P_t$ and $P_r = \frac{1}{3}P_t$	67
Figure 3.4.	SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with	
	$P_s = 0.8333P_t$ and $P_r = 0.16777P_t$	68
Figure 3.5.	Single relay AF with Threshold at Relay with $P_s = 0.8333P_t$ and	
	$P_r = 0.1677P_t$	69

Figure 3.6.	Comparison of SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with	
	DBPSK with $P_s = 0.8P_t$ and $P_r = 0.2P_t$	70
Figure 3.6(a).	Comparison of SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with	
	DQPSK with $P_s = 0.8P_t$ and $P_r = 0.2P_t$	71
Figure 3.6(b).	Comparison of SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with	
	DQPSK with $P_s = 0.7P_t$ and $P_r = 0.3P_t$	71
Figure 3.6(c).	Comparison of SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with	
	DQPSK with $P_s = 0.3P_t$ and $P_r = 0.7P_t$	72
Figure 3.7.	Comparison of SER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay DiffAF	
	protocol with DBPSK with $P_s = 0.8P_t$ and $P_r = 0.2P_t$	73
Figure 3.8.	BER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay AF relaying with DBPSK	75
Figure 3.8(a).	BER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay DiffAF relaying	
	with DQPSK	76
Figure 3.8(b).	BER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay DiffAF relaying	
	with DBPSK	76
Figure 3.8(c).	BER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay DiffAF relaying	
	with DQPSK for case(iii)	77
Figure 3.9. Co	omparison of BER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay DiffAF	
protoco	ol with DBPSK with $P_s = 0.8P_t$ and $P_r = 0.2P_t$	77

Figure 3.10(a). BER Performance comparison Single-Threshold based DiffAF relaying 83

Figure 3.10(b). BER Performance of Single-relay DiffAF relaying with

$$P_s = 0.8 \text{ and } P_r = 0.2$$
 84

Figure 3.11.	Comparison of DiffAF based Single-Threshold at the destination and	
	relay for case(ii)	85
Figure 4.1.	Mode of operation for Double Threshold-based MRS scheme	93
Figure 4.2.	System Model Double Threshold-based MRS scheme	95
Figure 4.3.	Relay Comparison of Double-Threshold based Coherent AF for case(ii)	100
Figure 4.4.	Relay Comparison of Double-Threshold based Coherent AF for case(iii)	101
Figure 4.5.	System Model of Multi-Threshold based MRS scheme	104
Figure 4.6.	Relay Comparison of Multi-Threshold DiffAF for case(ii)	111
Figure 4.7.	Relay Comparison of Multi-Threshold DiffAF for case(iii)	112
Figure 4.8.	Relay Comparison of Multi-Threshold AF for case(ii)	113
Figure 4.9.	Relay Comparison of Multi-Threshold AF for case(iii)	113
Figure 4.10.	Relay Comparison of Multi-Threshold Coherent AF for case(ii)	115
Figure 4.11.	Relay Comparison of Multi-Threshold Coherent AF for case(iii)	115
Figure 4.12.	Threshold Comparison of Multi-Threshold Coherent AF for case(iii)	116
Figure 4.13.	Comparison of Coherent Vs Differential Modulation scheme for	
	Multi-relay AF with Equal Power allocation	120

Figure 4.14.	Comparison of Coherent Vs Differential Modulation scheme for	
	Multi-relay AF with $P_s = 0.8P_t$ and $P_r = 0.2P_t$	120
Figure 4.15.	Multi-relay AF with Double-Threshold	121
Figure 4.16.	Multi-relay AF with Double-Threshold for case(ii)	122
Figure 4.17.	Multi-relay AF with Double-Threshold for case(iii)	122
Figure 4.18.	Double-Threshold based DiffAF for case(ii)	123
Figure 4.19.	Multi-relay DiffAF with Double-Threshold using 5-relay for case(iii)	123
Figure 4.20.	Multi-relay DiffAF with Double-Threshold using 10-relay for case(iii)	124
Figure 4.21.	Multi-relay DiffAF with Double-Threshold with $P_s = 0.7P_t$ and	
	$P_r = 0.3P_t$ and Th_In=5 and Th_Out=10, N=5 for case(ii)	125
Figure 4.22.	Multi-relay DiffAF with Double-Threshold with $P_s = 0.3P_t$ and	
	$P_r = 0.7P_t$ and Th_In=10 and Th_Out=5 for case(iii)	125
Figure 4.23.	Multi-relay AF with Double-Threshold with $P_s = 0.7P_t$ and	
	$P_r = 0.3P_t$ and Th_In=3 and Th_Out=5 for case(ii)	126
Figure 4.24.	Multi-relay AF with Double-Threshold with $P_s = 0.3P_t$ and	
	$P_r = 0.7P_t$ for case(iii)	127
Figure 4.25.	Comparative Channel estimation for the cooperation scheme	140
Figure 4.26.	Savings of Channel computation	141
Figure 4.27.	Comparative Multi-relay Double Threshold with DQPSK with	
	$P_s = 0.7P_t$ and $P_r = 0.3P_t$ and Th_In=3 and Th_Out=5 (AF Vs DiffAF)	142
Figure 4.28.	Comparative Analysis of Multi-Threshold AF Vs DiffAF Relay	
	Comparison with for case(ii)	143
Figure 4.29.	Relay Comparison of Coherent AF and Differential AF for case(ii)	143

Figure 5.1.	System Model of Double Threshold scheme with eavesdropper	150
Figure 5.1a.	Comparison of Intercept Probability performance for AFbORS schemes with Equal Power	152
Figure 5.2.	Comparison of Intercept Probability DFbORS schemes with Equal Power	: 153
Figure 5.3.	Comparison of MER for P-AFbORS without Threshold with Equal Power	153
Figure 5.4.	Comparison of MER for Double Threshold based P-AFbORS with Equal Power	154
Figure 5.5.	Comparison of P-AFbORS without Double-Threshold for MER=-3dB and MER=15dB for different modulation schemes with Equal Power	154
Figure 5.6.	Comparison of Intercept Probability for AFbORS with different relay scenarios with Equal Power and Th_In=5 and Th_Out=10	155
Figure 5.7.	Comparison of P-DFbORS performance of different relay scenarios with Equal Power and Th_In=5 and Th_Out=10	156
Figure 5.8.	Comparison of T-DFbORS performance of different relay scenario with Equal Power and Th_In=5 and Th_Out=10	156
Figure 5.9.	Comparison of Intercept Probability performance for AFbORS schemes with $P_s = 0.7P_t$ and $P_r = 0.3P_t$	157
Figure 5.10.	Comparison of Intercept Probability performance for DFbORS schemes with $P_s = 0.7P_t$ and $P_r = 0.3P_t$ and Th_In=5 and Th_Out=10	158
Figure 5.11.	Comparison of P-AFbORS with Double Threshold for $P_s = 0.7P_t$	

and 
$$P_r = 0.3P_t$$
 158

- Figure 5.12. BER Performance of AFbORS scheme with and without Double Threshold for MER=-3 dB with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  159
- Figure 5.13. BER Performance of AFbORS scheme with and without Double Threshold for MER=0 dB with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  160
- Figure 5.14. BER Performance of AFbORS scheme with and without Double Threshold for MER=12 dB with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  160
- Figure 5.15. BER Performance of AFbORS scheme with and without Double Threshold for MER=15 dB with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  161
- Figure 5.16. Comparison of T-AFbORS with Double Threshold for different constellation size with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  162
- Figure 5.17. Comparison of Intercept Probability-AFbORS performance of different relay scenarios with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  163
- Figure 5.18. Comparison of Intercept Probability-DFbORS performance of different relay scenarios with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  163
- Figure 5.19. Comparison of P-AFbORS with Double Threshold performance for different number of relays with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  for MER=-3dB and 15dB 164
- Figure 5.20. Comparison of P-AFbORS with Double Threshold for different modulation scheme for MER=-3dB and 6dB with  $P_s = 0.3P_t$ and  $P_r = 0.7P_t$  165

## Figure 5.21. BER performance comparison of P-AFbORS with Double Threshold

for different number of relays

165

## List of Tables

Table 2.1.	Summary of Relay Selection Algorithms for Cooperative D2D	
	Communication.	36
Table 4.1.	Channel estimation for Case (i).	132
Table 4.2.	Channel estimation for Case (ii).	133
Table 4.3.	Channel estimation for the special case.	140

## List of Abbreviations

3GPP- Third Generation Partnership Project 5G-Fifth Generation ABER-Average Bit Error Rate AF-Amplify and Forward AFbORS- Amplify and Forward based Optimal Relay Selection **BER- Bit Error Rate BPSK-** Binary Phase Shift Key **BS-** Base Station CAGR- Compound Annual Growth Rate CSI- Channel State Information D2D- Device-to-Device Communication DBPSK-Differential BPSK DF- Decode and Forward DFbORS-Decode and Forward based Optimal Relay Selection DiffAF- Differential AF DQPSK- Differential QPSK DSTC-Distributed Space Time Coding DT-GSC- Double Threshold Generalised selection combining e2e- End-to-End **GSC-** Generalised Selection Combining **ISP** -Internet Service Providers LTE-A- LTE-Advanced standard

MER- Mains-to-Eavesdropper Ratio MGF-Moment Generating Function MIMO- Multiple-In-Multiple-Out mMIMO- Massive MIMO mm-wave- Millimetre Wave M-PSK-Mary-Phase Shift Keying MRC-Maximum Ratio Combining MRS- Multi-Relay-Selection MS-Mobile Station MW- Maximum-Weighted matching algorithm OR- Opportunistic relaying ORS-Optimal Relay Selection PARS- Power-Aware Relay Selection PER- Packet Error Rate QoS- Quality of Service QPSK-Quadrature Phase Shift Keying SER-Symbol Error Rate SNR- Signal to Noise ratio SRS- Single Relay Selection **TDMA-Time Division Multiple Access UE-User Equipment** 

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

#### **1.1 Introduction and Motivation**

Resource allocation and sharing among multiple relay nodes minimizes power consumption and saves the overall network resources in cooperative wireless networks. Cooperative wireless communication effectively combats fading and provides reliable communication. Relay selection in cooperative wireless communication is an essential technique that improves performance by selecting the best relays and eliminating the relays with a poor signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). There are some critical issues in the relay selection such as the increase in complexity and power consumption by selecting more relays to assist the source transmission. Also, the security threat is one of the critical issues in the existence of an eavesdropper along with the relay node in the cooperative wireless network. Threshold based relay selection can be exploited to overcome the issue of selecting more relays by comparing the SNR at the relays with the pre-set threshold. The complexity in the existing relay selection is high due to the full channel state information (CSI) requirement. This thesis investigates the differential modulation schemes with threshold-based relay selection to reduce the complexity and power consumption. The security issue in cooperative wireless network is addressed in this thesis by enhancing the physical layer security using relay selection. Unlike the existing techniques, the proposed relay selection-based scheme enhances the physical layer security in a cooperative wireless network and offers improved intercept probability performance.

#### **1.2 Main Objectives**

- The significant objective of this research is to devise single-, double-, and multithreshold-based relay selection scheme using differential modulation for cooperative wireless networks and to analyze its performance.
- To improve the physical layer security in cooperative wireless network by the proposed double threshold based optimal relay selection scheme.

#### **1.3 Thesis Contributions**

Prior works on the threshold-based relay selection require full channel estimation, which is not possible in fast fading channel conditions. The proposed scheme requires minimal channel estimation as differential modulation is employed. The proposed relaying selection scheme requires a long-term average of the received signal, reducing the full CSI requirement. The proposed method reduces power consumption at the relay node. In addition to threshold-based relay selection the proposed scheme also considers the physical layer security enhancement in a cooperative wireless network.

The major contributions of this thesis are as follows:

- Single-threshold-based-relay selection with mathematical model using differential modulation applying the distance constraints is proposed. The proposed scheme is studied with amplify and forward (AF) and differential amplify and forward (DiffAF) relaying schemes. Proposed scheme is different from the existing single thresholdbased scheme which employs coherent relaying and equal power allocation.
- 2. Double-threshold-based-multi-relay selection and multi-threshold based proposed with mathematical model using coherent and differential modulation scheme with distance

constraints is also proposed. The complexity analysis of the proposed double- and multi-threshold based scheme is analyzed based on the number of channel estimation and combining branches.

3. The proposed scheme combines the double-threshold scheme with existing optimal relay selection with distance constraints and unequal power allocation to enhance physical layer security in cooperative wireless networks. The BER performance is analyzed for the proposed scheme with different relay scenarios and modulation schemes.

#### **1.4 Thesis Organization**

The remainder of this thesis is organised as follows:

- Chapter 2 The background concepts of cooperative wireless communication and relay selection in cooperative wireless networks are briefly introduced. A comprehensive survey of relay selection is discussed in this chapter. It also provides a thorough literature review on the relaying techniques, followed by the single- and multi-relay selection techniques and physical layer security for cooperative wireless networks. This chapter also compares the findings of the existing techniques in the literature.
- Chapter 3 –The proposed single threshold based single relay selection is presented with the mathematical model for cooperative wireless networks. The proposed scheme categorized as Single-Threshold AF and DiffAF relaying with Coherent and differential Modulation schemes. The performance analysis of the single-threshold-based relay selection scheme is discussed. The comparative results for this scheme is presented.
- **Chapter 4** Mathematical model of the proposed double-threshold based relay selection for double-threshold AF and double-threshold DiffAF relaying with coherent

and differential Modulation schemes is presented. The mathematical model is discussed in this chapter. Furthermore, the performance of the proposed double- and multithreshold based relay selection schemes is evaluated. Comparative analysis of these schemes is presented.

- **Chapter 5** –Intercept probability analysis of the proposed double threshold based optimal relay selection scheme is presented. In addition, this chapter also presents a comparative BER performance analysis of the proposed scheme with varying numbers of relays and modulation schemes for different distance cases.
- **Chapter 6** This chapter highlights the summary of the contributions of this thesis and future research directions.

## Chapter 2

## **Background and Related Literature**

This chapter provides a comprehensive survey of cooperative wireless communication. A detailed discussion about the relay selection techniques and cooperative relaying protocols in cooperative wireless networks discussed in this chapter. Section 2.1 begins with the theoretical background of cooperative communication followed by the related literature in Section 2.2. The identified research gap is presented in Section 2.3.

Part of this thesis published in "International Conference on Energy, Communication, Data Analytics and Soft Computing (ICECDS)", (Shamganth & Sibley, 2017) and in "IET Chennai 3rd International on Sustainable Energy and Intelligent Systems (SEISCON 2012)", (Shamganth.K et al., 2012).

#### 2.1 Theoretical Background

#### **2.1.1** Cooperative Communication

Cooperative communication has drawn significant interest due to the increase in data rate and low-cost network coverage. Low-cost data availability is an essential consideration for multimedia communication systems (Yang et al., 2005). Cooperative relay influences spatial diversity in wireless communication networks without requiring multiple antennas. Device-to-Device (D2D) communication supports the infrastructure-based cellular networks in LTE-Advanced Release 12 standard (K.Shamganth et al., 2016).

The nodes in the wireless network have three main characteristics, such as egoistic, supportive, and cooperative (Dohler & Li, 2010). The egoistic behaviour of the relay node is such that node does not support the transmission of the source information to the destination node (Dohler & Li, 2010). In the case of supportive behaviour of the relay node, it is used only for the unidirectional transmission (Dohler & Li, 2010). The cooperative behaviour of the nodes in a wireless network provides mutual support to the connected nodes in the network (Dohler & Li, 2010). Each node in the cooperative wireless network transmits its data, and at the same time, it will act as a cooperative node for the other nodes in the network (Dohler, M., & Aghvami, A. H, 2008).

Cooperative wireless communication supports direct communication between the nodes in the wireless network in a distributed fashion and it gains similar advantages as that of traditional MIMO based communication. Cooperative communication improves the capacity, speed, and overall performance of the wireless network (Nosratinia et al., 2004). It also extends the network coverage and lifetime (Nosratinia et al., 2004). Cooperative communication mainly depends on the parameters such as resource allocation to the nodes and relay selection. The selected relay node is required to provide optimal performance with the lesser allotted resources (Rege and Abdullah, 2016).

Cooperation between nodes in a wireless network is possible if the number of nodes in the network is three or more, as shown in figure 2.1. The three-node model shown in figure 2.1 involves the source node 'S', the relay node 'R' and the destination node 'D' (Cover and El Gamal., 1979). The source node (S) originates the information, and it intends to send the information to the destination node (D), and the relay node (R) supports the communication between S and D when the link between S and D is weak. Two phases of operation exist in cooperative wireless communication such as Phase-I and Phase-II. The source node 'S' transmits the signal and the signal received by the nodes relay node 'R' and the destination

node 'D', and this phase is known as the broadcast phase. The node 'R' forwards the information to 'D' and this is the multiple access phase.



Figure 2.1. Three-node relay model

#### 2.1.1.1 Cooperative Relaying Protocols

The relaying protocols provide the details of the data processing at the relay nodes in a cooperative wireless network. Cooperative relaying protocols are categorized as Fixed and Adaptive relaying protocols (K.J. Ray Liu et al.,2008).

In the fixed relaying the sharing of the channel, resources are deterministic between the source and relay node. The significant benefit of fixed relaying is its more straightforward implementation. Moreover, the limitation of this type of relaying protocol is its degraded bandwidth efficiency due to the resource sharing among relays even though the source to destination link does not suffer from the channel impairments. Limitations of the fixed relaying are overcome by adaptive relaying techniques (Hong et al., 2010).

#### **Fixed Amplify and Forward Relaying**

The relay node amplifies and forwards the scaled version of the source node signal to the destination node in the AF relaying protocol (Lanemann et al., 2004). The signal from the source node is received by the relay node and at the destination node. The source signal is received at the relay node, in addition the noise exists in the source to relay link is amplified

and forward to the destination. The BS can make a better decision on the detection of the source information based on the two faded version of the signal received (Nosratinia et al., 2004).

#### **Fixed Decode and Forward Relaying**

The relay node decodes the source information and forwards the signal to the destination node in the DF relaying (Andrew Sendonaris et al.,2003). It reduces the additive noise effects of the source to relay link, which is the major limitation in AF relaying (Fitzek, F. H.et al.,2006). In Phase-I, the transmitted source signal is received by the relay node and the destination due to the broadcast nature of the source transmission. However, if the decoded signal has the error bits, then the relay will retransmit the erroneous signal, it degrades the received signal quality at the relay node. To overcome the limitation of the erroneous retransmission (Laneman et al.,2004) proposed a hybrid DF protocol.

#### Adaptive relaying protocols

Fixed relaying protocols suffer from the lower spectral efficiency issue. This limitation is overcome by the adaptive relaying protocols (Hong et al., 2010). Selection relaying is the type of adaptive relaying protocol.

#### **Selection DF relaying**

The decode and forward of the source signal at the relay node depends on the SNR threshold condition. If the SNR of the received signal at the relay is above a certain threshold then the relay will be in active mode. If the source to relay link SNR is below the threshold, then the relay will not participate in the communication (Laneman et al.,2004).

#### 2.1.1.2 Need for Relay Selection in Cooperative Wireless Networks

Relay selection plays a vital role in the performance of cooperative wireless networks. Ineffective relay selection in cooperative networks results in performance degradation (Abdulhadi, S.et al.,2012). The use of distributed virtual antenna terminals from multiple relay nodes improves the reliability in a cooperative wireless communication environment. The relay nodes between the source and the destination node create an additional link to forward the source information to the destination as shown in figure 2.2. The forwarding of the source information depends on the type relaying protocols (Zhang et al., 2016). Relay selection allows the best-selected relay to assist the source transmission to the destination and it reduces the power consumption of the remaining relay nodes (Mohamed et al., 2014).

The existing relay selection scheme in the literature classified into two major categories a centralized relay selection and a distributed relay selection. In a cellular network, the base station communicates with the mobile station using an infrastructure-based network, and in this case, centralized relay selection is used.



Figure 2.2. Relay selection in Cooperative wireless network

This type of relay selection has the central node that collects the required information from the relays for the communication purpose, as shown in figure 2.3. The type of relay selection

proposed by Ibrahim et al., (2008) does not have a central controller and allows each node to decide whether to cooperate with the requested node or not? In this type, each node has the freedom to decide which node to cooperate with based on the control information exchanged between the nodes. The relay selection based on the feedback in the multi-relay cooperative cellular network needs perfect CSI (Kim et al. 2007). Different criteria are used in the relay selection such as SNR, geographical information of the relay node, and so on. The relay with maximum SNR is selected as the best relay in the case of relay selection concerned with SNR. The constraints of the wireless network are based on the different applications for example in cellular network- based data transfer, throughput is one of the major constraints (Bonder et al., 2014). So, in cellular networks, the centralized relay selection is applied in most cases and the relay selection is controlled by the base station and other cellular network elements.



Figure 2.3. Base station controlled relaying

#### 2.2 Related Literature

The wireless network advancements are aiming to match the increasing demand for the mobile subscribers such as increased capacity and high data rate which are essential for multimedia application requirements. The wireless channel impairments such as path loss, shadowing and fading are the major challenges for the service providers in deploying wireless networks. MIMO is one of the prominent techniques to overcome the above-mentioned challenges of the wireless network.

MIMO uses multiple transmit and receive antennas in the network elements, and it improves the reliability of wireless links (Telatar et al., 1999). The multiple antennas and space-time coding at the transmitter and receiver improve the capacity of the communication link. The major issue of the MIMO based network is power consumption and increased complexity (Marzetta et al., 1999).

Berezdivin et al. (2002) stated in his work that the relays using the time-domain relaying technique apply time-division multiplexing to access the channel and this allows the relay node to communicate with other nodes in the network. The relay uses different timeslots for transmitting and receiving the signals. In the case of frequency domain relaying, different frequency is assigned for the uplink and downlink for the relays to transmit and receive the signals from other nodes simultaneously.

Zhang et al. (2012) reported that MIMO cannot be applied to the types of network such as wireless sensor and Ad-hoc networks due to the size and power limitations of the nodes in these types of networks. Ahmed, Q. Z et al. (2012) developed the low-complexity receiver for cooperative wireless sensor networks.

#### 2.2.1 Wireless Relay Networks

Distributed MIMO in a wireless network is formed by using multiple single-antenna nodes in the distributed fashion. The space-time coding applied to the single- antenna nodes in the work of Jing et al. (2006). In this work the author applied distributed space-time coding (DSTC) to the single-antenna nodes. This study shows similar diversity achieved as that of traditional MIMO systems. This work applies two-phase transmission in Phase-I signal transmitted to the relay and in Phase-II the relay converts the signal into linear dispersion space time code. This work assumes that full CSI is available at the receiver node.

Genc V. et al. (2008) proposed the wireless relay networking, and this technique achieves diversity without implementing multiple antennas in the user terminal. Sadek et al. (2010) developed the virtual antenna array using the multiple-single antenna nodes to communicate with other nodes. The major limitation exists on the selection of multiple single antenna relay nodes. If the relay node selection is not proper, then it leads to the overall network performance degradation.

Gang Liu et al. (2011) developed cooperative relaying that improves the relay-based wireless network performance, and, in this technique, multiple relay nodes transmit the data to the base station. The authors also reported the path management in IEEE 802.16j network between the nodes.

#### 2.2.2 Cooperative Wireless Communication

Edward C.Van Der Meulen (1971) first introduced the relay channel, and in this work, the three-terminal communication channel capacity is obtained based on the timesharing approach, which is a pioneering work in the field of relaying and cooperative transmission which led to the enormous amount of theoretical and practical work published by many other researchers in this field.

The work of Cover and El Gamal. (1979) serves as the fundamental idea for cooperative wireless communication and in this study three-node model was analyzed. Furthermore, the author developed theorems to calculate the capacity of the three-node model.

31

Andrew Sendonaris et al. (2003) introduced the type of spatial diversity, and it achieves the diversity gains through the cooperation of mobile users in their two-part paper. The user cooperation strategy was analyzed in Part-I and performance analysis and implementation issues discussed in Part-II.

Nicholas Laneman et al. (2003) developed a technique that achieves cooperative diversity by applying DSTC, but the limitation is the complexity of the coding scheme. This issue was addressed in the later work by Laneman et al. (2004) and proposed cooperative diversity with less complexity. Timer-based single relay selection proposed in this work, the source node send the ready to transmit (RTS) to the destination and it is overheard by the relays. The clear to send message by the destination node is send as a reply to the source and all the relays in the coverage area to adjust the power level based on the defined policy. The timer is set at the relays and the relay with less timer value is selected. This work reports relaying techniques such as amplify-and-forward, decode-and-forward, and selection relaying.

To resolve the complexity of the scheme proposed by Nicholas Laneman et al. (2003), Aggelos Blestas et al. (2006) proposed the opportunistic relaying (OR) that selects the best relay to assist the source transmission. This study reported the issue of packet collision in distributed relay selection and more channel estimation and increased complexity in centralized relay selection. Aggelos Bletsas et al. (2006) proposed the multi-relay beamforming and destination-based relay selection. This study reported an increase in diversity order and reduction in transmission power. The major limitation of this study was the training overhead that depends on the number of relays.

Li et al. (2008) developed the carrier frequency offset (CFO) mitigation for orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM), and the CFO mitigation is critical in OFDM since the small CFO may lead to degraded performance. The findings of this study show that cyclic prefix (CP) has a significant role in mitigating the CFO. Mitigation performance is improved

32

based on the CP length. Choosing the CP length has its impact on the power and bandwidth efficiencies as well. This study uses the extended CP, and this affects the processing gain. The limitation of this study includes the complete CFO removal result in bandwidth efficiency degradation.

The CFO mitigation for the cooperative and non-cooperative networks was analyzed by Shamganth. K et al. (2011). This study shows the improvement in the mitigation performance depends on the CP length. The performance of the CFO mitigation algorithm differs from CP. Thus, the study shows that long CP is required to improve the transmission efficiency, and it differs from the CP mitigation technique (Li et al. 2008). This study shows improved performance and avoids the degradation of bandwidth efficiency. Ahmed, Q.Z et al. (2015) developed the transmitter with limited processing capability at the receiver.

#### 2.2.2.1 Relay Selection

Zhao, Adve, and Lim (2007) revisited the work of Laneman (2004) and proposed the Optimal Power Allocation (OPA) algorithm for the all-participate-amplify-and-forward (AP-AF) to minimize the outage probability for the multiple relay node scenario. Also, by this OPA scheme, the author proved that SER is minimized. The performance of the AP-AF scheme degrades if the cooperating nodes are more for larger network scenarios. To overcome this overhead in this work author introduced selection based amplify and forward (S-AF) in which only the best node is chosen as the relay node. This single relay selection is different from the work of Aggelos Bletsas et al. (2006) since it is not based on the delay process at the relays. In this work, the relay selection is combined with OPA.

In the distributed relay selection technique, there is no feedback to the central controller node involved in the distributed relay selection. Moreover, the nodes participating in information transmission has the details of the received SNR. Different types of distributed relay selection

are simple selection, fixed priority selection, and relay selection based on outage probability. Categories of distributed relay selection are single-relay selection (SRS) and multi-relay selection (MRS).

Opportunistic relaying (OR) scheme developed by Aggelos Blestas et al. (2006) does not consider power allocation at the relay nodes. Findings of Chen Y et al. (2006) addressed the limitations in the relay selection scheme "Power-Aware Relay Selection" (PARS), the power constraint added to the OR scheme in this scheme and it uses "Optimal Power Allocation" (OPA) to minimize the total transmitted power. Total power is minimized by the channel measurement performed by the relays. The network lifetime extension by 100% is achieved by combining the PARS with the OR scheme. But there is a limitation of collision in combining the PARS and OR if the timer expiry is at the same time for two relays. In this scheme, during the relay selection, there is a CSI requirement of all the links, and it increases the complexity. This limitation is addressed in the work of Kyu-Sung Hwang et al. (2007) "Switch and Examine node selection" (SENS). It is a multi-hop relay protocol, and the relay is selected if the link SNR is above the threshold. In this scheme, the relay remains selected until the link SNR is less than the threshold. SENS has less complexity compared to the OR scheme. There is no requirement of all the relays in the listening mode all the time due to this approach power consumption is less. In SENS, the switching concept introduced with the sub-optimal relay selection algorithm switch between the nodes if the node performance is degraded based on the channel conditions.

Tajer et al. (2007) developed an opportunistic cooperation method to minimize the information exchange between the cooperating nodes. It requires less CSI feedback, but the diversity multiplexing trade-off (DMT) is the same as DSTC. They also studied the relation between the diversity multiplexing trade-off and bandwidth allocation between the source node and its partner node in a cooperative wireless network. Limitation in this scheme is many relays are in

listening mode and decode the source node transmitted signal, so the power consumption is high. To overcome this limitation Aggelos Blestas et al. (2007) proposed an opportunistic AF relaying with feedback and this scheme is simple and has increased diversity order and less power consumption. In this scheme ARQ is combined with OR for the feedback from the destination node. The selected relay will be active, only if the destination node could not decode the source node signal correctly. Due to the feedback from the destination, there is a limitation of additional overhead in this scheme.

"Geographical information based relaying selection" developed by Wang et al. (2009) this scheme selects the best relay among the multiple nodes based on the location information of the nodes in a cooperative wireless network. The data is transmitted between the cooperative clusters and this scheme has less symbol error probability (SEP). It also increases spectral efficiency and less overhead required. The major limitation in this method is the geographical information requirement of all the nodes.

#### **Relay Selection Schemes for Cooperative D2D Communication**

This section summarizes the relay selection schemes suitable for Cooperative D2D communication shown in table 2.1 (Shamganth & Sibley, 2017). The table presented below published in "International Conference on Energy, Communication, Data Analytics and Soft Computing (ICECDS)" (Shamganth & Sibley, 2017).
Citation	Relay selection scheme	Main idea
(Ma et al., 2012)	Distributed Relay Selection	This algorithm mainly studied the
	Method for Relay Assisted D2D	relay selection problem for D2D
	Communication	communication underlaying cellular
		network.
(Miao et al., 2014)	Cross-Layer Relay Selection	The main focus of this algorithm is
	Algorithm for D2D	to overcome the limited buffer
		capacity issue of the traditional relay
		selection schemes.
(Zhang et al., 2015)	Joint Relay Selection and	An efficient resource allocation
	Resource allocation	scheme and a low complexity relay
		selection strategy proposed for D2D
		enabled cellular networks, where a
		D2D UE can act as a source as well
		as a potential relay for other UEs.
(Panigrahi et al.,	Dynamic Relay Selection for	A joint solution proposed in this
2016)	LTE-D2D Communication	scheme for dynamic selection of an
		optimal relay UE and adaptive
		modulation based D2D scheduling
(Ansari, R. I et	Energy Efficient Relay Selection	In this scheme, the energy-efficient
al.,2016)	in Multi-hop D2D network	relay selection for cooperative
		multi-hop device-to-device (D2D)
		networks studied.

Table 2.1 Summary of Relay selection schemes for Cooperative D2D Communication(Shamganth & Sibley, 2017)

# 2.2.2.2 Threshold based Relay Selection

Yang & Alouini (2005) proposed the Output Threshold MRC (OT-MRC). In this output threshold-based scheme, the destination node adaptively combines the diversity paths and test the output SNR with a preselected threshold.

W. Pam Siriwongpairat et al. (2006) proposed the multiple relay selection scheme that has two phases: the quality of the signal received at the relay is compared with a threshold in the first phase. During the second phase, the relay that satisfies threshold requirements is selected. This scheme aims to reduces the channel estimation and compares it to the scheme without threshold where all relays will participate in the relayed transmission. But it has the limitation of an increased number of channel estimations if more relays meet the threshold requirements. This is due to the fixed threshold does not react to the channel conditions.

In DF relaying scheme the error propagation occurs if the relay has the detection errors and forward it to the destination then SNR will be degraded during combining. (T. Wang et al., 2006) introduced the type of digital relaying named as link adaptive relaying (LAR) at the relay to achieve full diversity. In this method the adaptive relay transmits power at the relay with respect to link SNR. This method is suitable for both coded and un-coded cooperative networks. The power scaling factor ( $\alpha$ ) used in this method archives performance improvement in terms of average bit error probability. Also, this method is more robust to feedback and quantization errors.

The threshold digital relaying (TDR) technique achieves cooperative diversity in a cooperative network with detection errors at the relays (P. Herhold et al.2007). In this scheme the relay with high SNR meeting the threshold requirement will retransmit the received signal from the source node and other relays remain idle (P. Herhold et al.2007). The threshold is selected in this scheme using the power fraction of the source and the relay. The power fraction is determined using a numerical optimization technique. A. Adinoyi et al. 2007 examine the effect of using multi-antenna in distributed fixed relays. The effect of using a larger number of relays with fewer antennas and a lesser number of relays with a greater number of antennas are studied. The findings of this study showed that performance is improved in the network with lesser relays and more antennas.

Onat et al. (2007) examined the SNR based selective digital relaying with an optimal threshold. In this scheme, the relay will decide whether to forward the signal to the destination or to remain idle based on the instantaneous SNR of the source to relay link. The threshold rule formulated in this work to minimize the average BER. The optimal threshold proposed in this study depends on the average SNR of the relay to destination and the direct link between source to destination.

Prakash Ponnaluri et al. (2007) studied the achievable diversity order of un-coded cooperative relaying. Hard-decision adaptive decode and forward protocol is used in this study. They also showed the change in threshold with respect to average SNR provides the performance improvement.

Kyu-Sung Hwang et al. (2007) devised a sub-optimal threshold-based relay selection scheme with the predetermined threshold fixed at the relay and the destination node. This scheme addresses the complexity and power consumption limitations in OR (Aggelos Blestas et al. 2006) for the large number of relays in the cooperative network. In this scheme, only the relay with the SNR above the threshold will be in listening mode and all the other relays are in silent mode. So, the channel estimation is less, and the power consumption is less compared to OR. This scheme addresses the limitation of the SENS (Kyu-Sung Hwang et al. 2007) i.e., the degradation in the BER performance in the low SNR regions. To overcome this limitation the switched diversity with post-selection (Yang et al. 2006) is applied in this scheme and it reduces the number of channel estimations.

Onat et al. (2008) studied the impact of SNR based selective digital relaying in minimizing the BER. This study analyses different models with the availability of source -destination, relaydestination, and source-relay instantaneous and average SNR. The findings of this study show that the relaying decision is improved by the knowledge of instantaneous SNR of the sourcedestination link and it reduces the end-to-end (e2e) BER. This study also suggests the hybrid schemes that employ selective digital relaying at the relay combined with the efficient detection technique shows performance improvement.

Lioumpas et al., (2008) combines the features of Minimum Selection-Generalized Selection Combining (MS-GSC) and Normalized Threshold (NT-GSC) in the proposed Absolute Threshold Generalized Selection Combining (AT-GSC). Moreover, this scheme achieves better adaption to channel conditions without increasing the system complexity.

Liu et al. (2010) proposed double testing with TDR. The limitation in the TDR is the error detection at the relay is not done. Without error detections, relays may transmit incorrect information despite threshold use. Hence, it is important that the threshold value can minimize end-to-end performance, considering error propagation. W. Pam Siriwongpairat et al. (2006) applied optimal threshold detection at the source-relay link. Ban et al.(2007) applied the optimal threshold at the relay-destination link. But in the proposed double testing method the relay measures the channel quality of both source-relay and relay to the destination during the retransmission to the destination. So, the error propagation is minimized (Liu et al., 2010).

Amarasuriya et al. (2010) developed the output-threshold multiple-relay-selection (OT-MRS) for the multi-branch cooperative networks. In this method threshold testing is done at the destination. This method uses orthogonal channeling and maximum ratio combining (MRC) at the relays. The scheme outperforms the single relay selection and generalized selection combining (GSC) based MRS.

Hao Niu et al. (2010) studied the threshold-based relay selection algorithm. This scheme is based on the threshold-based relay selection scheme proposed by Kyu-Sung Hwang et al. 2007. In the work of Hao Niu et al. (2010), the outage probability analysis of the threshold-based relay selection algorithm conceived by Hao Niu et al. (2010) is performed. The expression of the closed-form outage probability is derived. This scheme achieves the same diversity as the OR scheme (Aggelos Blestas et al., 2006) and reduces the number of channel estimations. Liu et al., (2010) devised a threshold-based hybrid relay selection scheme. In this scheme the relays are divided into AF and DF relay groups. This scheme considers the grouping of relays based on the method of error detection that depends on the SNR threshold. Also, frame detection is used and not the symbol detection. The relay that has the instantaneous SNR above threshold is placed in the DF relay group and other relays are placed in the AF relay group. The relay with maximum instantaneous SNR is placed in both AF and DF relay groups. This scheme is a combination of hybrid relaying and relay selection. Liu et al., (2010) analyzed the frame error rate performance of the hybrid relay selection with convolutional coding at the source node. In this work, the improved SNR threshold-based FER approximation model was developed. This model applied to the hybrid relay selection to derive average FER expression at high SNR.

Park et al., (2011) proposed an Adaptive Threshold-based relay selection scheme (ATRS). In this method, the source selects the best relay among the multiple relays in the network if the relay-destination instantaneous SNR is above the threshold. There is a notable difference observed between the relay selection scheme proposed by Onat et al. (2008) and this scheme as follows; the source selects the relay in the work of Park et al., (2011) and the destination selects the relay in the scheme proposed by Onat et al. (2008). Also, there is no control message exchange in the Park et al., (2011) relay selection scheme but there exists the control message exchange by Onat et al. (2008). The complexity and the power consumption is less in the relay selection scheme proposed by Park et al., (2011) as compared to Onat et al. (2008).

Gharanjik & Mohamed-Pour (2011) analyzed the "switch-and-stay partial-relay selection" (SS-PRS). The outage probability and average (ABER) performance is evaluated SS-PRS scheme. The SS-PRS has a similar outage performance of the PRS scheme proposed by Krikidis et al. (2008) but the SS-PRS scheme has less complexity compared to the PRS. Kyu-Sung Hwang et al. (2012) developed the incremental relay combining with output threshold (IRC-OT). This scheme is the type of multiple relay selection combined with incremental relaying to achieve spectral efficiency and diversity gain. This scheme has less complexity and improved BER performance compared with incremental relaying and all-participate relaying schemes.

Herath et al., (2012) proposed the "distributed switch-and-examine combining with thresholdbased relay selection" (DSEC-T). This scheme is the combination of the switch-and-examine combining (Yang et al., 2003) and threshold-based relay selection. The relay is selected based on the source-relay link SNR. The relay selection process is stopped if the SNR at the relay is above the threshold. AF relaying is applied at the relay to forward source information to the destination. Ahmed, Q. Z et al. (2012) developed the minimum bit error rate detector for AF relaying as the noise was not Gaussian.

Salhab & Zummo, (2013) proposed the sub-optimal relay selection scheme. The switching threshold scheme used in the scheme gives optimum performance in terms of bit-error-probability (BEP) in contrast to the relay selection scheme proposed by Hwang et al. (2007). In the proposed scheme the author showed the selection of relay is based on the switching threshold if the e2e SNR is above the switching threshold then the relay will be selected. The channel estimations and the power consumption at the relay are less compared to the switch and examine combining scheme. Ahmed, Q. Z et al. (2014) studied the channel estimation error in threshold-based detection for AF networks.

Xie et al. (2014) developed the diversity combining scheme based on generalized selection combining with the double threshold. This scheme is developed for the multi-channel communication system. Ahmed, Q. Z et al. (2014) developed the combining scheme for cooperative wireless sensor networks using channel shortening technique. Aydm, et al. (2015) proposed the optimum threshold-based relay selection algorithm based on MRC, cooperative MRC (Yi et al., 2008) and virtual noise considered for DF relaying. This scheme considers in Nakagami-m fading channel distribution for the direct link between source to destination and the relayed links source to relay and relay to destination.

Zhiquan Bai et al. (2015) proposed "Incremental Hybrid Decode Amplify Forward Relaying" (IHDAF) it is a three-node cooperative relaying scheme. This scheme combines the hybrid Decode Amplify Forward Relaying developed by Duy & Kong, (2012) and incremental relaying by Laneman et.al,(2004). In this scheme the relay adaptively decides to transmit the source signal or to remain in a silent mode based on the link quality between the source-destination, source-relay, and relay- destination nodes. The relay also decides on the type of relaying to apply whether AF or DF based on the SNR. This study applies cooperative mode not based on the SNR threshold at the destination and at the relay. Further, in this study the influence of power allocation, relay location, and SNR threshold with respect to the outage probability is analyzed. The findings of this study show the outage and BER performance improvement of IHDAF in comparison with incremental-selective DF (ISDF) relaying and incremental DF (IDF). Ahmed, Q. Z et al. (2013) studied the optimal linear detector and Ahmed, Q. Z et al. (2014) developed the optimal transceiver for non-orthogonal AF relaying and findings of the two study shows the diversity order improvement.

Nagarajan et al. (2017) proposed multiple relay selection based on DF relaying protocol. This method overcomes the limitations of detection errors in the selection combining scheme by using an optimal threshold at the relays. Nevertheless, as the number of relays in the network increases, the efficiency of finding the best relay for forwarding the data decreases. The authors studied the error rate of the multiple relay DF scheme in a flat Rayleigh fading environment. The findings of this study indicate that the instantaneous SNR threshold at the relays has its

impact on the symbol error probability. Ahmed, Q. Z et al. (2015) developed the new symbol error rate detector to minimize the symbol error.

Dayanidhy & Kumar, (2017) proposed selection combining with full CSI. This scheme overcomes the performance degradation experienced due to the detection errors in multi-relay DF networks. The proposed selection combining scheme in this study has improved symbol error probability (SEP) compared to the conventional Selection Combining (SC) techniques.

S.S. Nam et al. (2018) extended the ATRS scheme proposed by Park et al., (2011) and analyze the SER performance based on limited feedback. The extended ATRS scheme proposed by S.S. Nam et al. (2018) overcome the performance degradation of discarding the better relay to destination links due to minimum feedback in Park et al., (2011) by 1-bit increase in feedback data rate in the type II relay environment.

Ferdi Kara et al. (2019) proposed Threshold based Selective Cooperative Non-Orthogonal Multiple Access (TBS-C-NOMA) to improve the data reliability and to overcome the error propagation issue in the conventional cooperative NOMA based network. In this scheme the cell edge user will receive the forwarded signal from the user near to the base station if the signal to interference plus noise ratio (SINR) is above the threshold and this avoids the error propagation.

Ferdi Kara et al. (2020) analyzed the outage probability and ergodic capacity of TBS-C-NOMA scheme proposed in Ferdi Kara et al. (2019). In this work the authors derived the closed form expressions of outage probability and ergodic capacity and applied to symmetric and asymmetric channel conditions. Furthermore, there is a tradeoff identified between the BER performance and outage and ergodic capacity. The joint power allocation and threshold selection proposed in this work provides performance improvement in terms of both BER and ergodic capacity.

#### **2.2.3 Differential Modulation based Cooperative Communication**

The relay selection scheme with coherent modulation assumes the CSI is estimated at the destination and the relay nodes. However, in the real-time fading environment, the CSI estimation in the cooperative wireless network with multiple relay nodes is challenging. The differential modulation scheme does not require CSI at the relay and the destination nodes. Depends on the type of modulation we select there will be a requirement of partial or full CSI. Coherent detection requires the CSI of both the direct link and the source-relay and relay to destination nodes. However, for differential modulation, there is no requirement of CSI. The scheme combining the differential modulation and relay selection exists in the literature are as follows:

Qing Zhao et al. (2005) proposed the AF relaying suitable for differential modulation in cooperative wireless networks. This scheme does not require instantaneous channel estimates as it is required in coherent modulation schemes. In this work, the closed-form expression of probability density function (PDF) of the SNR and the average bit error rate derived. The findings of this study show improved performance for AF based differential modulation compared to the non-cooperative differential PSK modulation.

Poramate Tarasak et al. (2005) developed the two-user cooperative diversity technique using differential modulation. In this scheme, if two users want to communicate to the same destination the information of the first user mapped in the in-phase (I-axis) and another user is mapped to the quadrature-phase axis (Q-axis) to ensure both users information decodable at the destination. In this study, the performance of DF and selection relaying protocol is evaluated for both symmetric and asymmetric cases. This study shows that DF achieves high-performance gain for symmetric scenarios. Furthermore, this study also shows that higher performance gain is achieved for selection of the relaying protocols for the asymmetric inter-user channels.

Himsoon et al. (2005) proposed the differential AF transmission scheme for a two-user cooperative communication system. This scheme with DQPSK modulation provides performance improvement compared to DBPSK modulation with direct transmission.

Himsoon et al. (2006) proposed a differential AF scheme for multi-node cooperative wireless networks. The limitation in the study of Himsoon et al. (2005) is the optimum power allocation not examined extensively for the two-user scenario. In this study, the closed-form optimum power allocation is evaluated for a single relay scenario and extended for the multi-relay scenario as approximate power allocation. The findings of this study is source node should be allotted with more power as compared to other nodes in the network to achieve better performance. The relay location also plays a significant role to achieve the performance of optimum power allocation the gain increases if all the relays are nearer to the destination.

The binary differential transmission schemes developed by Qiang Zhao et al. (2007) are differential amplify and forward (DAF) and differential decode and forward (DDF). This study analyzed the BER performance of DPSK in a single relay-based cooperative wireless network. The analytical framework developed in this study calculates the outage probability and for the PDF of the instantaneous SNR and average BER in the Rayleigh fading channel for the DAF and DDF schemes presented for single relay schemes. This study also shows the performance improvement obtained in cooperative DAF and DDF schemes in terms of cooperative diversity compared to the conventional non-cooperative differential modulation schemes.

Thanongsak Himsoon et al. (2008) analyze the differential modulation schemes for multimode cooperative wireless networks scenario named as multi-node differential amplify and forward scheme (DiffAF) and multi-node differential decode and forward scheme (DiffDF). In this study, the performance of the DiffDF scheme is enhanced by Joint optimization of power allocation and decision threshold which minimize the BER.

Chu et al. (2008) proposed the differential modulation based on an estimate and forward relaying. In this study, the selective combining is used at the destination, and it reduces the complexity. Maximum Likelihood (ML) algorithm used to estimate the signal at the destination. This scheme overcomes the limitations of Qiang Zhao et al. (2007) in which the estimate-and-forward relaying with the PL algorithm. The findings in the study of Chu et al. (2008) showed that the ML algorithm with the differential estimate and forward relaying has improved performance compared to the PL algorithm with the differential estimate and forward relaying.

Chu et al. (2008) also developed the differential modulation with relay selection in combination with the detect-and-forward relaying protocol. In this scheme, differentially modulated signals from the source received by the relays. Moreover, the best relay can detect the source signal correctly; then it will forward the source signal to the destination node. Findings of this scheme show that the proposed scheme outperforms the differential AF scheme and worse than differential perfect detect and forward scheme. However, the limitation in this scheme compared to the non-cooperative scheme is the degraded spectral efficiency.

Fang et al. (2009) proposed the differential modulation scheme generalized differential modulation (GDM) with AF relaying. This scheme bridges the performance gap between the differential modulation and the coherent detection experienced in the schemes proposed in the work of Qiang Zhao et al. (2007) and Himsoon et al. (2006). The differential modulation scheme in the work of Fang et al. (2009) divides the transmitted frame into many small blocks. The first symbol in the block is referred to as the reference symbol, and the remaining symbols are normal. The reference symbol in each block is encoded differentially based on the preceding reference symbol, while the regular symbols are encoded differentially based on the reference symbol in the same block. The findings of this study show that more transmit power to the reference symbol leads to reliable transmission.

Zhu et al. (2010) investigated the differential modulation and demodulation of a multi-relay cooperative wireless network using DF and selective relaying (SR) protocol. The relay in this scheme uses the instantaneous BEP of the source- relay node to decide on whether to forward or to remain in silent mode. A maximum-likelihood detector for DF protocol is derived, and a piecewise linear (PL) detector proposed in this study. The error performance of a multi-relay system operating with the SR protocol is analyzed. It shows that SR protocol achieves full space diversity in terms of error probability perspective.

Kim et al. (2011) developed the selection cooperation with double differential modulation using AF relaying (DDAF). The carrier offset problem in DDAF occurs due to the difference of oscillator frequency between the transmitter and the receiver and overcome by using a double differential modulation scheme (Bhatnagar et al., 2008). This scheme overcomes the limitations of DAF due to the carrier offset and provides improved performance.

Gao et al., (2011) analyzed the performance of differential modulation-based relay selection in the multi-relay cooperative wireless network. This scheme employed detect-and-forward relaying. The same relaying technique is used in Chu et al., (2008) and the closed-form BER approximation with BPSK. However, in this scheme, the closed-form BER approximation with MPSK is derived. The closed-form solution obtained in this study achieves full diversity order. Avendi et al. (2013) analyzed the performance of multi-relay selection for differential M-PSK modulation with AF relaying over fast fading channels. In this study, the performance of the system analyzed using optimum MRC weights, and that result is used for the lower bound error performance. Moreover, the new combining weights proposed at the destination based on the autocorrelation values. The findings of the study show a degradation in the error performance relates to the fading rate. The proposed combining weights shows better performance compared to conventional combining weights. Avendi & Nguyen. (2013) analyzed the differential AF relaying with slow-fading channel using post-detection selection combining at the destination. The findings of this study show that the complexity of selection combining is less compared to MRC with similar performance. Avendi & Nguyen. (2014) analyzed the differential AF relaying with a fast-fading channel using post-detection selection combining at the destination. The study in (Avendi & Nguyen, 2013) is valid for a slow fading environment, and it is not suitable for highly mobile users. In this study, DBPSK modulation with fixed gain at the relay is used along with a non-coherent detection scheme. Furthermore, the per-frame transmission is assumed in this scheme to avoid switching between the transmission and reception required for symbol-by-symbol transmission. The findings of this study show that BER performance depends on the fading rates of the channel.

## 2.2.4 Physical Layer Security in Cooperative Communication

The physical layer security in cooperative wireless networks studied by Zou, Y et al. (2013). In this work the author developed the optimal relay selection schemes to enhance the physical security through AF and DF relaying protocols; proposed AF based optimal relay selection (P-AFbORS) and proposed DF based optimal relay selection (P-DFbORS).

Cooperative beamforming with physical layer security and partial relay selection is developed by Qian, M. et al. (2016). The author has considered source-destination pair and number of DF relays along with the eavesdropper node and two relay strategies; linear-complexity relay ordering, and exponential complexity exhaustive search used for the performance analysis. Findings of this study show that high secrecy capacity exists as compared to existing search schemes. An enhanced relay selection scheme named as proposed source relay selection (PSRS) along with physical layer security is developed by Shim, K. et al. (2017). The author has investigated the privacy performance of the opportunistic scheduling in multi-relay cooperative modelling.

The optimal sequential deployment is analyzed and the measurement-based optimal technique for the dual-hop wireless relay network was developed by Ghosh, A. et al. (2017). The author used multi-connectivity approach in the individual system by providing effective communication amongst individual node and the neighboring node.

Khyati Chopra et al., (2018) studied the secrecy outage performance of threshold-based DF scheme with direct link and in the absence of direct link between source to eavesdropper and source to destination nodes. Unlike the other existing works in the literature the author does not assume that all the relays will correctly decode the source information. Findings of this work shows the link quality source, relay and destination affect the outage performance. Also, the eavesdropper link quality and the secrecy rate requirement have its effect in the outage performance.

From the literature review, it is observed that still issues exist in terms of physical layer security improvement for cooperative D2D networks. Moreover, the chances of eavesdropping effect are high if more relays with poor received signal quality were selected.

# 2.3 Research Gap

Since relay selection selects the best relay to assist the source transmission, identification of an effective relay selection technique is essential to improve the overall performance of the cooperative wireless network, considering the network's security aspects.

The constraints of the wireless networks depend on the application for example node power is the major limitation in sensor networks, whereas, in cellular mobile communication, mobility

49

is the major constraint. The transmission protocols that consider the SNR, error performance, interference, secured transmission, and power consumption at the nodes need special attention. Thus, methods for direct communication between the nodes in the network without using the base station must be introduced to enhance connectivity in a multi-relay cooperative wireless network.

Security in cooperative wireless networks is one of the major challenges and improving security in cooperative network need special focus. The security issue arises due to the eavesdropping attack in the cooperative network due to the broadcast nature of the source signal. The signal transmitted by the source is received by the multiple relays and the eavesdropper node, so the security is a major issue cooperative wireless network.

Threshold-based relay selection techniques in cooperative wireless networks draw more attention, and the present works mainly focus on coherent modulation with the AF and DF relaying protocols. However, the channel estimation of the source to relay and relay to destination link adds more complexity which is overcome by the differential modulation schemes. Differential modulation with AF and DF does not require instantaneous channel information which in turn reduce the complexity of the overall system. Existing works apply the threshold at the relay and at the destination applying DF relaying at the relays. Among the relaying schemes AF and DF, the AF and the differential AF are more attractive due to its lesser complexity at the relay and the destination. However, the threshold-based differential AF scheme is not studied extensively in cooperative wireless networks. Moreover, there is a need for double threshold-based relay selection in cooperative D2D communication operating in out-band. In the double threshold scheme threshold set at the relay nodes. Moreover, the threshold at the combiner output is required to improve e2e performance. As an extension to the double threshold relay selection scheme introducing threshold at the input to the

combiner is also essential, and this scheme is multi-threshold based multi-relay selection. This extended model will select the signal from the relay-destination link if the SNR at the input to the combiner is above the combiner input threshold. The proposed double-threshold and Multi-threshold scheme with differential modulation are not studied in the literature. Also, the application of double threshold-based differential AF to enhance the physical layer security in the cooperative wireless network is not studied in the literature.

# Chapter 3

# Single Threshold based Relay Selection

# 3.1 Introduction

Distributed relay selection in the cooperative network is categorized based on the number of relay nodes assisting the source node transmission to the destination node (Abdulhadi et al.,2012), i.e., Single relay selection and Multi-Relay Selection. In this chapter, the single-relay selection is widely discussed with the proposed threshold-based relay selection. The related literature of single-relay selection is discussed in chapter 2. Threshold-based relay selection exists in the literature mostly for the DF relaying (Thanongsak Himsoon et al. 2008). In this chapter, single threshold-based relay selection is widely studied with the AF relaying and Differential AF (DiffAF) relaying protocols. This chapter investigates the two variants by applying single threshold such as threshold only at the relays with the SER and BER performance for AF, and DiffAF protocols and threshold deployed only at the destination. Besides, the power allocation also plays a significant role in the performance of the system. The effect of power allocation plays a vital role in distributed relay selection. The two methods of power allocation scheme exist in the literature are adapted for the study of the thresholdbased relay selection performance such as Equal Power allocation (Laneman et al., 2004) and Optimum Power allocation (Su et al., 2008). This chapter has two major parts that discuss the effect of Single-Relay selection with AF relaying protocol and single-relay selection with DiffAF relaying protocol for coherent and differential modulation schemes.

Moreover, in this chapter, the proposed single threshold-based relay selection with AF relaying and DiffAF relaying protocol is analyzed with coherent and differential modulation schemes. This chapter also presents the mathematical model of the proposed threshold-based relay selection for cooperative D2D out-band autonomous mode with single-threshold AF and Differential AF relaying using coherent and differential modulation schemes. In this chapter, comparative analysis of Single-Threshold based AF and DiffAF relaying using coherent modulation and comparison of Single-Threshold based AF and DiffAF using differential modulation also discussed. Part of the work presented in this chapter published in "International Journal of Electronics and Communication Engineering & Technology" (Shamganth, K. et al., 2016) and in "International Journal of Advanced Research in Computer Science and Software Engineering" (Shamganth, K. et al., 2014).

## **3.2** Single Threshold based AF with Coherent Modulation

Single threshold-based relay selection employs the received instantaneous SNR at the relay or the destination to select a relay. The fixing of threshold improves the received signal quality and reduces the power consumption of the relay nodes. Based on whether the threshold is fixed at the relay or at the destination it is categorized as destination-based relay selection and sourcebased relay selection.

# 3.2.1 Proposed Single Threshold-based Relay Selection Scheme

In the proposed single threshold-based relay selection scheme, the SNR threshold is fixed at the relay. The received SNR at the relay is tested and if the threshold is met the relay is selected. (Shamganth, K. et al., 2016).

Step 1: The relay located in the coverage area of the source receive the source signal.

Step 2: Relay node use AF relaying protocol. The input SNR threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ) is fixed at the relay.

Step 3: If the instantaneous SNR at the relay  $(\gamma_{sr})$  is above the input SNR threshold  $(\gamma_{iT})$  then the relay will be in active mode and is ready to amplify and forward the source signal to the destination. If this condition is not satisfied, then the relay will be in the sleep mode.

Step 4: If the threshold condition in step 3 is not satisfied at the relay, then signal from the direct link S-D will be used at the destination for detection.

Step 5: Maximum ratio combining (MRC) is used at the destination to combine the signal from the direct link and the relayed link.

#### 3.2.2 System Model of Single-Threshold based Relay Selection

Single threshold-based relay selection scheme is investigated with AF relaying (Shamganth, K. et al., 2016). In this scheme, the selected relay amplifies the source signal and forward it to the destination node. The system model of the proposed scheme is shown in figure 3.1.

In the system model, the dual-hop scenario is considered, the transmitted signal from the user follows two orthogonal phases by using TDMA. The system model assumes that all the nodes consist of single-antenna, and the transmission is half-duplex (Shamganth, K. et al., 2016).

Information bits are converted in the format of binary phase-shift keying (BPSK). The transmitted signal from the source given is by Nguyen, H et al. (2009)

$$x(t) = m(t) * c(t),$$
 (3.1)

with the phase either 0 or  $\pi$  radians.

The transmitted BPSK signal is given by





Figure 3.1. System Model Single-Threshold based Relay Selection.

In Phase-I, the source node transmits the signal to the destination node, and the relay nodes overhears the source signal due to its broadcast's nature (Shamganth, K. et al.,2016).

The signal received at the relay in Phase-I given as:

$$y_{sr} = \sqrt{P_s} h_{sr} x + n_{sr}. \tag{3.2}$$

The signal received at the destination node in the direct link S-D in Phase-I given as:

$$y_{sd} = \sqrt{P_s} h_{sd} x + n_{sd}, \tag{3.3}$$

where  $P_s$  denotes the average source power of the transmitted signal,  $n_{sr}$  and  $n_{sd}$  denotes the complex additive white Gaussian noise with zero-mean and variance  $N_0$  and x denotes the transmitted information symbol. The channel between source and relay node (S-R), relay to the destination node (R-D) and the direct link source to destination (S-D) follows Rayleigh fading conditions.

The channel coefficients between the source to relay and the source to destination link has zeromean and variance and is given by

$$h_{sr} \sim CN(0, \sigma_{sr}^2)$$
, and

 $h_{sd} \sim CN(0, \sigma_{sd}^2)$ , respectively.

During the Phase-II the relay with SNR above the input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ) is selected to amplify and forward the source signal to the destination. In Phase-II, the relay amplifies the signal from the source and forwards it to the destination (Shamganth, K. et al.,2016).

The instantaneous SNR of the source to relay link given as

$$\gamma_{sr} = \frac{P_s |h_{sr}|^2}{N_0}.$$
(3.4)

Threshold testing at the relay based on the following conditions (Shamganth, K. et al., 2016):

$$\begin{cases} if \ \gamma_{sr} > \gamma_{iT} \text{ then relay will be in active mode} \\ if \ \gamma_{sr} < \gamma_{iT} \text{ then relay will be in sleep mode} \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

The signal from the relay amplified and forwarded to the destination node D with an amplification factor of A (Laneman et al.,2004).

$$A = \sqrt{\frac{P_r}{P_s |h_{sr}|^2 + N_0}}.$$
(3.6)

The signal received at the destination D in Phase-II is (Shamganth, K. et al., 2014)

$$y_{rd} = A h_{rd} y_{sr} + n_{rd},$$
 (3.7)

where  $n_{rd}$  is the noise components in the relay to the destination channel and is given as

$$n_{rd} \sim CN(0,1).$$
 (3.8)

The channel coefficient between the R-D link has zero-mean and variance (Shamganth, K. et al.,2014) and is given by

$$h_{rd} \sim CN(0, \sigma_{rd}^2). \tag{3.9}$$

Substituting the amplification factor in equation (3.6) to equation (3.7) gives

$$y_{rd} = \sqrt{\frac{P_r}{P_s |h_{sr}|^2 + N_0}} h_{rd} y_{sr} + n_{rd}.$$
(3.10)

Substituting equation (3.2) in equation (3.10) yields (Shamganth, K. et al., 2016)

$$y_{rd} = \sqrt{\frac{P_r}{P_s |h_{sr}|^2 + N_0}} h_{rd} \left( \sqrt{P_s} h_{sr} x + n_{sr} \right) + n_{rd}, \tag{3.11}$$

$$y_{rd} = \sqrt{\frac{P_r P_s}{P_s |h_{sr}|^2 + N_0}} h_{rd} h_{sr} x + \sqrt{\frac{P_r}{P_s |h_{sr}|^2 + N_0}} h_{rd} n_{sr} + n_{rd},$$
(3.12)

$$y_{rd} = \sqrt{\frac{P_r P_s}{P_s |h_{sr}|^2 + N_0}} h_{rd} h_{sr} x + n'_{rd}, \qquad (3.13)$$

$$n'_{rd} = \sqrt{\frac{P_r}{P_s |h_{sr}|^2 + N_0}} h_{rd} n_{sr} + n_{rd},$$
(3.14)

where  $h_{rd}$  denotes the channel coefficient from the relay to the destination and  $n_{rd}$  denotes the complex additive white Gaussian noise between the relay and destination path.

Assume the noise components  $n_{sr}$  and  $n_{rd}$ , are independent and the equivalent noise  $n'_{rd}$ , is zero-mean, complex Gaussian random variable with variance  $N_0$ .

$$N'_{0} = N_{0} \left( \frac{P_{r} |h_{rd}|^{2}}{P_{s} |h_{sr}|^{2} + N_{0}} + 1 \right), \tag{3.15}$$

where  $N'_0$  in (W/Hz) is the power spectral density of AWGN (Liu et al. .2008).

The instantaneous SNR of the source to destination direct link (Shamganth, K. et al.,2016) is given as

$$\gamma_{sd} = \frac{P_s}{N_0} |h_{sd}|^2. \tag{3.16}$$

The destination node receives the source signal through the direct link S-D and the relayed link R-D. Maximum ratio combiner (MRC) maximizes the overall SNR (Brennan, D. G., 2003) and the coherent detector with the knowledge of all channel coefficients is required. The MRC output is equal to the sum of the received SNR from both direct link S-D and the relay to destination link R-D.

The instantaneous SNR of the relayed link R-D (Shamganth, K. et al., 2016) is given by

$$\gamma_{rd} = \frac{P|h_{rd}|^2}{N_0}.$$
(3.17)

For the calculation of the mutual information between source to the destination node, the total instantaneous SNR at the destination is required. The SNR received at the destination node is the sum of the SNR of the direct link S-D and the equivalent instantaneous SNR relay link (Qiang Zhao et al. 2005).

The equivalent instantaneous SNR of the S-R-D relayed link (Shamganth, K. et al.,2016) is given by

$$\gamma_r = \frac{P_s P_r |h_{sd}|^2 |h_{rd}|^2}{N_0 (P_s |h_{sd}|^2 + P_r |h_{rd}|^2 + N_0)}.$$
(3.18)

The average SNR of the S-R and S-D link (Shamganth, K. et al., 2016) is given by

$$\overline{\gamma_{sr}} = \frac{\sigma_{sr}^2}{N_0},\tag{3.19}$$

$$\overline{\gamma_{sd}} = \frac{\sigma_{sd}^2}{N_0}.$$
(3.20)

The detected signal at the destination node obtained by applying the minimum Euclidean distance detection (J. G. Proakis et al.,2000) using the optimal detection rule given as

$$\hat{x} = \arg\min|\varepsilon - x| \quad (x_1, x_2) \in x.$$
(3.21)

The channel coefficient  $h_{sd}$  of the direct link S-D follows the exponential distribution, so the instantaneous SNR of the S-D link is also exponentially distributed.

$$p(\gamma_{sd}) = \frac{1}{\gamma_{sd}} exp\left(-\frac{\gamma_{s,d}}{\gamma_{s,d}}\right).$$
(3.22)

The channel coefficient  $h_{rd}$  of the relay link R-D follows the exponential distribution, the instantaneous SNR of the relay to destination link is also exponentially distributed and given as

$$p(\gamma_{rd}) = \frac{1}{\overline{\gamma_{rd}}} exp\left(-\frac{\gamma_{rd}}{\overline{\gamma_{rd}}}\right). \tag{3.23}$$

## 3.2.3 SER Analysis of Single-Relay Selection Scheme

With the knowledge of the channel state information (CSI), the output of the MRC combiner at the destination stated in (K.J Ray et al.,2008, pp 219, pp123) as

$$y_d = \alpha_s y_{sd} + \alpha_r y_{rd}, \tag{3.24}$$

where 
$$\alpha_s = \frac{\sqrt{P_s} h_{sd}^*}{N_0}$$
 and  $\alpha_r = \frac{\sqrt{\frac{P_s P_r}{P_s |h_{sr}|^2 + N_0}} h_{sr}^* h_{rd}^*}{\left(\frac{P_r |h_{rd}|^2}{P_s |h_{sr}|^2 + N_0} + 1\right) N_0}$ .

The transmitted symbol 'x' is assumed to have an average energy  $E_s = 1$ , the output SNR at the MRC combiner (Shamganth, K. et al., 2014) given as,

$$\gamma_c = \gamma_{sd} + \gamma_r, \tag{3.25}$$

where  $\gamma_{sd} = \frac{P_s}{N_0} |h_{sd}|^2$  and  $\gamma_r = \frac{\gamma_{sr} \gamma_{rd}}{\gamma_{sr} + \gamma_{rd} + 1}$ .

The conditional SER of single-relay cooperative AF systems with M-PSK (K.J Ray et al., 2008) is given as

$$P_{MPSK}^{h_{Sd},h_{Sr}h_{rd}} \approx \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{(M-1)\pi} exp\left(-\frac{b_{PSK}(\gamma_{Sd}+\gamma_{r})}{\sin^{2}\theta}\right) d\theta,$$
(3.26)

where  $b_{PSK} = sin^2 \left(\frac{\pi}{M}\right)$ .

The MGF of a random variable Z is given as

$$M_Z = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp(-sz) P_Z(Z) dZ.$$
(3.27)

Averaging the conditional SER in equation (3.26) over the Rayleigh fading channels  $h_{sd}$ ,  $h_{sr}$  and  $h_{rd}$ , the SER of the MPSK signals is given in terms of MGF  $M_{\gamma_{sd}}$  and  $M_{\gamma_r}$  is given as (K.J Ray et al., 2008, pp 219)

$$P_{SER} \approx \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\frac{(M-1)\pi}{M}} M_{\gamma_{sd}} \left(\frac{b_{PSK}}{\sin^2\theta}\right) \prod_{i=1}^N M_{\gamma_r} \left(\frac{b_{PSK}}{\sin^2\theta}\right) d\theta.$$
(3.28)

The asymptotic tight SER expression for AF cooperative system using M-PSK for high SNR derived in (Su et al., 2008) as

$$P_{SER} \approx \frac{DN_0^2}{b^2} \cdot \frac{1}{P_s \sigma_{sd}^2} \left( \frac{1}{P_s \sigma_{sr}^2} + \frac{1}{P_r \sigma_{rd}^2} \right), \tag{3.29}$$

where  $b = \sin^2\left(\frac{\pi}{M}\right)$ .

$$D = \frac{3(M-1)}{8M} + \frac{\sin(\frac{2\pi}{M})}{4\pi} - \frac{\sin(\frac{4\pi}{M})}{32\pi}.$$
(3.30)

The SER expression in equation (3.29) and equation (3.30) for AF relaying with coherent modulation is considered as the benchmark to compare it with the simulation results in the upcoming section.

# Motivation

Power allocation plays a vital role in cooperative wireless network performance. The effect of power allocation in the proposed scheme with unequal power allocation and equal power allocation scheme was studied in this section. Existing literature mostly focuses on equal power allocation of the source and the relay, and in some literature, the joint power allocation and relay selection investigated; however, the complexity is high. So, there is a need to study the power allocation of the source and the relay with the proposed threshold-based relay selection. Su et al. (2008) proposed the optimum power allocation, and three cases based on the distance between source to relay and destination is considered in the simulation. Threshold fixed at the relay for the different distance cases presented in this section.

The total power is given by

$$P_t = P_s + P_r, \tag{3.31}$$

The optimum power allocation for AF with M-PSK modulation for high SNR stated in (Theorem 5.3.4, Liu et al. .2008) as

$$P_s = \frac{\sigma_{sr} + \sqrt{\sigma_{sr}^2 + 8\sigma_{rd}^2}}{3\sigma_{sr} + \sqrt{\sigma_{sr}^2 + 8\sigma_{rd}^2}} P_t, \tag{3.32}$$

$$P_r = \frac{2\sigma_{sr}}{3\sigma_{sr} + \sqrt{\sigma_{sr}^2 + 8\sigma_{rd}^2}} P_t.$$
(3.33)

The single-relay AF cooperative network with the power allocation based on the optimum power ratios mentioned in equation (3.32) and (3.33) is analyzed for three different cases. The

link quality plays a significant role in power allocation. The power allocation also depends on the distance between the source to relay (S-R) and relay to the destination (R-D). In this study, the distance-based power allocation and fixing threshold at the relay is combined to arrive at three different cases.

*Case(i):* The channel link quality of the S-R link and R-D link are equal, i.e.,  $\sigma_{sr}^2 = 1$  and  $\sigma_{rd}^2 = 1$ . Relay is assumed to be at the center of the source and the relay, so the distance between S-R and R-D is same.

$$d(S,R) = d(R,D).$$

Case(ii): The channel link quality of the R-D link is good compared to the S-R link.

i.e.,  $\sigma_{sr}^2 = 1$  and  $\sigma_{rd}^2 = 10$ . In this case, the relay is assumed to be closer to the destination node. Therefore, the power allocation at the source node is more compared to the relay node. Threshold at the relay is less in this case. The optimum power ratios based on equation (3.32) and (3.33) is  $P_s = 0.8333P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.16777P_t$ , and

$$d(S,R) \gg d(R,D).$$

Case(iii): The channel link quality of the S-R link is good as compared to the R-D link.

$$d(S,R) < d(R,D).$$

In this case, the relay is assumed to be nearer to the source and the distance is more from the destination node. Therefore, the power allocation at the source node is less compared to the relay node. Threshold fixed at the relay is more in this case due to less distance from the source node. The optimum power ratios based on equation (3.32) and (3.33) is  $P_s = 0.5394P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.4605P_t$ .

#### **Simulation Setup**

In this section the simulation setup for testing the single threshold based single relay selection model for cooperative network is presented. The SER results of the single relay selection scheme with equal power allocation and unequal power allocation is presented in the next section. Simulation parameters consists of 10<sup>5</sup> random bits with 4-PSK and 16-PSK modulation with AF relaying based cooperative network is considered in the simulation. The noise variance is assumed as  $N_0 = 1$ . The source to destination and relay to destination channel is modeled as Rayleigh fading channels. In figure 3.2(a) the simulation parameters consist of the total power is  $P_t = 1$ , and the source node power is set as  $P_s = 0.67$  and the relay node power is  $P_r = 0.33P_t$ . In case(i) the relay node is assumed to be equidistant from the source and relay so  $\sigma_{sr}^2 = 1$  and  $\sigma_{rd}^2 = 1$  applied in equation (3.32) and (3.33) and this gives the optimum power ratios  $P_s = \frac{2}{3}P_t$  and  $P_r = \frac{1}{3}P_t$  since the total power,  $P_t = 1$  we have  $P_s = \frac{2}{3}$  and  $P_r = \frac{1}{3}$ . In figure 3.2(b) the simulation for case(ii) assumes the relay is at less distance from the destination and more distance from the source. The channel link for this case is  $\sigma_{sr}^2 = 1$  and  $\sigma_{rd}^2 = 10$  applied in equation (3.32) and (3.33) and this gives the optimum power ratios  $P_s =$  $0.8333P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.16777P_t$ . In figure 3.2(c) the power ratios considered are  $P_s = 0.5394P_t$ and  $P_r = 0.4605P_t$ . In figure 3.2(d) the power ratios considered for the simulation are  $P_s =$  $0.16777P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.8333P_t$ . The simulation of figure 3.3 consists of 16-PSK with the optimum power ratios of  $P_s = \frac{2}{3}P_t$  and  $P_r = \frac{1}{3}P_t$ . The SER tight upper bound results of equation (3.29) and (3.30) is presented with the simulation SER results of cooperative AF. The parameters applied in equation (3.29) for the SER calculation consists of M=4 and  $P_s = \frac{1}{2}P_t$ ,  $P_r = \frac{1}{2}P_t$  and the noise variance  $N_0 = 1$  and  $\sigma_{sd}^2 = \sigma_{sr}^2 = \sigma_{rd}^2 = 1$  for the equal power allocation in figure 3.4.

#### **Simulation Results and Discussion**

The simulation results of the proposed threshold-based relay selection scheme for the cooperative network with different relay distance scenarios are presented. Figure 3.2 shows the SER performance of the single relay AF systems with QPSK. The equal power allocation with QPSK modulation scheme compared with the unequal power allocation at the source and the relay node.

Figure 3.2(a) presents that SER performance of unequal power allocation that is marginally better than equal power allocation with the performance improvement of 1dB.



Figure 3.2 (a). Performance of Single relay AF with  $P_s = \frac{2}{3}P_t$  and  $P_r = \frac{1}{3}P_t$ .

Figure 3.2(b) shows the SER performance of unequal power allocation outperforms the equal power allocation with the performance improvement of more than 2dB, i.e.,  $\sigma_{sr}^2 = 1$  and  $\sigma_{rd}^2 = 10$ . In this case, less distance assumed between the relay and the destination node, and more distance between the source to relay. Therefore, the power allocation at the relay node is less compared to the source.

Similar performance is observed in unequal power allocation and the equal power allocation schemes as in figure 3.2(c). It is observed that reducing the source node power and increasing

the relay power degrades the SER performance of unequal power allocation scheme. It is also observed that in figure 3.2(d), for  $P_s = 0.16777P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.8333P_t$  there is 1dB performance degradation of unequal power allocation compared to the equal power allocation scheme. From figure 3.2(a),3.2(b),3.2(c) and 3.2(d) it is observed that if the channel quality link ratios  $\frac{\sigma_{sr}^2}{\sigma_{rd}^2}$  is high then unequal power allocation outperforms equal power allocation.



Figure 3.2 (b). SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with  $P_s = 0.8333P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.16777P_t$ 

To analyze the optimum power ratio and the SER performance of unequal power allocation is modulation dependent, the simulation performed with 16-PSK in figure 3.3. The performance improvement of 3dB observed in figure 3.3 with unequal power allocation compared to equal power allocation.



Figure 3.2 (c). SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with  $P_s = 0.5394P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.4605P_t$ 



Figure 3.2 (d). SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with  $P_s = 0.16777P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.8333P_t$ 



Figure 3.3. SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with 16-PSK:  $P_s = \frac{2}{3}P_t$  and  $P_r = \frac{1}{3}P_t$ 

Figure 3.4 presents the single relay cooperative AF network with the optimum power ratios of  $P_s = 0.8333P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.16777P_t$ . There is a performance improvement of 1dB is observed in the theoretical result using equation (3.29) of optimum power compared to the theoretical SER performance of equal power allocation. Furthermore, there is a performance difference of 2dB observed between theoretical SER performance with optimum power and the simulation results. Moreover, the performance improvement observed with optimum power allocation simulation results compared equal power allocation scheme. Furthermore, the SER performance of optimum power allocation simulation shown in figure 3.4 with  $P_s = 0.8333P_t$ ,  $P_r = 0.1677P_t$  performance improvement is obtained.



Figure 3.4. SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with  $P_s = 0.8333P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.16777P_t$ 

**Single-Relay Selection based Cooperative AF with Single-Threshold at Relay** Single-Threshold based relay selection is discussed in this section with the threshold at the relay. The fixing threshold at the relay enhances spectral efficiency due to selecting the relay based on the S-R link quality. In the single threshold-based relay selection, two variations exist such as fixing threshold at the relays and threshold at the destination. This study compares fixing single threshold at the relay and the destination.

In figure 3.5, the cooperative AF with the single threshold at the relay SER simulation is compared with the analytical results of equal power and optimum power without a threshold and with equal power simulation is presented. In this case, the optimum power assigned to the source and relay node is  $P_s = 0.8333P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.1677P_t$ , moreover, it is assumed that distance between the S-R link is more than the R-D link in this scenario and threshold at the relay fixed as 4.7dB. The single threshold scheme has outperformed the other AF schemes without threshold at an SNR of 15dB. It matches the cooperative AF with optimized power analytical result without a threshold and 1dB performance improvement observed at an SNR of 17dB. Also, there is a difference of 3dB between threshold-based simulation and the analytical result without threshold.



Figure 3.5. Single relay AF with Threshold at Relay with  $P_s = 0.8333P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.1677P_t$ 

# Simulation Results and Discussion of Cooperative AF with Differential Modulation

Performance of single relay cooperative AF with differential modulation scheme analyzed in this section, the analytical result of (Su, W., Sadek, A. K., & Ray Liu, K. J. 2008) is used as a benchmark and compared with differential modulation schemes with equal and unequal power allocation scenarios.

*Case(i):* The channel link quality of the S-R link is inferior to the R-D link. Moreover, the distance of the S-R link is assumed to be more than the R-D link.

Figure 3.6 presents the comparative SER performance for cooperative AF with DBPSK for unequal power allocation and equal power allocation schemes. There is a performance improvement of more than 2dB at SER of  $10^{-3}$  is observed for unequal power allocation scheme compared to equal power allocation.

For the same scenario, the SER performance is analyzed with the DQPSK modulation scheme in Figure 3.6 (a) with the optimum power of  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$ . Similar performance observed as that of DBPSK. However, the analysis shows that the unequal power allocation scheme is not modulation dependent.

In Figure 3.6 (b) the DQPSK modulation is used with cooperative AF relaying protocol and the optimum power at the source, and the relay node is  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ . In this case, unequal power allocation outperforms the equal power allocation with the performance improvement of 1dB at the SER of  $10^{-3}$ . Comparing the results in figure 3.6 (a) and figure 3.6 (b) performance improvement is observed on increasing the source node power. In figure 3.6 (a) and 3.6 (b), the difference of 1dB is observed, and it is due to the source node power.



Figure 3.6. Comparison of SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with DBPSK with  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$ 



Figure 3.6 (a). Comparison of SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with DQPSK with  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$ 



Figure 3.6 (b). Comparison of SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with DQPSK with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$


Figure 3.6 (c). Comparison of SER Performance of Cooperative Single relay AF with DQPSK with  $P_s = 0.3P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.7P_t$ 

*Case(ii):* The channel link quality of the S-R link is good as compared to the R-D link.

The distance between relay and destination node is assumed to be more in this case, and the distance between the source and relay is less. Therefore, the power allocation at the relay node is more compared to the source. In figure 3.6(c), there is a performance degradation of unequal power allocation compared to the equal power allocation scheme.

#### Simulation Results and Discussions of DiffAF with Differential Modulation

Figure 3.7 shows the single relay cooperative DiffAF SER performance of DBPSK with the power ratios of  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$ . Simulation results show the performance improvement of 2dB at the SER of  $10^{-3}$  for unequal power allocation with DiffAF protocol compared to the equal power allocation scheme. Furthermore, the performance improvement of more than 3dB observed at the SER of  $10^{-4}$ . Furthermore, comparing the simulation results of cooperative DiffAF with DBPSK in figure 3.7 with cooperative AF based DBPSK in

figure 3.6 shows a performance improvement for the cooperative DiffAF scheme of more than 1dB at the SER of  $10^{-4}$ .



Figure 3.7. Comparison of SER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay DiffAF protocol with  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$ 

## 3.2.4 BER Analysis of Single Relay Cooperative DiffAF

The conditional BER of DiffAF relaying (Liu, K., Sadek, A., Su, W., & Kwasinski, A. 2008) is given by

$$P_{b|\gamma} = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f(\theta) \exp[-\alpha(\theta)\gamma] \, d\theta, \qquad (3.35)$$

where,

$$f(\theta) = \frac{b^2 (1-\beta^2)[3+\cos(2\theta)-(\beta+\frac{1}{\beta})\sin\theta]}{2\alpha(\theta)}, \text{ and}$$

$$\alpha(\theta) = \frac{b^2(1+2\beta\sin\theta+\beta^2)}{2}.$$

 $\beta = \frac{a}{b}$  denotes a constant parameter where *a* and *b* are dependent on the modulation size (Simon, M. K., & Alouini, M. S.,1998). The DBPSK modulation has  $a = 10^{-3}$  and  $b = \sqrt{2}$  and DQPSK modulation has  $a = \sqrt{2 - \sqrt{2}}$  and  $b = \sqrt{2 + \sqrt{2}}$ .

The BER approximation of DiffAF relaying (Liu, K., Sadek, A., Su, W., & Kwasinski, A. 2008) is given by

$$P_{b} \approx \frac{(P_{s}\sigma_{sr}^{2}+1)Z_{min}+P_{r}\sigma_{rd}^{2}}{P_{s}^{2}P_{r}\sigma_{sd}^{2}\sigma_{sr}^{2}\sigma_{rd}^{2}}N_{0}^{2}C(\beta,\theta), \qquad (3.35a)$$

where  $C(\beta, \theta)$  is a constant that depends on the modulation size. The approximated BER expression for DiffAF relaying without threshold in equation (3.35a) considered as a benchmark for the BER simulation results with the proposed single threshold relay selection scheme.

#### **Simulation Setup**

In this subsection the simulation setup for testing the proposed single relay selection scheme for cooperative network with DiffAF relaying is presented. In the next section the BER performance of the single relay selection scheme with equal power allocation and unequal power allocation is presented. Simulation parameters consists of 10<sup>5</sup> random bits with DBPSK modulation that has  $a = 10^{-3}$  and  $b = \sqrt{2}$  and DQPSK modulation that has  $a = \sqrt{2 - \sqrt{2}}$  and  $b = \sqrt{2 + \sqrt{2}}$ . The source to destination and relay to destination channel is modeled as Rayleigh fading channels with the noise variance assumed as  $N_0 = 1$ . In figure 3.8 the simulation parameters consist of the total power  $P_t = 1$ , and the source node power as  $P_s = 0.8$ and the relay node power is fixed as  $P_r = 0.2P_t$  and for case(ii) the relay is assumed to be at lesser distance from the destination and more distance from the source. In figure 3.9 the simulation and approximated BER in equation (3.35a) use the optimum power ratios  $P_s =$   $0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  with the channel variance is chosen as  $\sigma_{sd}^2 = \sigma_{sr}^2 = \sigma_{rd}^2 = 1$  for case (ii). The approximated BER in equation (3.35a) is used with power ratios  $P_s = 0.5P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.5P_t$  for equal power allocation curves.

#### Simulation Results and Discussion of Single Relay Cooperative DiffAF

Cooperative single relay AF protocol with DBPSK BER performance analyzed with equal power allocation and unequal power allocation. In this simulation, the case is assumed based on the distance between the S-R and R-D nodes. In figure 3.8, the unequal power allocation performance shows an improvement of more than 3dB at the BER of  $10^{-3}$  for the power at the source and relay fixed as  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$ .

Figure 3.8 (a) presents the comparative BER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay DiffAF protocol with DQPSK for unequal power allocation and equal power allocation schemes. It is observed that unequal power allocation with DiffAF outperforms equal power allocation. Furthermore, performance improvement of 3 dB at the BER of  $10^{-3}$  is evident from the results.



Figure 3.8. BER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay AF relaying with DBPSK



Figure 3.8 (a). BER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay DiffAF relaying with DQPSK



Figure 3.8 (b). BER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay DiffAF relaying with DBPSK



Figure 3.8 (c). BER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay DiffAF relaying with DQPSK for case(iii)

Figure 3.8 (c) shows the result of case(iii) with relay near to the source and away from the destination. Therefore, less power at the source and the power is high at the relay node. The unequal power allocation scheme shows performance degradation in this case. At an SNR of 33dB, the equal power allocation outperforms unequal power allocation by more than 2dB as expected.



Figure 3.9. Comparison of BER Performance of Cooperative Single-relay DiffAF relaying using DBPSK with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ 

Figure 3.9 presents the single relay cooperative DiffAF with DBPSK for the optimum power of  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ . A performance gain of 2dB is observed in the DiffAF based optimum power allocation curve when compared to equal power allocation simulation curve. Furthermore, the performance difference of 1dB is observed between the analytical and simulation results for the SNR of 20dB at the BER of  $10^{-3}$ . Figure 3.9 shows that increase in source power improves the BER performance. Moreover, the DiffAF with optimum power allocation scheme outperforms its counterpart.

#### **3.3** Cooperative DiffAF with Single Threshold

In the proposed single threshold based DiffAF relay selection scheme, the significant difference is the relaying protocol employed at the relay.

Step 1: The relays receive the signal transmitted from the source to the destination node in the coverage area of the source.

Step 2: Relay node uses DiffAF relaying protocol. The input SNR threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ) is based on the distance between the source and destination.

Step 3: If the distance between source and destination is more then  $\gamma_{iT}$  will be less. Based on the distance the  $\gamma_{iT}$  will vary.

Step 4: If the squared amplitude of the received signal at the relay  $(y_{sr}^2)$  is above the input threshold  $(\gamma_{iT})$  then the relay will be active mode and is ready to amplify and forward the source signal to the destination. If this condition is not satisfied, then the relay will be in sleep mode.

Step 5: If the threshold condition in Step 4 is not satisfied at the relay, then signal from the direct link S-D will be used at the destination for detection.

#### 3.3.1 System Model

In the system model, the equation (3.1) to (3.6) is the same as mentioned in section 3.2.2. The channel is assumed to be constant within the two symbol periods. The channel between source and relay (S-R), relay to the destination (R-D) and the direct link source to destination (S-D) has Rayleigh fading conditions.

The signal from the relay amplified and forwarded to the destination node D with an amplification factor of A (Qiang Zhao et al. .2005)

$$A \cong \sqrt{\frac{P_r}{P_s \sigma_{sr}^2 + N_0}}.$$
(3.36)

The input threshold at the relay based on the following cases:

$$\begin{cases} Case(i): \gamma_{iT} \text{ will be less if } d(S,R) \gg d(R,D) \\ Case(ii): \gamma_{iT} \text{ will be highif } d(S,R) < d(R,D) \end{cases}$$
(3.37)

The relay tests the received signal with the optimum threshold (Onat et al. 2007) before amplification with the conditions as shown below:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{y_{sr}^2}{N_0^2} > \gamma_{iT} \text{ relay is active and amplify the received signal with the amplification factor A} \\ \frac{y_{sr}^2}{N_0^2} < \gamma_{iT} \text{ relay will be in idle mode} \end{cases}$$
(3.38)

where  $y_{sr}^2$  is the squared amplitude of the received signal at the relay and  $N_0^2$  is the normalised noise variance.

The signal received at the destination D in Phase-II is given as

$$y_{rd} = A\sqrt{P_r} h_{rd} + n_{rd}, \qquad (3.39)$$

where  $n_{rd}$  is the noise components in the relay to the destination channel and is given as

$$n_{rd} \sim CN(0,1).$$
 (3.40)

Substituting equation (3.36) in equation (3.39) gives

$$y_{rd} = \sqrt{\frac{P_r}{P_s \sigma_{sr}^2 + N_0}} \sqrt{P_r} h_{rd} + n_{rd}.$$
 (3.41)

The signal at the combiner is

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_d = y_{rd} + y_{sd} & \text{if } y_{rd} > \gamma_{iT} \text{ and } y_{sd} > \gamma_{iT} \\ \varepsilon_d = y_{sd} & \text{if } y_{rd} < \gamma_{iT} \text{ and } y_{sd} > \gamma_{iT} \end{cases}.$$
(3.42)

The instantaneous SNR at the S-D link is given as

$$\gamma_{sd} = \frac{P_s |h_{sd}|^2}{\sigma_{nsd}^2},\tag{3.43}$$

with unit variance  $\sigma_{nsd}^2 = 1$ .

The instantaneous SNR at the R-D link is given as

$$\gamma_{rd} = \frac{P_s |h_{rd}|^2}{\sigma_{nrd}^2},\tag{3.44}$$

with unit variance  $\sigma_{nrd}^2 = 1$ .

The average SNR of the S-R and S-D link is same as mentioned in equation (3.19) and (3.20).

The equivalent SNR of the S-R-D link is given as

$$\gamma_r = \frac{P_s P_r |h_{sd}|^2 |h_{rd}|^2}{N_0 (P_s \sigma_{sr}^2 + P_r |h_{rd}|^2 + N_0)},$$
(3.45)

Simplifying equation (3.45) gives

$$\gamma_r = \frac{\gamma_{sr}\gamma_{rd}}{P_s + \gamma_{rd} + 1}.$$
(3.46)

The transmitted signal detected by applying the minimum Euclidean distance detection (J. G. Proakis et al.,2000) with the optimal detection rule is given as

$$\hat{x} = \arg\min|\varepsilon - x| \quad (x_1, x_2) \in x. \tag{3.47}$$

The instantaneous SNR at the output of the combiner is

$$\gamma_c = \gamma'_{sd} + \gamma'_r, \tag{3.48}$$

where

$$\gamma'_{sd} = \begin{cases} \gamma_{sd} & \text{if } \gamma_{sd} \ge \gamma_T \\ 0 & \text{if } \gamma_{sd} < \gamma_T \end{cases}$$
(3.49)

and

$$\gamma'_r = \begin{cases} \gamma_r & \text{if } \gamma_r \ge \gamma_T \\ 0 & \text{if } \gamma_r < \gamma_T \end{cases}$$
(3.50)

The channel coefficient  $h_{sd}$  follows the exponential distribution, so the instantaneous SNR of the S-D link is also exponentially distributed.

$$p(\gamma_{sd}) = \frac{1}{\overline{\gamma_{sd}}} exp\left(-\frac{\gamma_{s,d}}{\overline{\gamma_{s,d}}}\right).$$
(3.51)

## 3.3.2 BER Analysis of Single-Threshold based DiffAF Relay Selection

### Scheme

The conditional BER using (Simon, M. K., & Alouini, M. S. (1998), equation (3.25)) given as

$$P_b(E|\gamma_c) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} z(\theta) \exp[-\gamma_c \, l(\theta)] \, d\theta, \qquad (3.52)$$

 $\gamma_c$  is the instantaneous SNR at the combiner output.

$$z(\theta) = \frac{1-\beta^2}{1+2\beta \sin\theta + \beta^2},$$

where  $\beta = \frac{a}{b}$  and  $l(\theta) = \frac{b^2}{2log_2M}(1 + 2\beta sin\theta + \beta^2)$ ,

and

'M' refers to the constellation size. The parameter  $\beta = \frac{a}{b}$  is constant and it depends on the type of modulation.

For DBPSK: a = 0 and  $b = \sqrt{2}$ .

Substituting a = 0 and  $b = \sqrt{2}$ 

$$z(\theta) = 1$$
 and  $l(\theta) = 1$ .

Substituting these values in equation (3.52) gives

$$P_b(E|\gamma_c) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \exp[-\gamma_c] \, d\theta, \qquad (3.53)$$

$$P_b(E|\gamma_c) = \frac{1}{2} \exp[-\gamma_c].$$
(3.54)

Substituting equation (3.48) in equation (3.54) gives

$$P_b(E|\gamma_c) = \frac{1}{2} \exp[-(\gamma'_{sd} + \gamma'_r)].$$
(3.55)

#### **Simulation Setup**

The simulation setup for testing the proposed single threshold based relay selection scheme with DiffAF relaying is presented in this section. The BER performance of the single threshold based single relay selection scheme with equal power allocation and optimum power allocation is discussed in the next section. Simulation parameters of figure 3.10(a) and figure 3.10(b) consists of 10<sup>5</sup> random bits with DQPSK modulation that has  $a = \sqrt{2 - \sqrt{2}}$  and  $b = \sqrt{2 + \sqrt{2}}$ .

The channels are modeled as Rayleigh fading channels and the noise variance is assumed as  $N_0 = 1$ . In figure 3.10(a) the simulation parameters consist of the power ratios  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$  for case(ii). In figure 3.10(b) the single threshold single relay selection simulation and approximated BER in equation (3.35a) use the optimum power ratios  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$  with the channel variance is chosen as  $\sigma_{sd}^2 = \sigma_{sr}^2 = \sigma_{rd}^2 = 1$  for case (ii) with input threshold  $\gamma_{iT}$ =10. The approximated BER in equation (3.35a) is used with power ratios  $P_s = 0.5P_t$  for equal power allocation curves in figure 3.10(b).

# Simulation Results and discussion of DiffAF with Single Threshold at the Relay

The performance of single threshold based DiffAF scheme is compared with DiffAF without threshold in figure 3.10(a). For a fair comparison, both the schemes use the DQPSK modulation scheme. The power ratios at the source and relay node fixed as  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$  where the total power is  $P_t = P_s + P_r$ . The performance curves of single threshold based DiffAF and without threshold shows the difference of 1dB at the BER of  $10^{-3}$ .



Figure 3.10(a). BER Performance comparison of Single-Threshold based DiffAF relaying The threshold at the relay depends on the distance between the source and the relay. In figure 3.10 (a) and (b), the distance between the source and the relay assumed to be more than relay

to the destination node distance as mentioned in equation (3.36), so less threshold fixed at the relay.



Figure 3.10(b). BER Performance comparison of Single-Threshold based DiffAF relaying with  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$ 

# Simulation Results and discussion of DiffAF with Single Threshold at the relay and destination

The threshold at the destination studied in this section, and the simulation performed by applying single threshold at the destination with DiffAF relaying. The comparative analysis of fixing threshold at the destination and the relay is investigated in this section. Figure 3.11 presents the comparison for case(ii) with  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$  and the threshold of 10dB. Fixing threshold at the relay selects relays that satisfy the threshold condition, and it impacts at the low SNR region with the performance degradation compared to fixing threshold at the destination. Fixing threshold at the destination selects the relays that satisfy the threshold condition at the destination. The performance degradation observed at the high SNR region due to selection of more relays with deeply faded S-R link and less faded R-D links. Similar performance observed between the two single threshold based relay selection schemes at the

SNR of 22dB. From the comparison, the performance gain of more than 2dB achieved at the BER of  $10^{-3}$  in the proposed scheme compared to applying threshold at the destination.



Figure 3.11. Comparison of DiffAF based Single-Threshold at the destination and relay for case(ii)

#### 3.4 Conclusion

This chapter considers the single threshold-based relay selection with AF and DiffAF relaying protocols. The considered system model consists of a single relay between the source and the destination. Most of the existing literature assumed the relay is located at the center of the source and destination node and considered as an ideal scenario. This study considers the varied distance between the source to the relay. The assumptions are more distance between source and relay and less distance is between the source and relay. The distance variation between the source and relay impacts the threshold which is fixed at the relays. The threshold is varied based on the distance between the two nodes. If more distance between the source and relay nodes, then the threshold at the relay should be less and on the other hand if less distance, then threshold at the relay will be high. The effect of unequal power allocation is analyzed and compared with the equal power allocation scheme. From the results, the optimum power

allocation with AF and DiffAF scheme without a threshold and with the threshold at the relay shows performance improvement compared to the equal power allocation scheme. Furthermore, this chapter analyses the effect of fixing the threshold at the relay and destination. The results show that the deploying threshold at the relay improves the performance compared to the threshold fixed at the destination.

## **Chapter 4**

# Double-Threshold and Multi-Threshold based Multi-Relay selection

#### 4.1 Introduction

The multi-relay selection has the potential of exploiting the diversity gain in Cooperative wireless networks due to the increase in the number of relays (Hwang & Ko, 2007), (Himsoon et al., 2007). However, selecting multiple arbitrary relays degrades the performance of the cooperative network. Furthermore, the single threshold at the relay discussed in Chapter 3 guarantees only the best relay selection based on the received SNR at the relay, but if the relay to destination link has deep fade, then it degrades the overall performance of the network. Threshold-based schemes in the literature classified broadly as the threshold at the input to the combiner such as AT-GSC and NT-GSC (Lioumpas et al., 2008) and the threshold at the output of the combiner OT-MRC (Yang & Alouini, 2005), MS-GSC and OT-MRS (Amarasuriya et al., 2010). The primary issue in the input threshold-based schemes is a greater number of relays are selected, and it adds more complexity to the network. Furthermore, output threshold schemes have the chance of selecting relays with low-SNR branches.

Single relay selection schemes suffer from performance loss due to the error rate and outage probability. However, the complexity of the optimal Multi-relay selection (MRS) schemes increases exponentially with an increase in the number of relays. The MRS schemes based on Generalized section combining (GSC) achieves performance gains at the expense of channel

estimation of all the relayed paths, which adds substantial complexity to the system. The GSC based MRS schemes select more relays as required. This problem is overcome by using the double threshold-based GSC scheme (DT-GSC) (Xie et al., 2014). In the above-mentioned existing schemes, the full channel state information (CSI) is required, obtaining CSI in the fast-fading environment is not suitable in a practical environment. In differential modulation, for example, DPSK relies only on the constant phase response of the channel and perfect CSI is not required. The DiffAF scheme requires only a long term average of the received signals, and no instantaneous CSI is required (Avendi & Nguyen, 2014).

The above-mentioned problem is overcome by extending the idea of OT-MRC (Yang & Alouini, 2005) and multi-hop threshold relay selection scheme (Amarasuriya et al., 2010). The differential modulation is a promising candidate since it reduces the receiver complexity and signalling overheads. The proposed double-threshold scheme is formulated by fixing the threshold at the relay node as input threshold and the destination node as an output threshold with differential modulation. In this proposed double threshold-based relay selection scheme, the input threshold is set based on the received signal at the relay, and the output threshold is based on the signal quality at the combiner input.

Multi-threshold based relay selection is presented in this chapter which is different from the combining scheme developed by Xie et al., (2014).

Significant differences between the proposed scheme and the DT-GSC scheme are as follows:

- i. The DT-GSC scheme has a double threshold at the combiner, but the proposed scheme has a threshold at the combiner and the relay.
- ii. DT-GSC scheme designed for multi-channel communication, and the proposed scheme is designed for the cooperative wireless network.

iii. The double threshold-based proposed scheme is analyzed with coherent and differential modulation schemes, but the DT-GSC scheme considers only coherent detection.

In this chapter, the double threshold-based relay selection scheme is proposed to overcome the issues mentioned in the input and output threshold schemes. Double-threshold has threshold placed at the relay and combiner output. This chapter presents the mathematical model of the proposed double threshold-based relay selection scheme with AF and DiffAF relaying using Coherent and Differential Modulation schemes and its performance analysis.

The power savings of the proposed scheme is compared to the existing schemes by determining the number of active branches. Complexity analysis of the double-threshold-based multi-relay selection scheme is presented in this chapter. Part of the work presented in this chapter is published in "Journal of Wireless Networking and Communications" (Shamganth.K. et al., 2018), and in "International Journal of Electronics and Communication Engineering & Technology" (Shamganth.K. et al., 2016).

#### 4.2 Double Threshold-based Multi-Relay Selection with AF relaying

#### Published as

"Shamganth, K., Al-Ghnimi, S., & Sibley, M. J. (2016). Performance Analysis of Threshold Based Relay Selection Technique in Cooperative Wireless Networks. International Journal of Electronics and Communication Engineering & Technology, 7(1)".

# Proposed Double-Threshold based Multi-Relay Selection Algorithm Algorithm 1

Step1: The signal from the source is received by the destination and the relays that are in the coverage area.

Step2: Relay use either AF or DiffAF relaying. The input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ) is placed at the relay. The threshold depends on the distance between the source and the relay node.

Step3: The relays with the received SNR more than input threshold  $(\gamma_{iT})$  is selected, and it will be on active mode to forward the source signal to the destination node.

Step4: The relays that do not satisfy the condition in Step 3 will be in sleep mode.

Step5: The signal received is combined at the destination. The output threshold ( $\gamma_{OT}$ ) is fixed at the combiner output to test received signal quality.

#### 4.2.1 System Model

The multi-relay cooperative wireless network consists of 'N' relays when a single source and destination is considered. For the multi-relay AF scheme, relay amplifies the received signal from the source and forward the amplified signal to the destination. Half-duplex transmission mode is considered in this model with the single antenna fixed at all the nodes. The signal transmissions in the system model comprise 'N + 1' phases. The orthogonal channel is assumed between S-R and R-D links to avoid interference. The mode of operation of the proposed double-threshold scheme (Shamganth.K. et al., 2018) is shown in figure 4.1.

The information bits are converted in the format of Quadrature phase-shift keying (QPSK) symbol and each symbol consists of 4 bits. The transmitted signal from the source is given by

$$x_n(t) = \sqrt{\frac{2E_s}{T}} \cos\left[2\pi f_c t + \frac{2\pi}{M}(n-1)\right] \text{ where } n = 1,2,3...M.$$
(4.1)

The symbol energy is denoted as  $E_s$  and the carrier frequency as  $f_c$ . The term M denotes the constellation size and M = 4 is the case of QPSK. Moreover, n is the phase of the carrier in equation (4.1) (Proakis, J. G et al., 2008).

In Phase-I source node transmits the signal and is received by N relays and by the destination in the direct link from the source. The amplified signal forwarded by the set of N relays to the destination in Phase-II.

The signal received at the relay in Phase-I is given as:

$$y_{SR_i} = \sqrt{P_S} h_{SR_i} x + n_{SR_i}$$
  $i = 1, 2, 3 \dots N,$  (4.2)

where 'N' denotes the number of active relays.

The signal received at the destination node in the direct link S-D in Phase-I is given as:

$$y_{SD} = \sqrt{P_s h_{SD} x + n_{SD}},\tag{4.3}$$

where  $P_s$  denotes the average source power of the transmitted signal. In equation (4.2) and (4.3) the terms  $n_{SR_i}$ ,  $n_{SD}$  is the complex additive white Gaussian noise with zero-mean and variance  $N_0$ . The term *x* denotes the transmitted information symbol.

The channel between source and the multiple relay nodes  $(S-R_i)$ , relays to the destination node  $(R_i -D)$  and the direct link from source to destination (S-D) follows Rayleigh fading.

The channel coefficient of the S-R<sub>i</sub> link has zero-mean and variance given as

$$h_{SR_i} \sim CN(0, \sigma_{SR_i}^2)$$
  $i = 1, 2, 3 \dots N.$  (4.4)

The channel coefficient of the S-D link has zero-mean and variance given as

$$h_{SD} \sim CN(0, \sigma_{SD}^2). \tag{4.5}$$

The relays fixed with the input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ) and the SNR at each relay is tested with the input threshold in Phase-II. The relay is selected and AF the source signal to the destination based on the input threshold testing (K.Shamganth et al., 2016).

Case (i): CSI assisted relays (Relays with Full CSI)

The amplification factor at the relay (Laneman et al., 2004) is given by

$$\alpha_r = \frac{\sqrt{P_r}}{\sqrt{P_s \,\varsigma_1^2 + N_0}} \qquad i = 1, 2, 3 \dots N, \tag{4.6}$$

where  $\varsigma_1^2 = |h_{SRi}|^2$  the channel coefficient of the first hop.

In this case, the assumption is that instantaneous CSI is available at the receiver. Also, the transmit power at the relay will be less if the fading effect in the first hop ( $\varsigma_1$ ) is low.

The instantaneous SNR of the source to multiple relay nodes (R<sub>i</sub>) given as

$$\gamma_{SR_i} = \frac{P_S \varsigma_1^2}{N_0}$$
  $i = 1, 2, 3 \dots N,$  (4.7)

Input threshold testing at the relay is given as

$$\begin{cases} if \ \gamma_{SR_i} > \gamma_{iT} \text{ then relay will be in active mode} \\ if \ \gamma_{SR_i} < \gamma_{iT} \text{ then relay will be in sleep mode} \end{cases} \qquad R_i = R_1, R_2, R_3 \dots R_N. \tag{4.8}$$

The input threshold depends on the distance between the source to the relay node. The relay may not always be at the center of the source and the destination.

The location of the relays may vary, and the system model is shown in figure 4.2. The input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ) at the relay depends on the distance between the source and the relay. Furthermore, channel attenuation mainly depends on the distance between two nodes.



Figure 4.1. Mode of operation for Double Threshold-based MRS scheme If the distance between the two nodes source and relay increases, then attenuation will increase

as per the relation  $\sigma_{SR}^2 \propto d^{-\alpha}$  the term  $\alpha$  in this relation is the propagation constant. Based on

this relation, the distance between the source, relay and destination nodes considered into three different cases as mentioned below:

Case(i): The distance between the source to the destination is

$$d(S,D) = d(S,R_i) + d(R_i,D).$$
(4.9)

Relays are at the center of the source and destination, then the distance between source to i<sup>th</sup> relay is given as

$$d(S, R_i) = d(R_i, D).$$
 (4.10)

The input threshold at the  $i^{th}$  relay is the fixed threshold for the case(i) in equation (4.10). The equal power allocation is applied, as mentioned below.

$$P_S = P_{Ri}.$$

*Case(ii):* If the distance between the source and i<sup>th</sup> relay is more, then less input threshold  $(\gamma_{iT})$  is fixed at the relay.

$$d(S, R_i) \gg d(R_i, D). \tag{4.12}$$

*Case(iii):* If less distance between the source and the i<sup>th</sup> relay node, then a high input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ) is fixed at the i<sup>th</sup> relay.

$$d(S,R_i) < d(R_i,D). \tag{4.13}$$

The Equal power allocation scheme not suitable for the distance case mentioned in equation (4.12) and equation (4.13).



Figure 4.2. System Model Double Threshold-based MRS scheme

The optimum power allocation is stated in (Theorem 5.3.4, Liu et al.2008) for AF with M-PSK modulation for high SNR is given as

$$P_{s} = \frac{\sigma_{SR_{i}} + \sqrt{\sigma_{SR_{i}}^{2} + 8\sigma_{R_{i}D}^{2}}}{3\sigma_{SR_{i}} + \sqrt{\sigma_{SR_{i}}^{2} + 8\sigma_{R_{i}D}^{2}}}P \qquad i = 1, 2, 3 \dots N,$$
(4.14)

$$P_r = \frac{2\sigma_{SR_i}}{3\sigma_{SR_i} + \sqrt{\sigma_{SR_i}^2 + 8\sigma_{R_iD}^2}}P \qquad i = 1,2,3...N.$$
(4.15)

The received signal at the destination D in Phase II is given as

$$y_{R_iD} = \alpha_r h_{R_iD} y_{SR_i} + n_{R_iD} \qquad i = 1,2,3...N,$$
(4.16)

where  $n_{R_iD}$  is the noise components of the relay to destination link it is given as

$$n_{R_{iD}} \sim CN(0,1).$$
 (4.17)

The channel coefficient between the R-D link has zero-mean and variance and is given by

$$h_{R_iD} \sim CN(0, \sigma_{R_iD}^2). \tag{4.18}$$

Substituting the amplification factor in equation (4.6) to equation (4.16) gives

$$y_{R_iD} = \frac{\sqrt{P_r}}{\sqrt{P_s \varsigma_1^2 + N_0}} h_{R_iD} y_{SR_i} + n_{R_iD} \quad i = 1, 2, 3 \dots N.$$
(4.19)

Substituting equation (4.2) in equation (4.19) yields (Shamganth, K et al., 2014)

$$y_{R_i D} = \frac{\sqrt{P_r}}{\sqrt{P_s \varsigma_1^2 + N_0}} h_{R_i D} \left( \sqrt{P_s} h_{SR_i} x + n_{SR_i} \right) + n_{R_i D},$$
(4.20)

$$y_{R_iD} = \frac{\sqrt{P_r P_s}}{\sqrt{P_s \varsigma_1^2 + N_0}} h_{R_iD} h_{SR_i} x + \frac{\sqrt{P_r}}{\sqrt{P_s \varsigma_1^2 + N_0}} h_{R_iD} n_{SR_i} + n_{R_iD},$$
(4.21)

$$y_{R_iD} = \frac{\sqrt{P_r P_s}}{\sqrt{P_s \varsigma_1^2 + N_0}} h_{R_iD} h_{SR_i} x + \eta_{R_iD} \qquad i = 1, 2, 3 \dots N,$$
(4.22)

$$\eta_{R_i D} = \frac{\sqrt{P_r}}{\sqrt{P_s \varsigma_1^2 + N_0}} h_{R_i D} n_{SRi} + n_{R_i D}, \tag{4.23}$$

where  $h_{R_iD}$  denotes the channel coefficient from the i<sup>th</sup> relay to destination and  $n_{R_iD}$  is the complex additive white Gaussian noise between the i<sup>th</sup> relay to destination channel.

The noise components  $n_{sr}$  and  $n_{rd}$ , are assumed to be independent and the equivalent noise  $\eta_{R_iD}$ , is zero-mean, complex Gaussian random variable with variance  $N_0$ .

$$N'_{0} = N_{0} \left( \frac{P_{r}\varsigma_{2}^{2}}{P_{s}\varsigma_{1}^{2} + N_{0}} + 1 \right), \tag{4.24}$$

where  $N'_0$  in (W/Hz) is the power spectral density of AWGN (Liu et al.,2008) and  $\varsigma_2^2 = |h_{R_iD}|^2$ the channel coefficient of the second hop between the i<sup>th</sup> relay to the destination node.

The instantaneous SNR of the direct link S-D is given by

$$\gamma_{SD} = \frac{P_S}{N_0} |h_{SD}|^2. \tag{4.25}$$

The instantaneous SNR of the i<sup>th</sup> relayed link R<sub>i</sub>-D is given by

$$\gamma_{R_i D} = \frac{P_r \varsigma_2^2}{N_0}.$$
(4.26)

The threshold set at the output of the combiner test the combined i<sup>th</sup> relayed branch and the signal from the direct link. Combiner output threshold ( $\gamma_{oT}$ ) follows the condition:

$$\begin{cases} if both \gamma_{SD} > \gamma_{oT} and \gamma_{SR_i} > \gamma_{iT} then \gamma_c = \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R_iD} \\ if \gamma_{SR_i} < \gamma_{iT} then \gamma_c = \gamma_{SD} \\ if \gamma_{SD} < \gamma_{oT} then \gamma_c = \gamma_{R_iD} \\ if both \gamma_{SD} < \gamma_{oT} and \gamma_{R_iD} < \gamma_{oT} then \gamma_c = 0 \end{cases}$$

$$(4.27)$$

The total instantaneous SNR at the destination is the sum of the direct link SNR and the equivalent instantaneous SNR of the  $i^{th}$  relay link S-R<sub>i</sub>-D (Qiang Zhao et al. 2005) required for the calculation of mutual information between the source to the destination node.

The overall SNR for the relayed link  $S-R_i-D$  at the destination node for the relay with full CSI (Hasna & Alouini, 2004) is given by

$$\gamma_{R_i} = \frac{\frac{P_s \varsigma_1^2 \varsigma_2^2}{N_0^2}}{\frac{\varsigma_2^2}{N_0} + \frac{1}{\alpha_r^2 N_0}},\tag{4.28}$$

Substituting equation (4.6) into equation (4.28) gives

$$\gamma_{R_{i}} = \frac{\frac{\frac{P_{s}\varsigma_{1}^{2}\varsigma_{2}^{2}}{N_{0}^{2}}}{\frac{\varsigma_{2}^{2}}{N_{0}} + \frac{1}{\left(\frac{\sqrt{Pr}}{\sqrt{P_{s}\varsigma_{1}^{2} + N_{0}}}\right)^{2}N_{0}}},$$
(4.29)

Rewriting the equation (4.29) gives

$$\gamma_{R_i} = \frac{P_s P_r |h_{sd}|^2 \varsigma_2^2}{N_0 (P_s \varsigma_1^2 + P_r \varsigma_2^2 + N_0)}.$$
(4.30)

Substituting equation (4.7) and (4.25) in equation (4.30) gives

$$\gamma_{R_i} = \frac{\gamma_{SR_i} \gamma_{R_i D}}{\gamma_{SR_i} + \gamma_{R_i D} + 1}.$$
(4.31)

The average SNR of the source to the i<sup>th</sup> relay link is

$$\overline{\gamma_{SR_i}} = \frac{\sigma_{SR_i}^2}{N_0},\tag{4.32}$$

and the average SNR of the direct link between source to the destination node is given by

$$\overline{\gamma_{SD}} = \frac{\sigma_{SD}^2}{N_0}.$$
(4.33)

The total instantaneous SNR at the destination given as

$$\gamma_C = \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^N \gamma_{R_i}. \tag{4.34}$$

At the output of the MRC combiner the signal detected by applying the minimum Euclidean distance detection technique (Proakis, J. G et al.,2008) using the optimal detection rule given as

$$\hat{x} = \arg\min|y - x| \quad (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) \in x,$$
(4.35)

The source to destination channel modelled as a Rayleigh fading channel, and the probability density function is given by

$$p(\gamma_{SD}) = \frac{1}{\gamma_{SD}} exp\left(-\frac{\gamma_{SD}}{\gamma_{SD}}\right),\tag{4.36}$$

The i<sup>th</sup> relay to destination channel modelled as a Rayleigh fading channel, and the probability density function is given by

$$p(\gamma_{R_iD}) = \frac{1}{\gamma_{R_iD}} exp\left(-\frac{\gamma_{R_iD}}{\gamma_{R_iD}}\right).$$
(4.37)

#### 4.2.2 SER Analysis

The closed-form SER expression derived for M-PSK (K.J Ray et al.,2008, pp 219, pp123) is used as a benchmark for the simulation results.

The SER expression is given as

$$P_{SER} \approx \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\frac{(M-1)\pi}{M}} M_{\gamma s} \left( \frac{\sin^2(\frac{\pi}{M})}{\sin^2 \theta} \right) \prod_{i=1}^{N} M_{\widetilde{\gamma} i} \left( \frac{\sin^2(\frac{\pi}{M})}{\sin^2 \theta} \right) d\theta.$$
(4.38)

At high SNR, the SER expression for Multi-relay AF without threshold stated in (K.J Ray et al.,2008, pp 220, Theorem 6.2.1, equation (6.86)) given as

$$P_{SER} \approx \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\frac{(M-1)\pi}{M}} \sin^{2(R_{N}+1)} \theta(N_{0})^{R_{N}+1} \frac{1}{P_{S}\sigma_{SD}^{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \frac{P_{S}\sigma_{SR_{i}}^{2} + P_{r}\sigma_{R_{i}D}^{2}}{P_{S}\sigma_{SR_{i}}^{2} P_{r}\sigma_{R_{i}D}^{2}} d\theta.$$
(4.39)

#### **Simulation Setup**

In this section the simulation setup for testing the double threshold based multi-relay selection using coherent AF scheme is presented. The simulation results of the double threshold scheme with different distance cases are presented in the next section. Simulation parameters consists of  $10^5$  input random bits with QPSK modulation and AF relaying. The noise variance is assumed as  $N_0 = 1$ . The multi-relay scenario considers single antenna nodes and half-duplex communication. The source to destination and relay to destination channel is modeled as Rayleigh fading channels. The relay comparison for the double threshold based coherent AF model use 5, 10, 15, and 20-relay scenarios. The SER curves for different relay scenarios are plotted as a function of SNR.

#### **Simulation Results and Discussion**

The simulation results are categorized into three cases as discussed in section 4.2.1. The effect of increasing the number of relays in double threshold multi-relay coherent AF model is shown

in figure 4.3 for case(ii). The optimum power ratios considered in this case is  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  with an input threshold of 3dB, less threshold is fixed as the relays are at a longer distance from the source. Increasing the number of relays to 20-relay from 5-relay show substantial performance improvement for the double threshold-based Coherent AF scheme. From the results, the difference between 15-relay and 20-relay scenario is less and 2dB difference is noticed between 5-relay and 10-relay scenario.



Figure 4.3. Relay Comparison of Double-Threshold based Coherent AF for case(ii)

Figure 4.4 presents the comparative results for case (iii) with relays near to the source is simulated with the input threshold of 10 dB and the combiner output threshold of 5 dB the power ratios used in the simulation is  $P_s = 0.3P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.7P_t$ . Figure 4.3 shows a similar performance for more relay scenarios. However, an increase in the number of relays from 5 to 20 relays shows significant performance improvement. In figure 4.4, the performance difference of more than 4 dB observed between 5-relay and 20-relay scenario.



Figure 4.4. Relay Comparison of Double-Threshold based Coherent AF for case(iii)

# 4.3 Multi-Relay based Multi-Threshold DiffAF with Differential Modulation using the Proposed Combiner

Consider Multi-node multi-threshold cooperative system model with a source S and N relays shown in the figure. 4.5. The source signal is differentially modulated and the DiffAF relaying is applied at the relays. The input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ) is tested at the relay, the relay will be in active mode or sleep mode depending upon the threshold value. In the multi-threshold model, the combiner at the destination has two thresholds: combiner input threshold ( $\gamma_{ciT}$ ) and the combiner output threshold ( $\gamma_{coT}$ ).

#### Algorithm 2

Step1 to Step 4 is the same as Algorithm 1.

Step5: The signal from the multiple relays and the direct link tested with the input threshold at the combiner ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ).

Step 6: The signal from i<sup>th</sup> relayed link satisfying the condition  $(\gamma_{R_iD} > \gamma_{iT})$  is selected as the input to the combiner.

Step 7: The signal from direct link S-D satisfying the condition  $(\gamma_{SD} > \gamma_{iT})$  is selected as the input to the combiner.

Step 8: The combined signal  $\gamma_C = \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{R_i}$  is tested with the combiner output threshold  $(\gamma_{coT})$ . Output threshold is fixed at the combiner output to test received signal quality.

#### 4.3.1 System Model

In differential Phase Shift Keying (DPSK) the information is modulated between the phases of the two consecutive symbols.

In Phase-I, the *M*-ary differential phase-shift keying (MDPSK) modulation is used (Proakis, J. G et al.,2008). The information symbol at the source node is given by

$$x_m = \sqrt{2E_s} e^{j\emptyset m} \qquad 1 \le m \le M, \tag{4.40}$$

where *Es* the symbol energy and  $\phi_m = \frac{2\pi(m-1)}{M}$  the change in phase. Source transmission is the block-by-block transmission (Avendi & Nguyen, 2013).

The source differentially encodes (Proakis, J. G et al., 2008) the symbol  $x_m$  by

$$s^t = x_m s^{t-1},$$
 (4.41)

where 't' is the time index and  $s^t$  is the differentially encoded symbol to be transmitted at time t. The source transmits  $s^t$  with transmitted power  $P_s$  to the destination. Due to the broadcasting nature of the wireless network, the information also received by N relays.

The signal received at the relay in Phase-I is given as

$$y_{SR_i}{}^t = \sqrt{P_S} h_{SR_i}{}^t s^t + n_{SR_i}{}^t \qquad i = 1, 2, 3 \dots N,$$
(4.42)

where 'N' denotes the number of active relays.

The signal received at the destination node in the direct link S-D in Phase-I given as

$$y_{SD}{}^{t} = \sqrt{P_{S}} h_{SD}{}^{t} s^{t} + n_{SD}{}^{t}, \tag{4.43}$$

where  $P_s$  denotes the average source power of the transmitted signal. In equation (4.42) and (4.43) the terms  $n_{SR_i}{}^t$  and  $n_{SD}{}^t$  is the complex additive white Gaussian noise with zero-mean and variance  $N_0$ .

The channel coefficient of the S-R<sub>i</sub> link has zero-mean and variance given as

$$h_{SR_i}^{\ t} \sim CN(0, \sigma_{SR_i}^2) \qquad i = 1, 2, 3 \dots N.$$
 (4.44)

The channel coefficient of the S-D link has zero-mean and variance given as

$$h_{SD}{}^t \sim CN(0, \sigma_{SD}^2). \tag{4.45}$$

For simplicity, the time index 't' is removed in the remaining equations in this system model. The relay tests the received signal with the threshold before amplification with the conditions as shown below:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\left(\sigma_{SR_{i}}^{t}\right)^{2}}{N_{0}^{2}} > \gamma_{iT} relay is in active mode\\ if \frac{\left(\sigma_{SR_{i}}^{t}\right)^{2}}{N_{0}^{2}} < \gamma_{iT} relay is in idle mode \end{cases},$$

$$(4.46)$$

where  $(\sigma_{SR_i}^{t})^2$  is the variance of the received SNR at the relay and  $N_0^2$  is the normalized noise variance.

The signal from the i<sup>th</sup>-relay amplified and forwarded to the destination node D and the amplification factor (Qiang Zhao et al. 2005) is given by

$$A \cong \sqrt{\frac{P_r}{P_s \sigma_{SR_i}^2 + N_0}}.$$
(4.47)



Figure 4.5. System Model Multi-Threshold based MRS scheme

The signal received at the destination D in Phase II in the relayed link is given by

$$y_{R_i D}{}^t = A \sqrt{P_r} h_{R_i D}{}^t + n_{R_i D}{}^t, aga{4.48}$$

where  $n_{R_iD}^{t}$  is the noise components in the i<sup>th</sup> relay to destination channel and is given by

$$n_{R_i D}{}^t \sim CN(0,1).$$
 (4.49)

Substituting equation (4.47) in equation (4.48) gives

$$y_{R_iD}{}^t = \sqrt{\frac{P_r}{P_s \sigma_{SR_i}^2 + N_0}} \sqrt{P_r} h_{R_iD}{}^t + n_{R_iD}{}^t.$$
(4.50)

The equivalent SNR of the S-R<sub>i</sub>-D  $i^{th}$  relay link is given by

$$\gamma_r = \frac{P_s P_r |h_{sD}|^2 |h_{R_iD}|^2}{N_0 (P_s \sigma_{SR_i}^2 + P_r |h_{R_iD}|^2 + N_0)}.$$
(4.51)

Simplifying equation (4.51) gives

$$\gamma_r = \frac{\gamma_{SR_i} \gamma_{R_i D}}{P_S + \gamma_{R_i D} + 1},\tag{4.52}$$

with unit variance  $\sigma_{SR_i}^2 = 1$  and  $N_0 = 1$ .

At the combiner input, the signal received in the direct link S-D is given by

$$\kappa_{SD} = y_{SD}^{*(t-1)} y_{SD}^t.$$
(4.53)

The signal at the input to the combiner from the i<sup>th</sup> relayed link is given by

$$\kappa_{R_iD} = y_{R_iD}^{*(t-1)} y_{R_iD}^t.$$
(4.54)

Threshold testing at the input to the combiner selects only the strongest branch and is given

by

 $if \gamma_{SD} > \gamma_{ciT} \text{ then combiner will accept the input from the direct link and is given as } \kappa = \kappa_{sd}$  $and \\ if \gamma_{R_iD} > \gamma_{ciT} \text{ then combiner will accept the input from the relay link and is given as } \kappa = \kappa_{R_iD} . \\ else \ \kappa = 0$ 

The average SNR at the combiner is given by

$$\overline{\gamma_c} = \overline{\gamma_{SD}} + \overline{\gamma_{R_lD}}.$$
(4.56)

Substituting (4.40) in (4.42) and (4.43) and assuming the slow-fading assumption  $h_{SD}^t = h_{SD}^{t-1}$ and  $h_{R_iD}^t = h_{R_iD}^{t-1}$  in equation (4.48) gives

$$y_{SD}^t = s^t y_{SD}^{t-1} + w_{SD}^t, ag{4.57}$$

$$w_{SD}^t = n_{SD}^t - s^t n_{SD}^{t-1}, (4.58)$$

$$y_{R_iD}^t = s^t y_{R_iD}^{t-1} + w_{R_iD}^t, ag{4.59}$$

$$w_{R_iD}^t = n_{R_iD}^t - s^t n_{R_iD}^{t-1}.$$
(4.60)

Threshold testing at the output of the combiner for the different cases are as follows:

### $\overline{\gamma_c}$

$$=\begin{cases} \gamma_{SD} & \text{if } \gamma_{SD} > \gamma_{coT} \text{ and } \gamma_{SR_i} < \gamma_{iT} & \text{or } \gamma_{R_iD} < \gamma_{ciT} & \text{Case (i)} \\ \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R_1D} & \text{, } \text{if } \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R_1D} > \gamma_{coT} \text{ and } \gamma_{SR_1} > \gamma_{iT} \text{ and } \gamma_{SR_i} < \gamma_{iT} \text{ for } (i = 2 \dots N) \text{ Case (ii)} \\ \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{R_iD} & \text{if } \gamma_{R_iD} \ge \gamma_{ciT} \text{ and } \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{R_iD} > \gamma_{coT} \text{ for } (i = 1, 2 \dots N) \text{ Case (iii)} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{R_iD} & \text{if } \gamma_{SD} < \gamma_{ciT} \text{ and } \gamma_{R_iD} \ge \gamma_{ciT} \text{ for } (i = 1, 2 \dots N) \text{ Case (iv)} \\ 0 & \text{if } \gamma_{R_iD} < \gamma_{ciT} \text{ and } \gamma_{SD} < \gamma_{ciT} \text{ case (v)} \end{cases}$$

The threshold at the output of the combiner is  $\gamma_{coT}$  is fixed. The relation between  $\gamma_{ciT}$  and  $\gamma_{coT}$  used in the proposed scheme is as follows:

$$\gamma_{coT} = \frac{\gamma_{ciT}}{4},\tag{4.62}$$

$$\begin{cases} if \quad \gamma_c \geq \gamma_{coT} \text{ then combined signal will be send to the detector} \\ else \gamma_c = 0 \end{cases}. (4.63a)$$

In differential detection, the Rayleigh fading channels are constant over a two-bit interval. Noncoherent detection of the transmitted symbols obtained from the consecutive received symbols is given by

$$\kappa_{SD} = Re\{y_{SD}^{*t-1} y_{SD}^t\},\tag{4.64}$$

$$\kappa_{R_iD} = Re\{y_{R_iD}^{*t-1} y_{R_iD}^t\},\tag{4.65}$$

where  $\kappa_{SD}$  and  $\kappa_{R_iD}$  are the decision variables.

The output of the detector is given by

$$\kappa = \kappa_{SD} + \kappa_{R_i D}. \tag{4.62}$$

The transmitted signal decoded at the destination as

$$\widehat{s^{t}} = \begin{cases} -1 & \text{if } \kappa < 0\\ +1 & \text{if } \kappa > 0 \end{cases}$$

$$(4.63)$$

### 4.3.2 BER Analysis

The conditional BER using (Simon & Alouini, 1998 (Equation.25)) is given as

$$P_b(E|\gamma_c) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} z(\theta) \exp[-\gamma_c \, l(\theta)] \, d\theta, \qquad (4.64)$$

where  $\gamma_c$  is the instantaneous SNR at the combiner output. The

$$z(\theta) = \frac{1 - \beta^2}{1 + 2\beta \sin\theta + \beta^2},\tag{4.65}$$

where  $\beta = \frac{a}{b}$  and

$$l(\theta) = \frac{b^2}{2\log_2 M} (1 + 2\beta \sin\theta + \beta^2).$$

$$(4.66)$$

In equation (4.66) 'M' refers to the constellation size. The parameter  $\beta = \frac{a}{b}$  is constant and it depends on the type of modulation (Simon & Alouini, 1998).

For DPSK: a = 0 and  $b = \sqrt{2}$ .

Substituting a = 0 and  $b = \sqrt{2}$  in equation (4.65) and (4.66) gives

$$z(\theta) = 1 \text{ and } l(\theta) = 1, \tag{4.67}$$

Substituting equation (4.67) in equation (4.64) gives

$$P_b(E|\gamma_c) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \exp[-\gamma_c] d\theta, \qquad (4.68)$$
$$=\frac{1}{2}\exp[-\gamma_c],\tag{4.69}$$

Substituting equation (4.56) in equation (4.69) gives

$$P_b(E|\gamma_c) = \frac{1}{2} \exp[-(\gamma_{SD} + \gamma_r)].$$
(4.70)

The performance of the proposed threshold-based relay selection with double threshold combining scheme is analyzed with two cases as mentioned below:

*Case (i): if* 
$$\gamma_{SD} < \gamma_{ciT}$$
 *and*  $\gamma_{R_iD} \ge \gamma_{ciT}$ 

Only the relay link SNR is above the threshold at the input to the combiner  $\gamma_{ciT}$ . The equivalent SNR of the relay link S-R<sub>i</sub>-D given in equation (4.52) as

$$\gamma_r = \frac{\gamma_{SR_i} \gamma_{R_i D}}{P_S + \gamma_{R_i D} + 1}.$$

The PDF of equation (4.52) is derived using (Papoulis, A. et al., 2001) as follows:

Let 
$$C_1 = \gamma_{SR_i} \gamma_{R_i D}$$
 and  $C_2 = P_S + \gamma_{R_i D} + 1$ .  
 $p(\gamma_r) = \int_0^\infty |C_2| p_{C1,C2}(\gamma_r C_2, C_2) dC_2.$ 
(4.71)

 $p_{C1,C2}$  is the joint PDF of  $\mathcal{C}_1$  and  $\mathcal{C}_2$ 

$$p_{C1,C2}(C_1, C_2) = p_{C1|C2}\left(\frac{c_1}{c_2}\right) p_{C2}(C_2).$$
(4.72)

Marginal PDF of  $C_2$  is given by

$$p_{C2}(C_2) = \frac{1}{\overline{\gamma_{R_1 D}}} \exp\left(\frac{-(C_2 - P_3 - 1)}{\overline{\gamma_{R_1 D}}}\right).$$
(4.73)

The conditional PDF of  $p_{C1|C2}\left(\frac{c_1}{c_2}\right)$  is as follows:

$$p_{C1|C2}\left(\frac{C_1}{C_2}\right) = \frac{1}{P_S|C_2 - P_S - 1|} exp\left(-\left(\frac{C_1}{P_S(C_2 - P_S - 1)}\right)\right).$$
(4.74)

Substituting equation (4.72) and (4.73) into equation (4.71) gives

$$p(\gamma_{r}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \left| P_{s} + \gamma_{R_{i}D} + 1 \right| \left( \frac{1}{P_{s}|C_{2} - P_{s} - 1|} exp\left( -\left(\frac{C_{1}}{P_{s}(C_{2} - P_{s} - 1)}\right) \right) \frac{1}{\overline{\gamma_{R_{i}D}}} exp\left( \frac{-(C_{2} - P_{s} - 1)}{\overline{\gamma_{R_{i}D}}} \right) \right) d\gamma_{R_{i}D},$$
(4.75)

Simplifying equation (4.75) gives

$$p(\gamma_r) = \int_0^\infty \left| P_s + \gamma_{R_i D} + 1 \right| \gamma_r \left[ \frac{1}{P_s \left| \gamma_{R_i D} \right|} exp\left( -\frac{\gamma_{SR_i}}{P_s} \right) \frac{1}{\gamma_{R_i D}} exp\left( \frac{-\gamma_{R_i D}}{\overline{\gamma_{R_i D}}} \right) \right] d\gamma_{R_i D}.$$
(4.76)

Let  $m = \frac{1}{\overline{\gamma_{R_{1}D}}}$  and  $n = \frac{\gamma_{r}(1+P_{s})}{P_{s}}$  in equation (4.85) using [Ryzhik, I. M. (2007), Eqn.3.478.4],

the PDF  $p(\gamma_r)$  can be written as

$$p(\gamma_r) = 2 \frac{(P_s + 1)}{P_s \overline{\gamma}_{R_l D}} \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma_r \gamma_{SR_l}}{P_s}\right) K_0(\beta \sqrt{\gamma_r}) + \frac{2}{P_s \overline{\gamma}_{R_l D}} \sqrt{\frac{\gamma_r (P_s + 1) \gamma_{R_l D}}{P_s}} \exp\left(-\gamma_r \gamma_{SR_l}\right) K_1(\beta \sqrt{\gamma_r}).$$

$$(4.77)$$

where  $\beta = 2\sqrt{\frac{P_s+1}{P_s\overline{\gamma_{R_lD}}}}$  and  $K_0(\cdot)$  denotes the zeroth-order modified Bessel function of the second

kind.

 $K_1(\cdot)$  denotes the first-order modified Bessel function of the second kind.

The BER expression of single channel binary DPSK (Proakis, J. G et al., 2008) is

$$P_{er} = \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{2} exp(-\gamma_r) p(\gamma_r) d\gamma_r.$$
(4.78)

In equation (4.78), Let  $r = \sqrt{\gamma_r}$  gives

$$P_{er} = 2 \frac{(P_{s}+1)}{P_{s}\overline{\gamma_{R_{l}D}}} \int_{0}^{\infty} exp\left(-\frac{r^{2}\gamma_{SR_{l}}}{P_{s}}\right) K_{0}(\beta r)dr + \frac{2}{P_{s}\overline{\gamma_{R_{l}D}}} \sqrt{\frac{\gamma_{r}(P_{s}+1)\overline{\gamma_{R_{l}D}}}{P_{s}}} \int_{0}^{\infty} r^{2} exp\left(-\frac{r^{2}\gamma_{SR_{l}}}{P_{s}}\right) K_{1}(\beta r)dr.$$

$$(4.79)$$

*Case (ii): if*  $\gamma_{SD} > \gamma_{ciT}$  *and*  $\gamma_{R_iD} \ge \gamma_{ciT}$ 

If both the relay and direct link SNR is above the input threshold at the combiner  $\gamma_{ciT}$ .

Binary differential PSK with multiple independent channels the BER conditioned on  $\gamma_c$ [Proakis, J. G et al.,2008 equation (11.1-11.3)] is given by

$$P_e(\gamma_c) = \frac{1}{8}(4 + \gamma_c) \exp(-\gamma_c).$$
(4.80)

Averaging the conditional BER with respect to the joint PDF of  $\gamma_r$  and  $\gamma_{SD}$  and substituting equation (4.52) in equation (4.80) gives

$$P_e = \iint_0^\infty \frac{1}{8} (4 + \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_r) \exp\left(-(\gamma_{SD} - \gamma_r)\right) p(\gamma_r) p(\gamma_{SD}) d\gamma_r \gamma_{SD}.$$
(4.81)

Substituting equation (4.77) and (4.36) in equation (4.81) gives

$$P_{e} = \iint_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{8} \left( 4 + \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{r} \right) \exp\left( - \left( \gamma_{SD} - \gamma_{r} \right) \right) 2 \frac{(P_{s}+1)}{P_{s} \overline{\gamma_{R_{l}D}}} \exp\left( - \frac{\gamma_{r} \gamma_{SR_{l}}}{P_{s}} \right) K_{0} \left( \beta \sqrt{\gamma_{r}} \right) + \frac{2}{P_{s} \gamma_{R_{l}D}} \sqrt{\frac{\gamma_{r} (P_{s}+1) \overline{\gamma_{R_{l}D}}}{P_{s}}} \exp\left( - \gamma_{r} \gamma_{SR_{l}} \right) K_{1} \left( \beta \sqrt{\gamma_{r}} \right) \frac{1}{\overline{\gamma_{SD}}} \exp\left( - \frac{\gamma_{SD}}{\overline{\gamma_{SD}}} \right) d\gamma_{r} d\gamma_{SD} \,.$$

$$(4.82)$$

#### **Simulation Setup**

In this section the simulation setup for testing the multi-threshold based multi-relay selection using DiffAF relaying is presented. The simulation results of the multi- threshold scheme with different distance cases is discussed in the next section. Simulation parameters consists of  $10^5$ random input bits with DPSK modulation and DiffAF relaying. The channel between source to destination and relay to destination is modeled as Rayleigh fading channels and the noise variance is assumed as  $N_0 = 1$ . The relay node is with single antenna and half-duplex communication is considered.

#### Simulation Results and Discussion of Multi-Threshold DiffAF and AF

Simulation results presented in this section consider the multi-threshold scenario with input SNR threshold at the relay. Destination threshold testing at the combiner input performed by comparing the SNR of the received signal from the relay to destination link with the combiner input threshold and the strong relay to destination branches are selected. The threshold at the combiner output tests the signal quality for detection.

The comparative analysis of multi-threshold based DiffAF for case(ii) is presented in figure 4.6. The analysis considers 10, 15 and 20-relay scenario with the optimum power ratios of  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ . Increase in the number of relays, in this case, shows lesser performance improvement and difference of 3dB observed for 10-relay and 20-relay scenario for the threshold values considered for the simulation.



Figure 4.6. Relay Comparison of Multi-Threshold DiffAF for case(ii)



Figure 4.7. Relay Comparison of Multi-Threshold DiffAF for case(iii)

Figure 4.7 presents the comparative results of Multi-threshold DiffAF for case (iii) with the input threshold of 20dB and combiner input threshold of 9dB and combiner output threshold of 25dB. Furthermore, the results show a lesser performance difference between 15-relay and 20-relay scenario. However, the significant performance difference of 3dB observed between 10-relay and 15-relay scenario. Increasing the number of relays shows performance improvement in this case.

#### **Simulation Setup for Multi-Threshold AF**

In this section the simulation setup for testing the multi-threshold based multi-relay selection using AF relaying is presented. In the next section the simulation results of the multi- threshold AF scheme with different distance cases are presented. Simulation parameters consists of  $10^5$ random input bits with DPSK modulation and AF relaying. The channels source to destination, source to relay and relay to destination is modeled as Rayleigh fading channels and the noise variance is assumed as  $N_0 = 1$ .

#### Simulation Results and Discussion of Multi-Threshold AF

The comparative analysis of Multi-threshold AF with the varied number of relays for case(ii) presented in figure 4.8. The analysis considers 5,10, 15 and 20-relay scenarios with the power

ratios  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ . Increasing the number of relays, in this case, show significant performance improvement. Furthermore, the difference of 4dB observed between 5-relay and 20-relay scenario for the input threshold of 20dB and combiner input threshold of 15dB and output threshold of 25dB. However, results show less performance difference between 15-relay and 20-relay scenario. Figure 4.9 presents the relay comparison of Multithreshold AF for case (iii). Furthermore, the results show the performance of 10-relay outperform 15-relay and 20-relay scenario. However, the performance difference is very less above 17dB for the 15-relay and 20-relay scenarios.



Figure 4.8. Relay Comparison of Multi-Threshold AF for case(ii)



Figure 4.9. Relay Comparison of Multi-Threshold AF for case(iii)

#### 4.4 Multi-Relay based Multi-Threshold AF with Coherent Modulation

In a multi-relay based cooperative D2D network with a source S and N relays, the source signal is amplified and forward to the destination using AF relaying. In the system model equation (4.1) to (4.37) is same as mentioned above. The difference in this scheme is the additional threshold at the input to the combiner. Threshold testing at the output of the combiner can improve the overall quality of the e2e communication.

The SNR at the output of the combiner is given as

$$\gamma_c = \gamma'_{SD} + \gamma'_{R_i}$$
  $i = 1, 2, ... N,$  (4.83)

where 
$$\gamma'_{SD} = \begin{cases} \gamma_{SD} & \text{if } \gamma_{SD} \ge \gamma_{ciT} \\ 0 & \text{if } \gamma_{SD} < \gamma_{ciT} \end{cases}$$
 (4.84)

and

$$\gamma_{R_i}' = \begin{cases} \gamma_{R_i} & \text{if } \gamma_{R_i} \ge \gamma_{ciT} \\ 0 & \text{if } \gamma_{R_i} < \gamma_{ciT} \end{cases}.$$
(4.85)

Combiner output threshold condition is given by

$$\gamma_{c} = \begin{cases} \gamma'_{SD} + \gamma'_{R_{i}} & \text{if } \gamma'_{SD} + \gamma'_{R_{i}} > \gamma_{coT} \\ 0 & \text{if } \gamma'_{SD} + \gamma'_{R_{i}} < \gamma_{coT} \end{cases}.$$
(4.86)

Relation between  $\gamma_{ciT}$  and  $\gamma_{coT}$  is same as mentioned in equation (4.62). Furthermore, signal detection follows equation (4.35).

#### **Simulation Setup**

In this section the simulation setup for testing the multi-threshold based multi-relay selection using AF relaying is presented. The simulation results of the multi- threshold AF scheme with coherent modulation are presented. Simulation parameters consists of  $10^5$  random input bits with QPSK modulation and AF relaying. The channels are modeled as Rayleigh fading channels and the noise variance is assumed to be  $N_0 = 1$ . The SER curves for different relay scenarios are plotted as a function of SNR.

# Simulation Results and Discussion of Multi-threshold AF with Coherent Modulation

The comparative analysis of 3,5,10 and 15-relay scenarios for Multi-threshold coherent AF is presented in figure 4.10. Results show that 15-relay scenario shows substantial performance improvement compared to other relays considered. Moreover, the difference in the performance is less for high relay scenarios 10-relay and 15-relay scenario considered for case(ii).



Figure 4.10. Relay Comparison of Multi-Threshold Coherent AF for case(ii)



Figure 4.11. Relay Comparison of Multi-Threshold Coherent AF for case(iii)

The relay comparison of Multi-threshold AF for case (iii) with the input threshold of 10dB and combiner input threshold of 5dB and combiner output threshold of 10dB is presented in figure 4.11. Furthermore, the results show the performance of 20-relay outperform 15-relay,10-relay, and 5-relay scenarios. However, the performance difference is very less above 8dB between 15-relay and 20-relay scenarios.

Comparative analysis of different threshold values in Multi-threshold AF for 5-relay scenario shown in figure 4.12. Three threshold sets considered for the comparison, and the combiner input threshold varied from 5 to 9dB. The input threshold of 10dB and combiner input and output of 5dB and 10dB outperform the higher threshold values considered, and it is due to a greater number of relays selected for assisting the source transmission. Furthermore, the combiner will receive more relay to destination link and choose the link with high SNR compared to the combiner input threshold.



Figure 4.12. Threshold Comparison of Multi-Threshold Coherent AF for case(iii)

### 4.5 Double Threshold-based Multi-Relay DiffAF with Differential Modulation

#### 4.5.1 System Model

Multi-relay cooperative network with a single source (S) and destination (D) with N-relays and DQPSK modulation considered in this model. Double threshold is applied in this scheme, as discussed in Algorithm 1. Input threshold  $\gamma_{iT}$  at the relays and combiner output threshold  $\gamma_{oT}$  at the output to the combiner at the destination is used.

Information bits converted to the format of differential M-ary phase-shift keying (DMPSK), the symbol at the source is given as

$$x_m = e^{j \emptyset_m},$$

where  $\phi_m = \frac{2\pi (m-1)}{M}$ , for m = 0, 1, ..., M - 1,

and M = 4 is the constellation size considered in the system model.

In the BER analysis, the conditional BER expression reported by (Simon & Alouini, (Equation.25) 1998) is applied. So, the BER analysis of the proposed scheme is

$$P_b(e|\gamma_c) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} z(\theta) \exp[-\gamma_c \, l(\theta)] \, d\theta, \qquad (4.87)$$

$$z(\theta) = \frac{1-\beta^2}{1+2\beta\sin\theta + \beta^2},\tag{4.88}$$

and  $\beta = \frac{a}{b}$  and  $l(\theta) = \frac{b^2}{2log_2M}(1 + 2\beta sin\theta + \beta^2).$ 

For M = 4, the parameter  $\beta = \frac{a}{b}$  is constant and depends on the type of modulation reported in (Simon & Alouini, 1998) for DQPSK

$$a = \sqrt{2 - \sqrt{2}}$$
 and  $b = \sqrt{2 + \sqrt{2}}$ .

Substituting *a* = 0.7653, *b* = 1.847, *M* = 4

$$\beta = 0.414$$
, gives

$$z(\theta) = \frac{0.828}{1+0.828(sin\theta)+0.1713}$$
, and

$$l(\theta) = 0.852(1 + 0.828sin\theta + 0.171).$$

Substituting  $z(\theta)$  and  $l(\theta)$  in equation (4.87) gives

$$P_{b}(e|\gamma_{C}) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{0.828}{1+0.828(sin\theta)+0.1713} \exp\left[-\gamma_{C} \left(0.8521+0.828sin\theta+0.171\right)\right] d\theta, (4.98)$$

$$P_{b}(e|\gamma_{C}) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{0.828}{1+0.828(sin\theta)+0.1713} \exp\left[-(\gamma_{SD}+\gamma_{R_{i}D}) \left(0.8521+0.828sin\theta+0.171\right)\right] d\theta$$

$$0.171) d\theta$$

The multi-node DiffAF BER expressions without threshold mentioned below serve as a benchmark for the simulated results of the proposed double threshold based DiffAF scheme.

The average BER formulation derived in (Liu et al., 2008, equation 9.147) is given as

$$P_{e} = \frac{1}{2^{2(N+1)}\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{f(\theta,\beta,N+1)}{1+k_{SD}(\theta)} \times \prod_{i=1}^{N} \frac{1}{1+k_{SR_{i}}(\theta)} \left(1 + \frac{k_{SR_{i}}(\theta)Z_{i}(\theta)}{1+k_{SR_{i}}(\theta)} \frac{P_{s}\sigma_{SR_{i}}^{2} + N_{o}}{P_{r}\sigma_{R_{i}D}^{2}}\right) d\theta.$$
(4.90)

The BER upper bound (Himsoon et al., 2008) given as

$$P_{e} \leq \frac{C(\beta, N+1)N_{0}^{N+1}}{P_{s}\sigma_{SD}^{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \frac{P_{i}\sigma_{R_{i}D}^{2} + \left(P_{s}\sigma_{SR_{i}}^{2} + N_{0}\right)Z_{i,max}}{P_{s}P_{r}\sigma_{SR_{i}}^{2}\sigma_{R_{i}D}^{2}},$$
(4.91)

where

$$C(\beta, N+1) = \frac{1}{2^{2(N+1)}\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{f(\theta, \beta, N+1)}{\alpha^{N+1}(\theta)} d\theta,$$
(4.92)

is a constant that depends on modulation size and number of relays,  $\alpha(\theta)$ , and  $f(\theta, \beta, N + 1)$ .

The approximated BER expression (Himsoon et al., 2008) is given as

$$P_{e} \approx \frac{C(\beta, N+1)N_{0}^{N+1}}{P_{s}\sigma_{SD}^{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \frac{P_{i}\sigma_{R_{i}D}^{2} + (P_{s}\sigma_{SR_{i}}^{2} + N_{0})Z_{i,min}}{P_{s}P_{r}\sigma_{SR_{i}}^{2}\sigma_{R_{i}D}^{2}}.$$
(4.93)

#### **Simulation Setup**

In this section the simulation setup for testing the double threshold based multi-relay selection using AF and DiffAF relaying scheme is presented. The simulation results of the double threshold scheme with different distance cases are presented in the next section. Simulation parameters consists of  $10^5$  input random bits with DQPSK modulation. The source to destination and relay to destination channel is modeled as Rayleigh fading channels with the noise variance of  $N_0 = 1$ . The multi-relay scenario considers single antenna nodes and halfduplex communication.

#### Simulation Results of Double Threshold AF and DiffAF

The simulation results of the proposed double threshold-based relay selection scheme for cooperative wireless network is presented in this section. Figure 4.13 presents the Multi-relay AF comparative simulation results for QPSK with DQPSK scheme with equal power allocation, and the 5-relay scenario considered. It is evident from the results that the coherent modulation scheme shows an improved performance as compared to the differential modulation without threshold.

Figure 4.14 shows the Multi-relay AF comparative simulation results for QPSK with DQPSK scheme with  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$  and 5-relays. In this case, the relays are nearer to the destination. The result is as expected with a 3dB difference between the coherent and differential modulation schemes without threshold at BER of  $10^{-3}$ .



Figure 4.13. Comparison of Coherent Vs Differential Modulation scheme for Multirelay AF with Equal Power allocation



Figure 4.14. Comparison of Coherent Vs Differential Modulation scheme for Multirelay AF with  $P_s = 0.8P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.2P_t$ 



Figure 4.15. Multi-relay AF with Double-Threshold

Figure 4.15 shows the Multi-relay cooperative AF with an input threshold of 10dB at the relay the combiner output threshold of 5dB with equal power allocation. Also, five relays considered in this simulation with equal distance between the source and destination to the relays. The simulation considers the DQPSK modulation of the source signal. Similar performance with the direct path without relay is observed in the simulation results with equal power allocation at the source and the relays.

In figure 4.16, the proposed double threshold scheme with 5-relay and an input threshold of 3dB and combiner output threshold of 5dB outperforms the direct path. In the simulation, the source power and relay power fixed as  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ . The distance between the source and relay based on case (ii). The simulation results show more than 5dB performance improvement at the BER of  $10^{-3}$ .

The simulation results in figure 4.17 based on case(iii) with the relays nearer to the source. Moreover, similar performance is observed for the direct path without relay and double threshold up to an SNR of 20dB. Furthermore, at high SNR above 20dB performance improvement is observed, at an SNR of 22dB, the proposed scheme achieves the BER of  $10^{-3}$ .



Figure 4.16. Multi-relay AF with Double-Threshold for case(ii)



Figure 4.17. Multi-relay AF with Double-Threshold for case(iii)

# Simulation Results and Discussion of DiffAF based Double Threshold Scheme

The double threshold based DiffAF simulation results for case (ii) is presented in figure 4.18. Double threshold curve achieves more than 5 dB performance improvement as compared to the direct path for a BER of  $10^{-3}$ . In figure 4.19, the double threshold curve shows the performance improvement from an SNR of 7dB as compared to the direct path. The BER of

 $10^{-3}$  is achieved at an SNR of 23dB. Increase in the number of relays in the simulation of figure 4.20 results in improved performance as compared to the double threshold curve in figure 4.19. It is observed that the double threshold curve is steep at an SNR of 6 dB and the BER of  $10^{-3}$  is achieved at an SNR of 21dB, so an increase in the number of relays shows an improvement of 2dB in figure 4.20 as compared to the double threshold curve in figure 4.20.



Figure 4.18. Double-Threshold based DiffAF for case(ii)



Figure 4.19. Multi-relay DiffAF with Double-Threshold using 5-relay for case(iii)



Figure 4.20. Multi-relay DiffAF with Double-Threshold using 10-relay for case(iii)

# **Comparative Analysis based on the Number of Relays for Double Threshold based DiffAF**

The comparative results presented in figure 4.21 based on case (ii) with the relays located at a distance from the source node. The optimum power ratios used in this simulation with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  and the input threshold is less in this case due to the relays located at a far distance from the relays the path loss will be more due to that signal power at the relay will be less and hence threshold at the relay is less in this case. Increasing the number of relays shows the performance improvement for the double threshold-based scheme. The difference of 2dB observed between 5-relay and 10-relay curve at the BER of  $10^{-3}$ . Moreover, the same difference observed between 10-relay curve and 15-relay curve. Furthermore, 1dB difference noticed between 15-relay and 20-relay curve. Increasing the number of relays above 20-relay results in a similar performance. The difference of 5dB at the BER of  $10^{-3}$  is noticed in figure 4.21 between 20-relay and 5-relay.

Figure 4.22 presents the comparative results for case (iii) with relays near to the source is simulated with the input threshold of 10dB and the combiner output threshold of 5dB the power ratios used in the simulation is  $P_s = 0.3P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.7P_t$ . Increase in the number of relays

from 5 to 20 relays shows improved performance. The difference of 2dB is observed between 5-relay and 10-relay results; however, this difference reduces as the number of relay increases. It is noticed that difference between 15-relay curve to 10-relay curve is 1dB at  $10^{-3}$ . Furthermore, the difference of 4 dB at the BER of  $10^{-3}$  is observed between 20-relay and 5-relay scenario.



Figure 4.21. Multi-relay DiffAF with Double-Threshold with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  and Th\_In=5 and Th\_Out=10 for case(ii)



Figure 4.22. Multi-relay DiffAF with Double-Threshold with  $P_s = 0.3P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.7P_t$  and Th\_In=10 and Th\_Out=5 for case(iii)

## **Comparative Analysis based on the Number of Relays for Double Threshold based AF**

The comparative results for case (ii) with relays away from the source is shown in figure 4.23 and the difference of 4dB at the BER of  $10^{-3}$  is observed between 20-relay and 5-relay scenarios. Moreover, the BER of  $10^{-3}$  is achieved at an SNR of 22dB for the 5-relay scenario and 21dB for the 10-relay and 20dB for the 15-relay and 20-relay scenario. Furthermore, similar performance is observed for the BER of  $10^{-3}$  for 15-relay and 20-relay scenarios.



Figure 4.23. Multi-relay AF with Double-Threshold with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  and Th\_In=3 and Th\_Out=5 for case(ii)

The comparative results for case (iii) with relays nearer to the source shown in figure 4.24, 5-relay scenario achieve the BER of  $10^{-3}$  at the SNR of 22dB and there is a difference of 2dB between 5-relay and 10-relay scenario. Furthermore, the performance of 20-relay scenario is excellent compared to 15, 10 and 5-relay scenarios. There is a difference of 4dB is noticed at the BER of  $10^{-3}$  between 20-relay and 5-relay scenarios. The simulation considers the input threshold of 10dB and the output threshold of 5dB.



Figure 4.24. Multi-relay AF with Double-Threshold with  $P_s = 0.3P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.7P_t$  for case(iii)

## 4.6 Complexity Analysis of the Proposed Double-Threshold based Relay Selection Scheme

#### Published as

Shamganth, K, & Sibley, M. J. (2018). Complexity analysis of double-threshold based relay selection in D2D cooperative network. J. Wirel. Netw. Commun, 8(1), 1-6.

In the double threshold scheme the input threshold  $(\gamma_{iT})$  fixed at the relay and the combiner threshold  $(\gamma_{OT})$  is at the output of the combiner as mentioned in Algorithm 1.The combiner output SNR  $(\gamma_c)$  of the proposed double threshold scheme based on different cases given as

$$\gamma_c =$$

$$\begin{cases} \gamma_{SD} , & if \gamma_{SD} \ge \gamma_{OT} \text{ and } \gamma_{SR_i} < \gamma_{iT} \\ \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R_1D} , & if \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R_1D} \ge \gamma_{OT} \text{ and } \gamma_{SR_1} > \gamma_{iT} \text{ and } \gamma_{SR_i} < \gamma_{iT} \text{ for } (i = 2 \dots N) \text{ Case } (i) \\ if \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{R_iD} & if \gamma_{SD} \ge \gamma_{OT} \text{ and } \gamma_{R_iD} \ge \gamma_{OT} \text{ for } (i = 1, 2 \dots N) \\ \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{R_iD} & if \gamma_{SD} < \gamma_{OT} \text{ and } \gamma_{R_iD} \ge \gamma_{OT} \text{ for } (i = 1, 2 \dots N) \\ \text{Case } (iv) \end{cases}$$

(4.94)

The expression for the CDF of the combiner output (Shamganth.K et al., 2018) given as

$$F_{\gamma_{c}}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{M} Pr([\gamma_{c} = \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{R_{i}D}] \text{ for } [\gamma_{c} \le x],$$
(4.95)  
$$F_{\gamma_{c}}(x) = P_{r}(\gamma_{OT} \le \delta_{1} \le x) + \sum_{i=2}^{M} P_{r}(\gamma_{OT} \le \delta_{i} \le x) \& [0 \le \delta_{i-1} < \delta_{OT}]$$
$$+ P_{r}([0 \le \delta_{M} \le x] \& [0 \le \delta_{M-1} < \delta_{OT}]).$$
(4.96)

In equation (4.96),  $\delta_i$  is the combined SNR of the i<sup>th</sup>-relayed paths and direct path and is given by

$$\delta_i = \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\gamma_{SR_i} \gamma_{R_i D}}{P_S + \gamma_{R_i D} + 1}.$$
(4.97)

In equation (4.96) the first term refers to the combined SNR of the direct path and the first relayed path is above the combiner threshold *i.e.*,  $\delta_1 > \gamma_{OT}$ .

The second term in equation (4.96) based on 'i' relays combined with the direct path to form an output SNR above the threshold ( $\gamma_{OT}$ )

$$\delta_i > \gamma_{OT} \text{ if } \gamma_{Ri} > \gamma_{iT} \text{ for } (i = 1, 2 \dots N).$$

$$(4.98)$$

The third term in equation (4.96) is the worst case where the sum of N-1 relayed paths and the direct path does not exceed the combiner threshold ( $\gamma_{OT}$ ).

From the mode of operation of the proposed double threshold scheme, an observation listed below:

- a. A single relay forwards the source information, and the relayed signal is combined with the direct path if the SNR at the relay is above the input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ) and the combined SNR is above the combiner output threshold ( $\gamma_{OT}$ ).
- b. The i<sup>th</sup> relayed link  $(2 \le i \le N 1)$  is used when the combined SNR of an N-1 branch and the direct link is above the combiner output threshold  $(\gamma_{OT})$ .  $\gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{Ri} \ge \gamma_{OT}$  and  $\sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{Ri} > \gamma_{iT}$

c. No relay is selected, and feedback is sent to the source to retransmit the data. i.e.,

$$\gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{Ri} < \gamma_{OT}$$

Mathematically:

$$P_{r}[\gamma_{c} = \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{Ri}] = \begin{cases} P_{r}[\gamma_{R1} \ge \gamma_{iT}] \text{ for } i = 1 \text{ and} \\ \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R1} \ge \gamma_{OT} \\ P_{r}\left[\sum_{i=2}^{N-1} \gamma_{Ri} > \gamma_{iT}\right] \\ \text{and} \end{cases} \\ \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=2}^{N-1} \gamma_{Ri} > \gamma_{OT} \\ P_{r}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{Ri} < \gamma_{iT}\right] \\ P_{r}\left[\sum_{and}^{N} \gamma_{Ri} < \gamma_{iT}\right] \\ \text{if } P_{r}[\gamma_{c} < \gamma_{OT}] \text{ No output} \end{cases}$$

$$(4.99)$$

Applying total probability theorem, the CDF of the output SNR  $P_o(x)$  is given as

$$P_{o}(x) = P_{r}[\gamma_{c} < x],$$

$$P_{o}(x) = P_{r}[(\sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{Ri} + \gamma_{SD}) < x].$$
(4.100)

Let

$$C_{1} = P_{r}[\gamma_{c} < \gamma_{OT}] = F(\gamma_{iT}) - F(\gamma_{oT}),$$

$$C_{2} = P_{r}[\gamma_{c} < \gamma_{OT}] = F(\gamma_{OT}),$$

$$C_{3} = P_{r}[\gamma_{c} \ge \gamma_{OT}] = 1 - F(\gamma_{OT}).$$
(4.101)

#### **Average Channel Estimation**

If the number of channel estimation  $(N_e)$  increases, then it will lead to an increase in the complexity of the relay selection scheme in a multi-relay cooperative D2D network (Shamganth.K et al., 2018).

*Case (i):*  $N_e = 1$ ; in this case, the first relayed link SNR  $\gamma_{R_1} > \gamma_{iT}$  and the combiner output  $(\gamma_c = \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R_1})$  is above the combiner threshold  $(\gamma_{OT})$ ,

It is given as 
$$\gamma_c \geq \gamma_{OT}$$
.

So, the probability for Case (i) given as

$$C_3 = P_r[\gamma_c \ge \gamma_{0T}] = 1 - F(\gamma_{0T}).$$
(4.102)

*Case (ii):* If  $2 \le N_e \le N - 1$ , there are two cases that exist:

i. The first N - 1 relayed link SNR is below the input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ), but the remaining i<sup>th</sup> relayed link SNR, and the direct path is above the combiner output threshold ( $\gamma_{OT}$ ). Given as

 $\gamma_{\rm c} = \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{Ri}$  and  $\gamma_{\rm c} > \gamma_{OT}$ .

The probability is given by

$$C_2^{N-1}C_3 = F^{N-1}(\gamma_{0T})[1 - F(\gamma_{0T})].$$
(4.103)

ii. In the relayed path, if the first N-1 relayed link SNR at the relay is above the input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ), and the combined SNR of the relayed link SNR and the direct link SNR ( $\gamma_{SD}$ ) is below the combiner threshold ( $\gamma_{OT}$ ),

i.e, 
$$\gamma_c = \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R_{i-1}}$$
 for  $i = \{1, 2, ... N\}$ ,

and  $\gamma_c < \gamma_{OT}$  but the combined SNR of the N<sup>th</sup> relayed link and the direct link ( $\gamma_{SD}$ ) is above the combiner threshold ( $\gamma_{OT}$ ).

Given as

$$\gamma_c = \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R_i}$$
 and  $\gamma_c \ge \gamma_{OT}$ .

The probability is given by

$$\sum_{i=1}^{M-1} \binom{M-1}{i} C_1^{M-1-i} \left[ F^{(i)}(\gamma_{OT}) \cdot C_3 - F^{(i+1)}(\gamma_{OT}) \right].$$
(4.104)

For  $N_e = M$ ; the probability is  $1 - \sum_{i=1}^{M-1} P_r[N_e = i]$ .

After arranging, the number of path estimation calculated as follows:

$$P_r[N_e = i] = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^{M-1} \binom{M-1}{i} C_1^{M-1-i} B_{i+1} & 1 \le i \le M-1 \\ 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{M-1} P_r[N_e = i] & i = M \end{cases}$$
(4.105)

where  $B_1 = C_3$ 

$$B_{2} = C_{1}C_{3} - F^{(2)}\gamma_{OT},$$

$$B_{3} = [F^{(2)}\gamma_{OT}C_{3} - F^{(3)}\gamma_{OT}],$$

$$B_{i} = [F^{(i-1)}\gamma_{OT}C_{3} - F^{(i)}\gamma_{OT}].$$

Mathematical expression for the average number of path estimation  $N_e$  (Ning Xie,2014)

is given by

$$N_e = \sum_{i=1}^{M} i. P_r \left[ N_e = i \right]. \tag{4.106}$$

#### **Average Number of Combined branches**

Based on the mode of operation of the proposed double threshold scheme, the average number of combined branches (Shamganth.K et al.,2018) calculated as follows:

a.  $N_c = 0$ ; if all the relayed link SNR is less than the input threshold  $(\gamma_{iT})$  and the combined SNR  $(\gamma_c)$  is less than the output threshold  $(\gamma_c < \gamma_{OT})$ . The probability is  $C_2^M$  in this case, first M-1 relayed links SNR is below input threshold  $(\gamma_{iT})$ , so the relays in the sleep mode and the M<sup>th</sup> relayed link SNR is above  $\gamma_{iT}$  and the combined branch SNR  $(\gamma_c)$  is above the combiner threshold  $(\gamma_{OT})$ .

b.  $N_c = 1$ ; The two cases are as follows:

*Case (i):* only one relay link SNR is above input threshold  $(\gamma_{iT})$ , and the combined SNR  $\gamma_c \ge \gamma_{OT}$  the probability is given as  $MC_2^{M-1}C_1$ .

*Case (ii):* In this case first M - 1 relay link SNR is below input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ), so the relay is in sleep mode and the M<sup>th</sup> relay link SNR is above  $\gamma_{iT}$  and the combined SNR ( $\gamma_c$ ) is above  $\gamma_{OT}$ .

The probability is given as  $C_3 \sum_{i=0}^{M-1} C_2^i$ .

Probability of combining one branch is

 $MC_2^{M-1}C_1 + C_3 \sum_{i=0}^{M-1} C_2^i.$ 

c.  $N_C = M$ ; all the relayed link SNR is above input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ), and the combined SNR ( $\gamma_c$ ) is above output threshold ( $\gamma_{OT}$ ).

The probability is given as  $F^{M}(\gamma_{OT})C_{3}$ .

#### **Numerical Results and Discussion**

Numerical results for an average number of channel estimation presented in this section. Furthermore, average channel estimation is analyzed in the following cases as discussed above:

*Case(i):* For  $N_e = 1$ ; only the first relay link channel estimation is required since the first relay link SNR is above the input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ). And the combined SNR ( $\gamma_c$ ) is above combiner threshold ( $\gamma_{OT}$ ).

The probability for the Rayleigh fading channel calculated using equation (4.102) for the normalized SNR ranges from 0dB to 15dB. It is evident from table 4.1, for high values of normalized SNR the number of channel estimation reduced.

S.No	Normalized SNR	Average Channel estimation	
1.	0dB	0.3679	
2.	5dB	0.1690	
3.	10dB	0.0423	
4.	15dB	0.0036	

Table 4.1: Channel estimation for Case (i) (Shamganth.K et al., 2018)

Case (ii): For  $2 \le N_e \le N - 1$ , the probability is calculated using (4.103) as shown in table 4.2.

S.No	Normalized SNR	Average Channel estimation	
1.	-5dB	0.0010	
2.	0dB	0.0097	
3.	5dB	0.0585	
4.	10dB	0.1689	

Table 4.2: Channel estimation for Case (ii) (Shamganth.K et al., 2018)

## 4.7 Complexity Analysis of the Proposed Multi-Threshold based Relay Selection Scheme

In the Multi-Threshold scheme the input threshold  $(\gamma_{iT})$  is at the relay, and the combiner has two thresholds as combiner input threshold  $(\gamma_{ciT})$  and combiner input threshold  $(\gamma_{OT})$  as discussed in Algorithm 2. The combiner output SNR  $(\overline{\gamma_c})$  of the proposed multi-threshold scheme mentioned in equation (4.61) based on different cases is given as

 $\overline{\gamma_c}$ 

$$=\begin{cases} \gamma_{SD} , & if \gamma_{SD} > \gamma_{coT} and \gamma_{SR_i} < \gamma_{iT} & or & \gamma_{R_iD} < \gamma_{ciT} & Case(i) \\ \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R_1D} , & if \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R_1D} > \gamma_{coT} and \gamma_{SR_1} > \gamma_{iT} and & \gamma_{SR_i} < \gamma_{iT} for(i = 2 \dots N) Case(ii) \\ \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{R_iD} & if \gamma_{R_iD} \ge \gamma_{ciT} and & \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{R_iD} > \gamma_{coT} for(i = 1, 2 \dots N) Case(iii) \\ \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{R_iD} & if \gamma_{SD} < \gamma_{ciT} and & \gamma_{R_iD} \ge \gamma_{ciT} for(i = 1, 2 \dots N) \\ 0 & if & \gamma_{R_iD} < \gamma_{ciT} and & \gamma_{SD} < \gamma_{ciT} \end{cases} for(i = 1, 2 \dots N) for(i) \\ \zetaase(i) \\ \zetaase(i)$$

The CDF of the combiner output given as

$$F_{\gamma_{c}}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{M} Pr([\gamma_{c} = \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{R_{i}}] \text{ for } [\gamma_{c} \le x], \qquad (4.107)$$

$$F_{\gamma_{c}}(x) = P_{r}(\gamma_{coT} \le \delta_{1} \le x) + \sum_{i=2}^{M} P_{r}(\gamma_{coT} \le \delta_{i} \le x) \& [0 \le \delta_{i-1} < \delta_{coT}] + P_{r}([0 \le \delta_{M} \le x] \& [0 \le \delta_{M-1} < \delta_{coT}]). \qquad (4.108)$$

In equation (4.119),  $\delta_i$  is the combined SNR of the first i<sup>th</sup> relayed paths and direct path and is given as

$$\delta_i = \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^N \gamma_{R_i}, \tag{4.109}$$

where  $\gamma_{R_i} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\gamma_{SR_i} \gamma_{R_i D}}{\gamma_{SR_i} + \gamma_{R_i D} + 1}$ ,

and

$$\delta_i > \gamma_{coT} \text{ if } \gamma_{Ri} > \gamma_{ciT} \text{ for } (i = 1, 2 \dots N).$$

Based on Algorithm 2 of the proposed multi-threshold scheme, an observation is listed below:

- a. A single relay forwards the source information, and the relayed signal is combined with the direct link if the SNR at the relay is above the input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ) and the relayed link is above the combiner input threshold ( $\gamma_{ciT}$ ) and the direct link ( $\gamma_{SD}$ ) is above  $\gamma_{ciT}$ (the combined output is above the combiner output threshold ( $\gamma_{coT}$ ).
- b. The i<sup>th</sup> relayed link  $(2 \le i \le N 1)$  is used when the input to the combiner of an N 1 relayed branch is above the input threshold  $(\gamma_{ciT})$  and the direct link is above  $\gamma_{ciT}$ . Furthermore, the combiner output is above the combiner output threshold  $(\gamma_{coT})$  $\gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{Ri} \ge \gamma_{coT}$ .
- c. No output and the feedback sent to the source for retransmission  $\gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{Ri} < \gamma_{coT}$ ,

Mathematically:

$$P_{r}[\gamma_{c} = \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{Ri}] = \begin{cases} P_{r}[\gamma_{R1} \ge \gamma_{iT}] \text{ for } i = 1 \text{ and} \\ \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R1} \ge \gamma_{coT} \\ P_{r}\left[\sum_{i=2}^{N-1} \gamma_{Ri} > \gamma_{iT}\right] \\ \text{and} \end{cases} \\ \gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=2}^{N-1} \gamma_{Ri} > \gamma_{coT} \\ P_{r}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{Ri} < \gamma_{iT}\right] \\ \text{and} \end{cases}$$
(4.110)  
$$P_{r}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{Ri} < \gamma_{iT}\right] \\ \text{if } P_{r}[\gamma_{c} < \gamma_{coT}] \text{ No output} \end{cases}$$

Applying total probability theorem, the CDF of the combiner output SNR  $P_o(x)$  is given as,  $P_o(x) = P_r[\gamma_c < x],$  $= P_r[(\sum_{i=1}^N \gamma_{Ri} + \gamma_{SD}) < x].$ 

(4.111)

Let

$$C_{1} = P_{r}[\gamma_{ciT} \leq \gamma_{c} < \gamma_{coT}] = F(\gamma_{coT}) - F(\gamma_{ciT}),$$

$$C_{2} = P_{r}[\gamma_{c} < \gamma_{coT}] = F(\gamma_{coT}),$$

$$C_{3} = P_{r}[\gamma_{c} \geq \gamma_{coT}] = 1 - F(\gamma_{coT}).$$
(4.112)

#### **Average Channel Estimation**

The increase in the number of channel estimation  $(N_e)$  will increase in the complexity of the relay selection scheme in a multi-relay cooperative D2D network.

Case (i):  $N_e = 1$ ; in this case, the first relayed link SNR  $\gamma_{R_1} > \gamma_{iT}$  and the direct link

$$\gamma_{SD} > \gamma_{ciT}$$
. Also, the combiner output  $(\gamma_c = \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R_1})$  is above  $\gamma_{coT}$ ,

and is given as

$$\gamma_c \geq \gamma_{coT}.$$

The probability for this case is given as

$$C_3 = P_r[\gamma_c \ge \gamma_{coT}] = 1 - F(\gamma_{coT}).$$
(4.113)

*Case (ii):* If  $2 \le N_e \le N - 1$ , there will be two cases as follows:

i. The first relayed link SNR is below the input threshold  $(\gamma_{ciT})$ , but the remaining i<sup>th</sup>

relayed link SNR and the direct link SNR ( $\gamma_{SD}$ ) is above the combiner output threshold ( $\gamma_{coT}$ ), and is given as

$$\gamma_{SD} + \sum_{i=2}^{N} \gamma_{R_i} > \gamma_{coT}. \tag{4.114}$$

The probability for this case is given as

$$C_2^{N-1}C_3 = F^{N-1}(\gamma_{coT})[1 - F(\gamma_{coT})].$$
(4.115)

ii. The first N-1 relayed link SNR is above the input threshold ( $\gamma_{ciT}$ ), and the combined SNR of the first N-1 branch SNR and the direct link SNR ( $\gamma_{SD}$ ) is below the combiner output threshold ( $\gamma_{coT}$ ), and is given as

$$\gamma_c = \gamma_{SD} + \gamma_{R_{N-1}},\tag{4.116}$$

and  $\gamma_c < \gamma_{coT}$  but the combined SNR of the N<sup>th</sup> relayed link SNR, and the direct link is above the combiner output threshold ( $\gamma_{coT}$ ), and is given as

$$\gamma_{\rm c} = \gamma_{\rm SD} + \gamma_{R_N} \text{ and } \gamma_{\rm c} \ge \gamma_{coT}$$
.

The probability for this case is given as

$$\sum_{i=1}^{M-1} \binom{M-1}{i} C_1^{M-1-i} \left[ F^{(i)}(\gamma_{coT}) \cdot C_3 - F^{(i+1)}(\gamma_{coT}) \right].$$
(4.117)

For  $N_e = M$ ; the probability is given as  $1 - \sum_{i=1}^{M-1} P_r[N_e = i]$ .

The number of path estimation calculated as follows:

$$P_r[N_e = i] = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^{M-1} \binom{M-1}{i} C_1^{M-1-i} B_{i+1} & 1 \le i \le M-1 \\ 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{M-1} P_r[N_e = i] & i = M \end{cases},$$
(4.118)

where  $B_1 = C_3$ ,

$$B_{2} = C_{1}C_{3} - F^{(2)}\gamma_{coT},$$
$$B_{3} = [F^{(2)}\gamma_{coT}C_{3} - F^{(3)}\gamma_{coT}],$$

$$B_{i} = [F^{(i-1)}\gamma_{coT}C_{3} - F^{(i)}\gamma_{coT}].$$

Mathematical expression for the average number of path estimation  $(N_e)$  (Xie et al., 2014) is given as

$$N_e = \sum_{i=1}^{M} i. P_r \left[ N_e = i \right]. \tag{4.119}$$

#### **Average Number of Combined branches**

The average number of combined branches calculated as follows:

- a.  $N_c = 0$ ; if the first M-1 relayed link SNR is less than input threshold  $(\gamma_{iT})$  and the combined SNR  $(\gamma_c)$  is less than combiner output threshold  $(\gamma_c < \gamma_{OT})$ . The probability is  $C_2^M$  in this case first M-1 relayed links SNR is below input threshold  $(\gamma_{ciT})$ , and the M<sup>th</sup> relayed link SNR is above  $\gamma_{ciT}$  and the combined SNR  $\gamma_c$  is above the combiner output threshold  $(\gamma_{coT})$ .
- b.  $N_c = 1$ ; The two cases are as follows:

*Case (i):* only one relay link SNR is above input threshold  $(\gamma_{iT})$ , and the combined SNR  $\gamma_c \ge \gamma_{coT}$  the probability is given as  $MC_2^{M-1}C_1$ .

*Case (ii):* If the first M - 1 relayed link SNR is below the combiner input threshold ( $\gamma_{ciT}$ ), and the M<sup>th</sup> relay link SNR is above  $\gamma_{iT}$  and the combined SNR ( $\gamma_c$ ) is above  $\gamma_{coT}$ .

The probability for this case is given as

$$C_3 \sum_{i=0}^{M-1} C_2^i$$
.

Probability for combining one branch is given as

$$MC_2^{M-1}C_1 + C_3 \sum_{i=0}^{M-1} C_2^i.$$
(4.120)

c.  $N_C = M$ ; all the relayed link SNR is above input threshold ( $\gamma_{iT}$ ), and the combiner input threshold ( $\gamma_{ciT}$ ) and the combined SNR ( $\gamma_c$ ) is above combiner output threshold ( $\gamma_{coT}$ ).

The probability is given as

$$F^{M}(\gamma_{coT})C_{3}. \tag{4.121}$$

#### **Complexity Analysis with the Special Case**

The multi-relay cooperative scheme discussed in this chapter considers the transmission from the source received by multiple relays and by the destination. Moreover, all the relays not located at the center between source to destination. The relays located randomly, and it is at different distances from the source. In the literature, mostly the relays are assumed to be at the center between the source to the destination. The retransmission from the relays assumed to reach the destination directly, and not received by the relays in the path between the source and destination. For multi-node cooperative decode and forward (DF) relaying the cooperative diversity protocols discussed as cooperation scheme C(m) for Virtual MIMO proposed in (Sadek et al., 2005). Furthermore, the cooperation C(m) has two categories as C(1) and C(R - 1) and R denotes the number of relays in the cooperative network. And this cooperation scheme proposed for DF in (Sadek et al., 2005) is adapted as a special case for Multi-relay double threshold AF with coherent modulation.

#### Cooperation scheme C(1)

As a special case, the relay is active in the multi-relay double threshold-based AF scheme, if the SNR of the S-R link is above the input threshold. The active relays located nearer to the destination receives the signal in Phase-I from the source and assist in forwarding the source information to the destination in Phase-II. During this phase the signal from the previous relay also received by the active relay for the same source information then, an active relay also considers the received signal from the previous relay before its transmission to the destination in Phase-II and the cooperation scheme adapted from (Sadek et al., 2005) is C(1). In general the (k + 1)<sup>th</sup> relay combines the signals received from the source and the k<sup>th</sup> relay. The number of channel estimation for the cooperation scheme C(1) mentioned in (Liu et al.,2008, equation 6.44) is given by

$$nc_{h,1} = 3R.$$
 (4.122)

The number of channels estimated at the destination is R + 1 and 2R - 1 channel estimated by the *R* relays; in the case of *C*(1), the *k*<sup>th</sup> relay estimates only one channel from its previous relay.

#### Cooperation scheme C(R-1)

In this scheme, the active relay located very near to the destination receives the signal from R - 1 relays in addition to the signal from the source node. In C(R - 1) cooperation scheme the (k + 1)<sup>th</sup> relay combines the signals received from the source and all of the previous relays. Furthermore, this cooperation scheme has high complexity as more channel estimation is required. Since the cooperation scheme C(1) does not require each relay to estimate the CSI of all the previous relays as in C(R - 1) the complexity is less, and it has reduced channel estimation computations (Liu et al.,2008).

In the cooperation scheme C(R - 1), the  $k^{\text{th}}$  relay estimates k channels, and thus the number of computations for this case (Liu et al.,2008, equation 6.45) is given as

$$nc_{h,R-1} = \frac{1}{2} [R^2 + 3R + 1]. \tag{4.123}$$

The ratio of savings in the number of channel estimation by using C(1) compared to C(R - 1)(Liu et al.,2008, equation 6.46) is given as

$$\frac{nc_{h,1}}{nc_{h,R-1}} = \frac{6R}{[R^2 + 3R + 1]}.$$
(4.124)

In this chapter, the number of relays considered for the analysis is 5,10,15, and 20 for the multirelay double threshold scheme scenarios and table 4.3 shows the number of channel estimation for the set of active relays assisting the source transmission to the destination node and its savings in channel estimation computations of the cooperative scheme C(1) with respect to C(R-1) scheme.

Number of Relays	Number of channel Estimation C(1)	Number of channel Estimation $C(R-1)$	Savings in Channel Estimation
5	15	20.5	0.7317
10	30	65.5	0.4580
15	45	135.5	0.3321
20	60	230.5	0.2603
25	75	350.5	0.2139

 Table 4.3 Channel estimation for the special case

#### **Simulation Results and Discussion**

The number of channel estimations for the cooperation scheme C(m) with C(1) and C(R-1) comparative results shown in figure 4.25. The results show that C(1) scheme has less channel estimation since the k<sup>th</sup> relay considers only one previous relay transmission in addition to the source transmission. However, the C(R-1) scheme has very high complexity due to the increased number of channel estimation, as shown in the comparative results.



Figure 4.25. Comparative Channel estimation for the cooperation scheme

Figure 4.26 presents the savings in the channel computation concerning the number of relays. Furthermore, as the number of relays increases the savings in the channel computation reduces and it is as expected as the number of relays increases the number of channel estimation in C(R-1) scenario increases significantly.



Figure 4.26. Savings of Channel computation

# Comparative Analysis of Double-Threshold-based AF and DiffAF using Differential Modulation

The comparative results for Case(ii) with an input threshold of 3dB and combiner output threshold of 5dB shown in figure 4.27 For the 20-relay scenario, similar performance is observed between DiffAF and AF relaying. However, the difference of 1dB noticed between DiffAF and AF relaying on 5-relay scenario. Furthermore, the AF outperforms DiffAF with the double threshold for the case with relays away from the source.



Figure 4.27. Comparative Multi-relay Double-Threshold with DQPSK with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  and Th\_In=3 and Th\_Out=5 (AF Vs DiffAF)

# Comparative Analysis of Multi-Threshold-based AF and DiffAF using Differential Modulation

Comparison of AF and DiffAF based on the number of relays for case (ii) shown in figure 4.28. The input threshold considered for the simulation is 20dB and the combiner input and output threshold of 15dB and 25dB. DiffAF scheme shows substantial performance improvement compared to the multi-threshold AF scheme. However, above 17dB similar performance observed between 20-relay AF and DiffAF relaying. For the comparison, 10-relay and 20-relay scenario considered. The 10-relay DiffAF show significant performance improvement compared to 10-relay AF scheme up to an SNR of 21dB.



Figure 4.28. Comparative Analysis of Multi-Threshold AF Vs DiffAF Relay Comparison with for case(ii)

#### **Comparative Analysis of Multi-Threshold Coherent AF and Differential AF Relaying Schemes**

The comparative analysis of coherent AF and differential AF for the multi-threshold scheme is shown in figure 4.29. The comparison considers 5-relay and 15-relay scenario for case(ii). Coherent AF outperforms differential AF in both relay scenarios as expected. Moreover, the 15-relay scenario shows significant performance improvement compared to the 5-relay scenario.



Figure 4.29. Relay Comparison of Coherent AF and Differential AF for case(ii)
## 4.8 Conclusion

This chapter considers the double threshold-based relay selection with AF and DiffAF relaying protocols. The considered system model consists of the input threshold at the relay and output threshold at the combiner. The performance analysis of the double threshold-based relay selection with AF and DiffAF relaying using differential and coherent modulation is analyzed. The results of double threshold-based relay selection raise a new concern that weak relayed paths were also selected at the combiner and to avoid this issue multi-threshold-based relay selection scheme proposed. The considered system model consists of combiner input and output threshold in addition to the input threshold at the relay. The complexity of double threshold-based relay selection scheme is analyzed in this chapter. The comparative analysis of double threshold and multi-threshold-based AF and DiffAF relaying with differential modulation shows for a greater number of relays similar performance is observed however, the significant difference observed for lesser relays. The additional comparative analysis results of double threshold and multi-threshold-based relay selection are included in the Appendix-A.

## Chapter 5

# Double Threshold Relay Selection based Physical Layer Security Enhancement in Cooperative Wireless Network

## 5.1 Introduction

Physical layer security is an essential technique for securing data transmission, and it can be achieved by modifying the capacity of the main link channel more than source to eavesdropper link (Zou, Y et al.,2013). The chances of security issues exist if the rate of secrecy capacity falls below zero. This issue is generally observed due to fading effect (Chen, X et al.,2015), (Li, Q et al.,2015). Part of the work presented in this chapter published in "Data Communication and Networks. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol 1049. Springer, Singapore", (Shamganth.K et al.,2020).

The secrecy in the cooperative wireless network increased by applying efficient relay selection technique. In this chapter, the double threshold-based relay selection is applied to the existing AF based optimal relay selection scheme (AFbORS). The proposed scheme combines the optimal relay selection scheme developed by Zou et al. (2013), i.e., P-AFbORS with double threshold relay selection.

Zou et al. (2013) proposed the optimal relay selection technique (P-AFbORS) to improve the physical layer security in cooperative wireless network. Also, the optimal relay selection is applied with the simple relay selection (Bletsas et al., 2006) and presented the traditional AF based optimal relay selection scheme (T-AFbORS). The difference between P-AFbORS and

the T-AFbORS is on the CSI considered for the relay selection. The P-AFbORS scheme consider relay to eavesdropper CSI in addition to the source to relay and relay to destination link CSI in the calculation of secrecy capacity and the relay with maximum secrecy capacity is selected as the optimal relay. In the traditional relay selection-based T-AFbORS only the source to relay and relay to destination link CSI considered and the relay with largest secrecy capacity of relay to destination is selected as the optimal relay.

The effect of applying the double threshold-based relay selection to improve the physical layer security is investigated in this chapter. Furthermore, the performance analysis of the proposed double-threshold based P-AFbORS and double-threshold based T-AFbORS based on the distance between the source and the relay nodes is studied.

#### 5.2. System Model

The system model consists of a single source (S), and destination (D), and multiple relay nodes  $R_1, R_2,..,R_N$ . Relays are located between S and D to assist the source transmission as shown in figure 5.1. Eavesdropper node (E) is located near the relays, and it receives the signal from the source due to the broadcasting nature in Phase-I. Input threshold is fixed at the relays, and the relay compare the received signal SNR with the threshold. If the received signal SNR is above the input threshold, then the relay will be in active mode, and if the condition is not satisfied, then the relay goes into the sleep mode. The threshold combined with the optimal relay selection is compared against the existing literature P-AFbORS and T-AFbORS scheme (Zou et al., 2013). The output threshold is fixed at the combiner output to test the combined signal quality. The proposed scheme adapt the optimal-relay selection scheme P-AFbORS proposed by (Zou et al., 2013) for the evaluation purposes. The intercept probability analysis of the

proposed double threshold scheme is compared with the existing P-AFbORS and T-AFbORS without threshold.

## **Secrecy Capacity**

The direct transmission is considered for comparison with the proposed scheme. The secrecy capacity of direct transmission is calculated based on the capacity of the source to destination and the capacity of source to the eavesdropper node.

The capacity of direct transmission from source to destination (Shamganth.K et al.,2020) is given as

$$C_{\rm sd}^{\rm direct} = \log_2\left(1 + \frac{|h_{sd}|^2}{\sigma_n^2}\right). \tag{5.1}$$

The capacity of wiretap link from source to eavesdropper (Zou et al., 2013) is given as

$$C_{\rm se}^{\rm direct} = \log_2 \left( 1 + \frac{|h_{se}|^2}{\sigma_n^2} P \right).$$
(5.2)

From equation (5.1) and (5.2) the secrecy capacity of direct transmission (Shamganth.K et al.,2020) is given as

$$C_{\rm sd}^{\rm direct} = C_{\rm sd}^{\rm direct} - C_{\rm se}^{\rm direct}.$$
(5.3)

The observation from equation (5.3) is that secrecy capacity will be negative if the capacity of main link is less than the wiretap link capacity. So, the eavesdropper can intercept the source signal. Thus, the probability that the eavesdropper successfully intercepts source signal is called intercept probability. It is an important parameter in the performance evaluation of physical-layer security.

## **AF based Optimal Relay Selection**

The P-AFbORS protocol is applied with double threshold based relay selection to select the optimal relay and to enhance the capacity of AF relaying ( $C_iAF$ ) based transmission from relay to destination node (Zou et al., 2013).

Optimal relay selection criteria with AF relaying is given as,

$$ORS = \arg\max i \in R_N \ C_i AF, \tag{5.4}$$

where,  $R_N$  denotes the set of 'N' relays.

Optimal relay selection criteria of P-AFbORS with main link and the wiretap link (Shamganth.K et al.,2020) is given as

$$ORS = \arg\max_{i \in R_N} \frac{1 + \frac{|h_{si}|^2 |h_{id}|^2 P}{2(|h_{si}|^2 + |h_{id}|^2)\sigma_n^2}}{1 + \frac{|h_{si}|^2 |h_{id}|^2 P}{2(|h_{si}|^2 + |h_{id}|^2)\sigma_n^2}},$$
(5.5)

where  $h_{si}$  and  $h_{id}$  denotes the main link CSI and  $h_{ie}$  is the wiretap link CSI.

## **DF** based Optimal Relay Selection

The capacity of DF relaying based transmission from source to destination using the relay node  $R_i$  (Shamganth.K et al.,2020) is given as

$$C_{\rm sid}^{\rm DF} = \min(C_{\rm si}, C_{\rm id}), \tag{5.5}$$

where  $C_{si}$  and  $C_{id}$  represent the channel capacity from source to relay  $R_i$  and that from  $R_i$  to destination.

The capacity of source to relay (Zou et al., 2013) is given as

$$C_{\rm si} = \log_2 \left( 1 + \frac{|h_{\rm si}|^2}{2\sigma_n^2} P \right).$$
 (5.6)

The capacity of relay to destination (Shamganth.K et al., 2020) is given as

$$C_{\rm id} = \log_2 \left( 1 + \frac{|h_{id}|^2}{2\sigma_n^2} P \right).$$
 (5.7)

The channel capacity from  $R_i$  to eavesdropper (Zou et al., 2013) is given as

$$C_{ie}^{DF} = \log_2\left(1 + \frac{|h_{ie}|^2}{2\sigma_n^2}P\right).$$
 (5.8)

The secrecy capacity of DF relaying based on equation (5.5) and (5.8) (Shamganth.K et al.,2020) is given as

 $C_{i}^{DF} = C_{sid}^{DF} - C_{ie}^{DF}$ , resulting in

$$C_{i}^{DF} = \log_{2} \left( 1 + \frac{\min(|h_{si}|^{2}, |h_{se}|^{2})}{2\sigma_{n}^{2}} P \right) - \log_{2} \left( 1 + \frac{(|h_{se}|^{2}P)}{2\sigma_{n}^{2}} \right).$$
(5.9)

The criteria for the selection of DF based optimal relay (Zou et al., 2013) is

$$ORS = \arg\max i \in R_N C_i^{\text{DF}}.$$
(5.10)

## **Intercept probability**

The closed-form intercept probability of direct transmission ((Zou et al., 2013) is given as

$$P_{\text{intercept}}^{\text{direct}} = \frac{\sigma_{se}^2}{\sigma_{se}^2 + \sigma_{sd}^2},$$
  
where  $\sigma_{se}^2 = E(|h_{se}|^2)$ , and  $\sigma_{sd}^2 = E(|h_{sd}|^2)$ .

The the main-to-eavesdropper ratio (MER) is the ratio of average channel gain from source to destination to that from source to eavesdropper and is the ratio between S-D and S-E given as

$$\lambda_{de} = \frac{\sigma_{sd}^2}{\sigma_{se}^2}.$$

The intercept probability of the DF based relaying (Zou et al., 2013) is given as

$$P_{\text{intercept}}^{\text{DFbORS}} = Pr(max_{i \in \mathbb{R}}C_i^{DF} < 0).$$
(5.13)

The intercept probability of the AF based relaying (Zou et al., 2013) is given as

$$P_{\text{intercept}}^{\text{AFbORS}} = Pr(max_{i \in \mathbb{R}}C_i^{AF} < 0).$$
(5.14)

which computes the number of paths amongst source to destination and the selection of optimal path to transfer the data.



Figure 5.1. System Model of Double Threshold scheme with eavesdropper

## 5.2.1 Simulation Results and Discussion

The simulation results of combining the proposed double threshold-based relay selection scheme with P-AFbORS and T-AFbORS scheme to enhance the physical layer security in cooperative D2D out-band communication is presented in this section. The performance analysis of the proposed scheme is categorized and based on the distance between the source, relay, eavesdropper, and destination node, as shown below:

*Case (i):* Equal power allocation is assigned to the source and the relays. The relays are assumed to be at the center of the source and destination nodes. Furthermore, the eavesdropping node is assumed to be located at the center.

$$d(S,R) = d(R,D).$$

*Case (ii):* The relay is assumed to be located at more distance from the source and the power ratios used in the simulation are  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ . Furthermore, the eavesdropping nodes are assumed to be away from the source node.

$$d(S,R) \gg d(R,D).$$

*Case (iii):* The relay is assumed to be located near to the source and the power ratios used in the simulation are  $P_s = 0.3P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.7P_t$ . Moreover, the eavesdropping node is assumed to be near to the source node.

$$d(S,R) \ll d(R,D).$$

The comparative analysis of the proposed scheme with the existing scheme are as follows:

Intercept probability analysis of AFbORS and DFbORS schemes and P-DFbORS and T-DFbORS schemes are compared based on the number of relays, modulation schemes and threshold.

The Double-Threshold based P-AFbORS and T-AFbORS schemes compared based on different relay scenarios, modulation schemes, different input and output thresholds and MER values.

#### a. Simulation Results and Discussion for Case (i)

Figure 5.1a depicts the comparative intercept probability performance of P-AFbORS, T-AFbORS and direct transmission. The case of equal power at the source and the relay node

with the input threshold of 5dB at the relay, output threshold of 10dB at the combiner for 5relay scenario using QPSK modulation scheme is studied. From the simulations it can be observed that the P-AFbORS scheme outperforms T-AFbORS scheme and direct transmission. Furthermore, the results show that P-AFbORS scheme enhances the physical layer security as the intercept probability is less as compared to the other scheme.



Figure 5.1a. Comparison of Intercept Probability performance for AFbORS schemes with Equal Power

Figure 5.2 presents the comparative intercept probability performance of P-DFbORS and T-DFbORS with direct transmission. This simulation result shows that P-DFbORS scheme outperforms the T-DFbORS and direct transmission. The result also shows that direct transmission performs worse than P-DFbORS and T-DFbORS schemes in terms of intercept probability.

Figure 5.3 shows the comparative BER performance of P-AFbORS without threshold when 5-relays are employed. From the results, it is observed that when employing P-AFbORS without threshold, the BER performance improves as the MER is increased. Moreover, from the simulation, it can be observed that the performance of P-AFbORS with MER=15dB outperforms all the previous schemes and is able to reach a BER value of  $10^{-3}$  at an SNR of 20dB.

In figure 5.4, the performance of P-AFbORS with the double-threshold scheme is shown with an input threshold of 5 dB and the output threshold of 10 dB for 5-relay scenario. The simulation results show that BER value of  $10^{-3}$  at an SNR of 13dB. Furthermore, the comparative results show 5dB difference at the BER of  $10^{-3}$  between MER=6dB and 3dB, respectively.



Figure 5.2. Comparison of Intercept Probability DFbORS schemes with Equal Power



Figure 5.3. Comparison of MER for P-AFbORS without Threshold with Equal Power



Figure 5.4. Comparison of MER for Double Threshold based P-AFbORS with Equal Power Figure 5.5 depicts the comparative BER performance of P-AFbORS without threshold for 5relay scenario. Moreover, the M-PSK scheme considered with M=4,8 and 16 in the simulation with an MER of -3dB and 15dB, respectively. From the results, it is observed that 16-PSK performs worse than 8-PSK and 4-PSK. The difference observed between 4-PSK and 8-PSK at the BER of  $10^{-3}$  is 5dB for the MER of 15dB. Furthermore, the results show that performance is worse for an MER of -3dB where the eavesdropper channel gain is more as compared to the main channel.



Figure 5.5. Comparison of P-AFbORS without Double Threshold for MER=-3dB and MER=15dB for different modulation schemes with Equal Power

## **Comparative Analysis based on different Relay Scenarios**

The comparative intercept probability performance of the different number of relays is presented in figure 5.6. It is observed that as the number of relays increases the intercept probability reduces which is an indication that, the improvement in the physical layer security is observed. Furthermore, in figure 5.6, it is noticed that P-AFbORS scheme with 15-relay outperforms T-AFbORS scheme and direct transmission. Moreover, the difference of 6dB is observed between 5-relay and 10-relay scenario for P-AFbORS scheme and 3dB difference is observed between 15-relay and 10-relay intercept probability performance of P-AFbORS. The results of T-AFbORS shows 3dB difference between 5-relay and 10-relay scenario and the same difference is observed between 10-relay and 15-relay scenarios.



Figure 5.6. Comparison of Intercept Probability for AFbORS with different relay scenarios with Equal Power and Th\_In=5 and Th\_Out=10

Figure 5.7 and figure 5.8 shows the comparative intercept probability performance of the different number of relays for P-DFbORS and T-DFbORS, respectively. From both the figures, it is observed that as the number of relays increases the intercept probability decreases. As expected, the 15-relay P-DFbORS scheme outperforms 10-relay and 5-relay P-DFbORS schemes. Moreover, it is evident from the results that physical layer security improvement is

obtained by increasing the number of cooperative relays. Furthermore, in figure 5.8, it is noticed that T-DFbORS scheme with 15-relay outperforms 10-relay, 5-relay T-DFbORS scheme and direct transmission. Moreover, the difference of 6dB is observed between 5-relay and 15-relay in T-DFbORS results.



Figure 5.7. Comparison of P-DFbORS performance of different relay scenarios with Equal Power and Th\_In=5 and Th\_Out=10



Figure 5.8. Comparison of T-DFbORS performance of different relay scenario with Equal Power and Th\_In=5 and Th\_Out=10

#### b. Simulation Results and Discussion for Case(ii)

Figure 5.9 depicts the comparative intercept probability performance of P-AFbORS and T-AFbORS with direct transmission for the case with relays located near to the destination with the power ratios  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ . The simulation performed for 5-relay scenario with the input threshold of 5dB and the combiner output threshold of 10dB with the QPSK modulation scheme. It is observed that P-AFbORS scheme outperforms T-AFbORS scheme.



Figure 5.9. Comparison of Intercept Probability performance for AFbORS schemes with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ 

Figure 5.10 presents the comparative intercept probability performance with the power ratios  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ . It is noticed that intercept probability performance of P-DFbORS scheme outperforms the T-DFbORS and direct transmission. Figure 5.11 presents the comparative performance analysis of P-AFbORS with the double threshold for different MER values. It is observed from the result that 15dB and 12dB MER shows similar BER performance. The simulation performed with the input threshold of 5dB and combiner output threshold of 10dB.



Figure 5.10. Comparison of Intercept Probability performance for DFbORS schemes with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  and Th\_In=5 and Th\_Out=10



Figure 5.11. Comparison of P-AFbORS with Double Threshold for  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ 

Figure 5.12 depicts the performance of AFbORS for 5-relay scenario with -3dB MER. Moreover, the performance of P-AFbORS with and without threshold is similar to that of direct path. However, the T-AFbORS with double threshold outperforms the other AFbORS scheme. It is noticed that T-AFbORS achieves the BER of  $10^{-3}$  at the SNR of 26dB.



Figure 5.12. BER Performance of AFbORS scheme with and without Double Threshold for MER=-3 dB with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ 

In figure 5.13, the performance of P-AFbORS with double threshold shows the considerable performance improvement as compared to results of -3dB MER in figure 5.12 for the 5-relay scenario with the input threshold of 5dB and the combiner output threshold of 10dB with QPSK modulation scheme. Increase in MER results in a similar performance between P-AFbORS and T-AFbORS, as shown in figure 5.14 for the 12dB MER simulation with the same input and output threshold considered for earlier simulations. In figure 5.15, similar performance is observed for T-AFbORS and P-AFbORS at  $10^{-3}$  BER. Moreover, the significant performance improvement noticed with the application of the proposed double-threshold with P-AFbORS and T- AFbORS as compared to without threshold P-AFbORS schemes.



Figure 5.13. BER Performance of AFbORS scheme with and without Double Threshold for MER=0 dB with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ 



Figure 5.14. BER Performance of AFbORS scheme with and without Double Threshold for MER=12 dB with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ 



Figure 5.15. BER Performance of AFbORS scheme with and without Double Threshold for MER=15 dB with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ 

**Comparative Analysis based on different Modulation Schemes for Case(ii)** The comparative performance of different modulation schemes with P-AFbORS, and T-AFbORS for different MER discussed in this section. The following simulation considers the 5dB input threshold at the relays and 10dB combiner output threshold for the 5-relay scenario. Figure 5.16 shows the comparative performance of T-AFbORS with double threshold for -3dB and 15dB MER. The T-AFbORS show a substantial performance improvement of 4-PSK as compared to 8-PSK and 16-PSK. It is noticed that 5dB difference for 15dB MER between 4-PSK,8-PSK and 16-PSK modulation schemes.



Figure 5.16. Comparison of T-AFbORS with Double Threshold for different constellation size with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ 

## Comparative Analysis based on the different Relay Scenarios for Case(ii)

Figure 5.17 depicts the intercept probability performance of AFbORS for different relay scenarios. It is observed that as the number of relays increases the intercept probability of P-AFbORS with double threshold significantly reduced as compared to other schemes. Moreover, the difference of 3dB is observed between 15-relay and 10-relay scenario for P-AFbORS scheme and 2dB difference is observed between 15-relay and 10-relay of T-AFbORS scheme.

In figure 5.18, the comparative intercept probability performance of P-DFbORS and T-DFbORS presented for the different number of relays. It is observed that P-DFbORS with 15-relay scenario outperforms all the other schemes considered in the analysis. Similarly, in figure 5.18, it is noticed that T-DFbORS scheme with 15-relay outperforms 10-relay and 5-relay T-DFbORS scheme.



Figure 5.17. Comparison of Intercept Probability-AFbORS performance of different relay scenarios with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ 



Figure 5.18. Comparison of Intercept Probability-DFbORS performance of different relay scenarios with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ 

Figure 5.19 shows the comparative BER performance of P-AFbORS with double threshold for 5-relay, 10-relay, and 15-relay scenarios. Moreover, the comparative analysis is based on -3dB and 15dB MER. From the results of 15dB MER similar performance is observed for15-relay,10-relay, and 5-relay scenarios. At high MER increase in the number of relays has very less effect as opposed to very low MER of -3dB where an appreciable difference is observed between the number of relays under consideration.



Figure 5.19. Comparison of P-AFbORS with Double Threshold performance for different number of relays with  $P_s = 0.7P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.3P_t$  for (MER=-3dB and 15dB)

#### c. Simulations Results and Discussion for Case(iii)

The simulation in this section considers the relays located near to the source node and the power ratios considered are  $P_s = 0.3P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.7P_t$ .

## **Comparative Analysis based on different Modulation Schemes for Case(iii)**

The P-AFbORS scheme with double threshold is compared for different M-PSK schemes for the MER under consideration is shown in figure 5.20. The results of P-AFbORS with double threshold for -3dB and 6dB MER is shown. From the results, 5dB difference is observed at the BER of  $10^{-3}$  between 4-PSK and 8-PSK at 6dB MER.

## **Comparative Analysis based on different Relay Scenarios for Case(iii)**

The comparative performance analysis of P-AFbORS based double threshold shown in figure 5.21 for 5-relay,10-relay, and 15-relay scenarios. The performance difference is less in P-AFbORS with double threshold for the same MER. Furthermore, this analysis the MER considers are 3dB, 6dB and 12dB. Moreover, the difference in the performance of 1dB is observed between 10-relay and 15-relay in all the MER considered.



Figure 5.20. Comparison of P-AFbORS with Double Threshold for different modulation scheme for MER=-3dB and 6dB with  $P_s = 0.3P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.7P_t$ 



Figure 5.21. BER performance comparison of P-AFbORS with Double Threshold for different number of relays

## 5.3. Conclusion

This chapter considered the security issues in cooperative wireless network. In this chapter the physical layer security enhancement using relay selection is mainly focused. The proposed model combines the double threshold based relay selection with optimal relay selection schemes such as P-AFbORS and T-AFbORS. The intercept probability analysis of proposed scheme shows significant improvement in the performance. The proposed double threshold based AFbORS shows better performance compared to the existing optimal relay selection scheme without threshold. The performance of the proposed scheme is analyzed based on the number of relays and modulation schemes with different MER value. Increasing the number of relays with high MER shows substantial performance improvement compared to lesser relay scenarios. Simulation results showed that significant improvement in the secrecy performance against the eavesdropping attack is achieved by increase in the number of cooperative relays.

# **Chapter 6**

# **Conclusions and Recommendations**

## 6.1 Conclusions

Threshold-based relay selection schemes is proposed in this research for cooperative wireless network. This thesis addresses the critical issues such as power consumption, increase in complexity based on number of relay nodes and physical layer security issues. We try to bridge the existing research gap in the above-mentioned areas. The power consumption at the relay nodes in the cooperative wireless network is high due to large number of relay nodes in the coverage area of the source node. Therefore, the power consumption and complexity which are related to the number of relays involved in the communication operation are an integrated phenomenon. Increase in the number of relay nodes results in cooperative wireless network results in increased power consumption and complexity of the system. This research contributes to address the power consumption issue at the relay node by threshold-based relay selection scheme. Threshold-based relay selection assist in the selection of best relays and reduce the channel estimation requirement based on the number of relay nodes involved in the communication.

Existing threshold-based schemes in the literature are discussed in chapter 2 which focus on the cooperative wireless network applying DF relaying strategy due to its slightly improved performance compared to AF relaying at the cost of increased complexity. Moreover, the existing threshold-based relay selection techniques that consider DF strategy for the coherent relaying require full CSI. The channel estimation requirement is high in coherent relaying due to its instantaneous CSI requirement, which is further reduced by our approach of applying differential modulation schemes. Differential modulation schemes help further reduce the requirement of instantaneous CSI, as a result it assists in reducing the channel estimation and complexity of the system. Threshold-based relay selection scheme with differential modulation proposed in this research selects the best relay nodes based on the threshold condition. Moreover, the cooperative network deals with both fast fading and slow fading scenarios. Furthermore, this scheme will be applicable to fast fading scenario, as full CSI will not be required at the relay and at the destination. This will make the proposed scheme more practical and easier to implement in real world.

Major research contributions of this thesis include:

- Threshold based single-relay selection with differential modulation is proposed in Chapter 3. The performance analysis of AF and DiffAF relaying with differential modulation is also studied in this chapter.
- This study also analyzed the performance of the proposed scheme in three different scenarios based on the distance between the source and the relay node. The power at the source and relay node is varied based on the distance. By adopting this approach, the simulation is closer to the practical scenario, and it shows the difference in performance for three different cases based on the distance.
- Double threshold relay selection scheme is proposed in Chapter 4 for Multi-relay selection addresses the problem of single threshold. The existing double-threshold scheme in the literature consider only coherent DF relaying. In this study double threshold scheme is investigated with coherent AF and differential modulation-based AF and DiffAF relaying scheme.

- Complexity analysis of double threshold-based relay selection is studied based on the average number of channel estimation and average number of relays selected.
- Analysis of the double-threshold based scheme raised new concerns, especially, the chances of combining multiple weaker relay-to-destination link degrades the e2e performance. This problem was overcome by the multi-threshold scheme proposed in this study, by introducing the combiner input threshold to select the best relayed paths.
- Physical layer security enhancement in the cooperative wireless network studied in Chapter 5. The approach followed in this study combines the existing optimal relay selection scheme with the proposed double threshold scheme as discussed in Chapter 4. The intercept probability analysis of the proposed double thresholdbased optimal relay selection shows substantial improvement compared to the existing optimal relay selection technique without threshold.

The major research findings of this thesis are as follows:

- In Chapter 3, the performance of the proposed single-relay selection scheme with unequal power allocation at the source and relay are analyzed and compared with the equal power allocation scheme. The results show that the unequal power allocation with AF and DiffAF based on the distance significantly improve the e2e performance as compared to the equal power allocation scheme.
- Comparative analysis of double threshold-based relay selection with AF and DiffAF relaying schemes shows the coherent AF outperform differential modulation-based AF and DiffAF relaying schemes.
- Comparative analysis of multi-threshold-based relay selection scheme with AF and DiffAF relaying schemes shows multi-threshold based coherent AF scheme outperforms differential AF and DiffAF relaying scheme.

- Comparison of double-threshold and multi-threshold based AF relaying using coherent modulation shows double-threshold AF outperforms multi-threshold AF.
- Comparison of double-threshold and multi-threshold based DiffAF relaying using differential modulation shows multi-threshold DiffAF outperforms double-threshold DiffAF.
- The intercept probability analysis of the proposed double threshold based optimal relay selection scheme is less and this shows the physical layer security enhancement of the proposed scheme compared to the existing optimal relay selection schemes.

## 6.2 Further Recommendations

The further recommendations of this research are as follows:

- Double threshold and multi-threshold relay selection schemes can be extended with the distance based adaptive threshold and power allocation for cooperative D2D network.
- Threshold based relay selection schemes and physical layer security enhancement proposed in this research can be extended to D2D out-band controlled mode and D2D in-band underlay modes.
- This research can be extended to the cooperative vehicular network use case with mobile source, relay and destination nodes using distance based adaptive double threshold and multi-threshold with physical layer security.
- This research considers the half-duplex mode of communication, and it can be extended to the full-duplex mode that suits for the cooperative cellular network.
- Performance gap exists between the coherent and differential modulation-based relay selection scheme, so the double threshold and multi-threshold relay selection

scheme with double differential modulation scheme can be considered to reduce this gap.

• Physical layer security enhancement based on multi-threshold optimal relay selection in the cooperative D2D network is also an area for further study.

# References

- A. K. Sadek, W. Su and K. J. R. Liu, "A class of cooperative communication protocols for multi-node wireless networks," IEEE 6th Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications, 2005., New York, NY, USA, 2005, pp. 560-564.
- Abdulhadi, S., Jaseemuddin, M., & Anpalagan, A. (2012). A survey of distributed relay selection schemes in cooperative wireless ad hoc networks. Wireless Personal Communications, 63(4), 917-935.
- Adinoyi, A., & Yanikomeroglu, H. (2007). Cooperative relaying in multi-antenna fixed relay networks. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 6(2), 533-544.
- Ahmed, Q. Z., Abuzaid, A., & Alouini, M. S. (2014). Joint preprocesser-based detector for cooperative networks with limited hardware processing capability. IEEE Signal Processing Letters, 22(2), 216-219.
- Ahmed, Q. Z., Abuzaid, A., & Alouini, M. S. (2014, September). Threshold-based detection for amplify-and-forward cooperative communication systems with channel estimation error. In 2014 IEEE 80th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC2014-Fall) (pp. 1-5). IEEE.
- Ahmed, Q. Z., Ahmed, S., Alouini, M. S., & Aïssa, S. (2014). Minimizing the symbol-errorrate for amplify-and-forward relaying systems using evolutionary algorithms. IEEE Transactions on Communications, 63(2), 390-400.
- Ahmed, Q. Z., Alouini, M. S., & Aissa, S. (2012, May). A minimum bit error-rate detector for amplify and forward relaying systems. In 2012 IEEE 75th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC Spring) (pp. 1-5). IEEE.
- Ahmed, Q. Z., Alouini, M. S., & Aissa, S. (2012, September). Low complexity detectors for cooperative wireless sensor networks. In 2012 IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC Fall) (pp. 1-5). IEEE.
- Ahmed, Q. Z., Pan, Y., Pan, C., Zhu, H., Chen, M., & Wang, J. (2017). On consideration of content preference and sharing willingness in D2D assisted offloading. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, 35(4), 978-993.
- Ahmed, Q. Z., Pan, Y., Pan, C., Zhu, H., Chen, M., & Wang, J. (2017, June). Content offloading via D2D communications with the impact of user preferences and selfishness. In 2017 IEEE 85th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC Spring) (pp. 1-5). IEEE.
- Ahmed, Q. Z., Pan, Y., Pan, C., Zhu, H., Chen, M., & Wang, J. (2017, May). Content offloading via D2D communications based on user interests and sharing willingness. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.
- Ahmed, Q. Z., Park, K. H., Alouini, M. S., & Aissa, S. (2013). Compression and combining based on channel shortening and reduced-rank techniques for cooperative wireless sensor networks. IEEE transactions on vehicular technology, 63(1), 72-81.

Ahmed, Q. Z., Park, K. H., Alouini, M. S., & Aïssa, S. (2013, June). Optimal linear detectors

for nonorthogonal amplify-and-forward protocol. In 2013 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC) (pp. 4829-4833). IEEE.

- Ahmed, Q. Z., Park, K. H., Alouini, M. S., & Aïssa, S. (2014). Linear transceiver design for nonorthogonal amplify-and-forward protocol using a bit error rate criterion. IEEE transactions on wireless communications, 13(4), 1844-1853.
- Ahmed, Q.Z., & Wang, J. (2017, May). Transmit antenna selection for massive MIMO: A knapsack problem formulation. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.
- Amarasuriya, G., Ardakani, M., & Tellambura, C. (2010). Output-threshold multiple-relayselection scheme for cooperative wireless networks. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, 59(6), 3091-3097.
- Ansari, R. I., Hassan, S. A., & Chrysostomou, C. (2016, September). Energy efficient relay selection in multi-hop D2D networks. In 2016 International Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing Conference (IWCMC) (pp. 620-625). IEEE.
- Asadi, A., Wang, Q., & Mancuso, V. (2014). A Survey on Device-to-Device Communcation in Cellular Networks. Communications Surveys Tutorials, IEEE, 16(4), 1801–1819. https://doi.org/10.1109/COMST.2014.2319555
- Atay Onat, F., Fan, Y., Yanikomeroglu, H., & Poor, H. (2010). Threshold-based relay selection for detect-and-forward relaying in cooperative wireless networks. EURASIP Journal on Wireless Communications and Networking, 2010, 1-9.
- Avendi, M. R., & Nguyen, H. H. (2013). Performance of differential amplify-and-forward relaying in multinode wireless communications. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, 62(8), 3603-3613.
- Avendi, M. R., & Nguyen, H. H. (2013). Selection combining for differential amplify-andforward relaying over Rayleigh-fading channels. IEEE Signal Processing Letters, 20(3), 277–280.
- Avendi, M. R., & Nguyen, H. H. (2013, April). Differential amplify-and-forward relaying in time-varying Rayleigh fading channels. In 2013 IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference (WCNC) (pp. 3867-3872). IEEE.
- Avendi, M. R., & Nguyen, H. H. (2014). Performance of selection combining for differential amplify-and-forward relaying over time-varying channels. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 13(8), 4156–4166.
- Aydın, E., & Illian, H. (2015, August). SNR-based relay selection scheme for cooperative relay networks. In 2015 International Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing Conference (IWCMC) (pp. 448-453). IEEE.
- Bai, Z., Jia, J., Wang, C. X., & Yuan, D. (2015). Performance analysis of SNR-based incremental hybrid decode-amplify-forward cooperative relaying protocol. IEEE Transactions on Communications, 63(6), 2094-2106.
- Ban, T. W., Jung, B. C., Sung, D. K., & Choi, W. (2007, September). Performance analysis of

two relay selection schemes for cooperative diversity. In 2007 IEEE 18th International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications (pp. 1-5). IEEE.

- Berezdivin, R., Breinig, R., & Topp, R. (2002). Next-generation wireless communications concepts and technologies. IEEE Communications Magazine, 40(3), 108-116.
- Bhatnagar, M. R., Hjørungnes, A., & Song, L. (2008). Amplify-and-forward cooperative communications using double-differential modulation over Nakagami-m channels. IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference, WCNC, 350–355.
- Bletsas, A. Khisti, D. P. Reed, and A. Lippman (2006), "A simple cooperative diversity method based on network path selection," IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun., vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 659–672, Mar.
- Bletsas, A., Khisti, A., & Win, M. Z. (2008). Opportunistic cooperative diversity with feedback and cheap radios. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 7(5), 1823-1827.
- Bletsas, A., Shin, H., & Win, M. Z. (2007). Cooperative communications with outage-optimal opportunistic relaying. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 6(9), 3450-3460.
- Bonder. V and Kanade. S. (2014). Review on techniques for total throughput maximization of two-way relay networks using at cooperative protocol, International Journal of Modern Engineering Research, 4(12), pp. 76-80.
- Brennan, D. G. (2003). Linear diversity combining techniques. Proceedings of the IEEE, 91(2), 331-356.
- Chen, X., Zhong, C., Yuen, C., & Chen, H. H. (2015). Multi-antenna relay aided wireless physical layer security. IEEE Communications Magazine, 53(12), 40-46.
- Chen, Y., Yu, G., Qiu, P., & Zhang, Z. (2006). Power-aware cooperative relay selection strategies in wireless ad hoc networks. In IEEE personal, indoor and mobile radio communications symposium (PIMRC). Helsinki, Finland.
- Chu, L., Yuan, J., Li, Y., & Chen, Z. (2008). Differential modulation and selective combining for multiple-relay networks. IEEE International Conference on Communications, June, 5004–5008.
- Cisco, & Jose, S. (2019). Cisco visual networking index (VNI) global mobile data traffic forecast update, 2017-2022 white paper. Ca, Usa, 3–5. http://www.gsma.com/spectrum/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/Cisco\_VNI-global-mobile-data-traffic-forecast-update.pdf
- Cover, T., & Gamal, A. E. (1979). Capacity theorems for the relay channel. IEEE Transactions on information theory, 25(5), 572-584.
- Dayanidhy, M., & Kumar, V. J. S. (2017). Performance investigation of multi-relay cooperative diversity networks R. Computers and Electrical Engineering, 60, 151–160.
- Duy, T. T., & Kong, H. (2012). Performance analysis of hybrid decode-amplify-forward incremental relaying cooperative diversity protocol using SNR-based relay selection.

Journal of Communications and Networks, 14(6), 703-709.

- Fang, Z., Li, L., Bao, X., & Wang, Z. (2009). Generalized differential modulation for amplifyand-forward wireless relay networks. IEEE transactions on vehicular technology, 58(6), 3058-3062.
- Fitzek, F. H., & Katz, M. D. (2006). Cooperation in wireless networks: principles and applications (pp. 421-461). New York: Springer.
- Gao, Y., Ge, J., & Han, C. (2011). Performance analysis of differential modulation and relay selection with detect-and-forward cooperative relaying. IEEE Communications Letters, 15(3), 323–325.
- Genc, V., Murphy, S., & Murphy, J. (2008, April). Performance analysis of transparent relays in 802.16 j MMR networks. In 2008 6th International Symposium on Modelling and Optimization in Mobile, Ad Hoc, and Wireless Networks and Workshops (pp. 273-281). IEEE.
- Genc, V., Murphy, S., Yu, Y., & Murphy, J. (2008). IEEE 802.16J relay-based wireless access networks: An overview. IEEE Wireless Communications, 15(5), 56-63.
- Gharanjik, A., & Mohamed-Pour, K. (2011). Switch-and-stay partial relay selection over Rayleigh fading channels. IET communications, 5(9), 1199-1203.
- Ghosh, A., Chattopadhyay, A., Arora, A., & Kumar, A. (2017). Measurement based as-you-go deployment of two-connected wireless relay networks. ACM Transactions on Sensor Networks (TOSN), 13(3), 23.
- Ghourab, E.M., Azab, M., Feteiha, M.F., & El-Sayed, H. (2018). A Novel Approach to Enhance the Physical Layer Channel Security of Wireless Cooperative Vehicular Communication Using Decode-and-Forward Best Relaying Selection. *Wirel. Commun. Mob. Comput.*, 2018, 9624856:1-9624856:15.
- Gradshteyn, I. S., Ryzhik, I. M. (2007). Table of integrals, series, and products. Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam. ISBN: 978-0-12-373637-6; 0-12-373637-4
- Hao, N., Taiyi, Z., & Li, S. (2010). Performance analysis of a threshold-based relay selection algorithm in wireless networks. Communications and Network, 2010.
- Hasna, M. O., & Alouini, M. S. (2004). A performance study of dual-hop transmissions with fixed gain relays. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 3(6), 1963–1968.
- Hassibi, B., & Hochwald, B. M. (2002). High-rate codes that are linear in space and time. IEEE Transactions on Information theory, 48(7), 1804-1824.
- He, Xin & Li, Frank. (2011). Optimization of the Relay Selection Scheme in Cooperative Retransmission Networks. IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference. 1-5. 10.1109/VETECS.2011.5956485.
- Herath, P., Gunawardana, U., & Liyanapathirana, R. (2012, January). Distributed switch-andexamine combining with threshold-based relaying. In 2012 Australian Communications Theory Workshop (AusCTW) (pp. 13-18). IEEE.

- Herhold, P., Zimmermann, E., & Fettweis, G. (2004, February). A simple cooperative extension to wireless relaying. In International Zurich Seminar on Communications, 2004 (pp. 36-39). IEEE.
- Himsoon, T., Siriwongpairat, W. P., Su, W., & Liu, K. R. (2007). Differential modulation with threshold-based decision combining for cooperative communications. IEEE transactions on signal processing, 55(7), 3905-3923.
- Himsoon, T., Siriwongpairat, W. P., Su, W., & Liu, K. R. (2008). Differential modulations for multinode cooperative communications. IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, 56(7), 2941-2956.
- Himsoon, T., Su, W., & Liu, K. J. R. (2005). Differential transmission for amplify-and-forward cooperative communications. IEEE Signal Processing Letters, 12(9), 597–600.
- Himsoon, T., Su, W., & Liu, K. J. R. (2006). Differential modulation for multi-node amplifyand-forward wireless relay networks. IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference, WCNC, 2(c), 1195–1200.
- Ho, K. C., & Chan, Y. T. (1993). Solution and performance analysis of geolocation by TDOA. IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems, 29(4), 1311-1322.
- Hong, Y.-W. P., Huang, W.-J., & Kuo, C.-C. J. (2010). Cooperative communications and networking: Technologies and system design. New York: Springer.
- Hwang, K. S., & Ju, M. (2012, October). Adaptive relay selection based on incremental relaying with output threshold. In 2012 International Conference on ICT Convergence (ICTC) (pp. 39-43). IEEE.
- Hwang, K. S., & Ko, Y. C. (2007, August). Switch-and-examine node selection for efficient relaying systems. In Proceedings of the 2007 international conference on Wireless communications and mobile computing (pp. 469-474).
- Hwang, K. S., & Ko, Y. C. (2007, September). An efficient relay selection algorithm for cooperative networks. In Vehicular Technology Conference, 2007. VTC-2007 Fall. 2007 IEEE 66th (pp. 81-85). IEEE.
- Ibrahim, A. S., Sadek, A. K., Su, W., & Liu, K. J. R. (2008). Cooperative communications with relay-selection: When to cooperate and whom to cooperate with? IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 7(7), 2814-2827.
- J. N. Laneman, D. N. C. Tse, and G. W. Wornell (2004), "Cooperative diversity in wireless networks: Efficient protocols and outage behavior," IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 3062–3080, Dec.
- Jing, Y., & Hassibi, B. (2006). Distributed space-time coding in wireless relay networks. IEEE Transactions on Wireless communications, 5(12), 3524-3536.
- Kara, F., & Kaya, H. (2019). Threshold-based selective cooperative-NOMA. IEEE Communications Letters, 23(7), 1263-1266.
- Kara, F., & Kaya, H. (2020). Threshold-based Selective Cooperative NOMA: Capacity/Outage

Analysis and A Joint Power Allocation-Threshold Selection Optimization. IEEE Communications Letters, 24(9), 1929-1933.

- Kim, C., Heo, S., Bae, Y., & Lee, J. (2011, August). Relay selection for amplify-and-forward systems with differential and double-differential modulation. In 2011 IEEE 54th International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS) (pp. 1-4). IEEE.
- Kim, H. S., Seo, W., Kim, H., Bae, S., You, C., & Hong, D. (2007, September). Performance analysis of wireless dual-hop systems with multirelay and multiuser. In 2007 IEEE 18th International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications (pp. 1-5). IEEE.
- Krikidis, I., Thompson, J., McLaughlin, S., & Goertz, N. (2008). Amplify-and-forward with partial relay selection. IEEE Communications letters, 12(4), 235-237.
- Kun Xie, Jian-Nong Cao, Ji-Gang Wen (2013) "Optimal Relay Assignment and Power Allocation for Cooperative Communications," Journal of Computer Science and Technology, Vol.28, Issue 2, pp.343-356.
- Laneman, J. N., & Wornell, G. W. (2003). Distributed space-time-coded protocols for exploiting cooperative diversity in wireless networks. IEEE Transactions on Information theory, 49(10), 2415-2425.
- Li, P., & Guo, S. (2014). Cooperative Device-to-Device Communication in Cognitive Radio Cellular Networks.
- Li, Q., Yang, Y., Ma, W. K., Lin, M., Ge, J., & Lin, J. (2015). Robust cooperative beamforming and artificial noise design for physical-layer secrecy in AF multi-antenna multi-relay networks. IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, 63(1), 206-220.
- Li, X., Ng, F., & Han, T. (2008). Carrier frequency offset mitigation in asynchronous cooperative OFDM transmissions. IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, 56(2), 675-685.
- Lioumpas, A., Karagiannidis, G., & Tsiftsis, T. (2008). Adaptive generalized selection combining (A-GSC) receivers. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 7(12), 5214–5219.
- Liu, G., Huang, L., & Xu, H. (2011, July). Cooperative relay assignment in wireless networks. In 2011 International conference on multimedia technology (pp. 3012-3016). IEEE.
- Liu, K. H. (2010, May). Double threshold digital relaying for cooperative wireless networks. In 2010 IEEE 71st Vehicular Technology Conference (pp. 1-5). IEEE.
- Liu, K. H. (2016). Performance analysis of relay selection for cooperative relays based on wireless power transfer with finite energy storage. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, 65(7), 5110-5121.
- Liu, K. J. R. (2009). Cooperative Communications and Networking. Cambridge University Press.
- Liu, K., Sadek, A., Su, W., & Kwasinski, A. (2008). Cooperative communications with single

relay. In Cooperative Communications and Networking (pp. 152-193). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Liu, K., Sadek, A., Su, W., & Kwasinski, A. (2008). Differential modulation for cooperative communications. In Cooperative Communications and Networking (pp. 306-373). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Liu, K., Sadek, A., Su, W., & Kwasinski, A. (2008). Multi-node cooperative communications. In Cooperative Communications and Networking (pp. 194-237). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Liu, T., Song, L., Jiao, B., & Zhao, Y. (2010, April). A threshold-based hybrid relay selection scheme. In 2010 IEEE Wireless Communication and Networking Conference Workshops (pp. 1-5). IEEE.
- Ma, X., Yin, R., Yu, G., & Zhang, Z. (2012). A distributed relay selection method for relay assisted Device-to-Device communication system. IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications, PIMRC, JANUARY, 1020–1024.
- Madan, R., Mehta, N. B., Molisch, A. F., & Zhang, J. (2008). Energy-efficient cooperative relaying over fading channels with simple relay selection. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 7(8), 3013-3025.
- Mahinthan, V., Cai, L., Mark, J. W., & Shen, X. (2007). Maximizing cooperative diversity energy gain for wireless networks. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 6(7), 2530-2539.
- Marzetta, T. L., & Hochwald, B. M. (1999). Capacity of a mobile multiple-antenna communication link in Rayleigh flat fading. IEEE transactions on Information Theory, 45(1), 139-157.
- Miao, M. M., Sun, J., & Shao, S. X. (2014). A cross-layer relay selection algorithm for D2D communication system. Proceedings - 2014 International Conference on Wireless Communication and Sensor Network, WCSN 2014, 448–453.
- Mohamed, A., Abd-Elnaby, M., & El-dolil, S. A. (2014). Performance Evaluation of Adaptive LDPC Coded Modulation Cooperative Wireless Communication System with Best-Relay Selection. International Journal of Digital Information and Wireless Communications (IJDIWC), 4(1), 155-168.
- Nagarajan, V., & Balasaraswathi, M. (2017). Threshold-based selection combining for relay networks. Computers and Electrical Engineering, 60, 129-139.
- Nam, S. S., Choi, S., Hwang, D., & Ko, Y. C. (2018). SER Analysis of Adaptive Threshold-Based Relay Selection With Limited Feedback for Type II Relay. IEEE Access, 7, 2148-2160.
- Nguyen, D. N., & Krunz, M. (2013). Cooperative MIMO in wireless networks: Recent developments and challenges. IEEE Network, 27(4), 48–54. https://doi.org/10.1109/MNET.2013.6574665

Nguyen, H. H., & Shwedyk, E. (2009). A first course in digital communications. Cambridge

University Press.

- Nosratinia, A., Hunter, T. E., & Hedayat, A. (2004). Cooperative communication in wireless networks. IEEE communications Magazine, 42(10), 74-80.
- Onat, F. A., Adinoyi, A., Fan, Y., Yanikomeroglu, H., & Thompson, J. S. (2007, March). Optimum threshold for SNR-based selective digital relaying schemes in cooperative wireless networks. In 2007 IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference (pp. 969-974). IEEE.
- Onat, F. A., Adinoyi, A., Fan, Y., Yanikomeroglu, H., Thompson, J. S., & Marsland, I. D. (2008). Threshold selection for SNR-based selective digital relaying in cooperative wireless networks. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 7(11), 4226-4237.
- Panigrahi, B., Ramamohan, R., Rath, H. K., & Simha, A. (2016). Dynamic relay selection and channel adaptive uplink for LTE Device-to-Device (D2D) communication. IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications, PIMRC.
- Panwar, N., Sharma, S., & Singh, A. K. (2016). A survey on 5G: The next generation of mobile communication. Physical Communication, 18, 64–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phycom.2015.10.006
- Papoulis, A., & Pillai, U. (2001). Probability, random variables and stochastic processes. (4th ed.) McGraw-Hill.
- Park, S. C., Kim, D. I., & Nam, S. S. (2011). Adaptive Threshold Based Relay Selection for Minimum Feedback and Channel Usage. 10(11), 3620–3625.
- Ponnaluri, S. P., & Wilson, S. G. (2007, August). On diversity of cooperative relaying protocols. In 2007 Second International Conference on Communications and Networking in China (pp. 123-127). IEEE.
- Proakis, J. G., & Salehi, M. (2008). Digital communications. Boston: McGraw-Hill.
- Qian, M., Liu, C., & Zou, Y. (2016). Cooperative beamforming for physical-layer security in power-constrained wireless sensor networks with partial relay selection. International Journal of Distributed Sensor Networks, 12(3), 9740750.
- Qiang Zhao, & Hongbin Li. (2005). Performance of differential modulation with wireless relays in Rayleigh fading channels. IEEE Communications Letters, 9(4), 343–345.
- Rege. Y and Abdullah. M. (2016). A survey on relay selection techniques in cooperative communication. Journals for International Shodh in Engineering and Technology,1(7), pp. 1-7.
- Roessler, J. S., & White, P. LTE-Advanced (3GPP Rel. 12) Technology Introduction White Paper.
- Sadek, A. K., Han, Z., & Liu, K. R. (2009). Distributed relay-assignment protocols for coverage expansion in cooperative wireless networks. IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing, 9(4), 505-515.
- Salhab, A. M., & Zummo, S. A. (2013). A low-complexity relay selection scheme based on switch-and-examine diversity combining for AF relay systems. IET Communications, 7(9), 848-859.
- Sendonaris, A., Erkip, E., & Aazhang, B. (2003). User cooperation diversity. Part I. System description. IEEE transactions on communications, 51(11), 1927-1938.
- Sendonaris, A., Erkip, E., & Aazhang, B. (2003). User cooperation diversity. Part II. Implementation aspects and performance analysis. IEEE Transactions on communications, 51(11), 1939-1948.
- Shamganth, K., & Sibley, M. J., SamiGhnimi (2014). A Novel Multi-hop Threshold based Relay Selection Scheme. International Journal of Advanced Research in Computer Science and Software Engineering, 4(4).
- Shamganth, K., & Sibley, M. J. (2017, August). A survey on relay selection in cooperative device-to-device (D2D) communication for 5G cellular networks. In 2017 International Conference on Energy, Communication, Data Analytics and Soft Computing (ICECDS) (pp. 42-46). IEEE.
- Shamganth, K., & Sibley, M. J. (2018). Complexity analysis of double-threshold based relay selection in D2D cooperative network. J. Wirel. Netw. Commun, 8(1), 1-6.
- Shamganth, K., & Sibley, M. J. (2020). Relay Selection-Based Physical-Layer Security Enhancement in Cooperative Wireless Network. In Data Communication and Networks (pp. 305-320). Springer, Singapore.
- Shamganth, K., Al-Ghnimi, S., & Sibley, M. J. (2016). Performance Analysis of Threshold Based Relay Selection Technique in Cooperative Wireless Networks. International Journal of Electronics and Communication Engineering & Technology, 7(1).
- Shamganth, K., and M. P. Reena. (2011) Performance analysis of CFO mitigation algorithms in Asynchronous Cooperative OFDM Communication system. *International Conference* on Sustainable Energy and Intelligent Systems (SEISCON 2011), Chennai, 2011, pp. 632-637.
- Shim, K., Do, N. T., & An, B. (2017). Performance Analysis of Physical Layer Security of Opportunistic Scheduling in Multiuser Multirelay Cooperative Networks. Sensors, 17(2), 377.
- Simon, M. K., & Alouini, M. S. (1998). A unified approach to the probability of error for noncoherent and differentially coherent modulations over generalized fading channels. IEEE Transactions on Communications, 46(12), 1625-1638.
- Su, W., Sadek, A. K., & Ray Liu, K. J. (2008). Cooperative communication protocols in wireless networks: Performance analysis and optimum power allocation. Wireless Personal Communications, 44(2), 181–217.
- Sun, L., Zhang, T., Lu, L., & Niu, H. (2009). Cooperative communications with relay selection in wireless sensor networks. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 55, 513– 517.

- Tajer, A., & Nosratinia, A. (2007). Opportunistic cooperation via relay selection with minimal information exchange. In IEEE international symposium on information theory (ISIT). Nice, France.
- Tannious, R., & Nosratinia, A. (2008). Spectrally-efficient relay selection with limited feedback. IEEE Transactions on Selected Areas of Communications, 26, 1419–1428.
- Tarasak, P., Minn, H., & Bhargava, V. K. (2005). Differential modulation for two-user cooperative diversity systems. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, 23(9), 1891–1899.
- Telatar, E. (1999). Capacity of multi-antenna Gaussian channels. European transactions on telecommunications, 10(6), 585-595.
- Van Der Meulen, E. C. (1971). Three-terminal communication channels. Advances in applied Probability, 120-154.
- W. Pam Siriwongpairat, T. Himsoon (2006), W. Su, K. J. Ray Liu, "Optimum Threshold-Selection Relaying for Decode-and-Forward Cooperation Protocol," in Proc. IEEE Wireless Networking and Communication Conference, WCNC.
- Wang, C.-L., & Syue, S.-J. (2009). An efficient relay selection protocol for cooperative wireless sensor networks. In IEEE wireless communications and networking conference (WCNC) (pp. 1–5). Dresden, Germany.
- Wang, J., Tang, Q., Yang, C., Schober, R., & Li, J. (2016). Security Enhancement via Deviceto-Device Communication in Cellular Networks. IEEE Signal Processing Letters, 23(11), 1622–1626.
- Wang, R., Luo, X., & Lin, J. (2011, September). Cooperative relay selection scheme based on geographical information. In 2011 IEEE International Conference on Cloud Computing and Intelligence Systems (pp. 387-390). IEEE.
- Wang, T., Wang, R., & Giannakis, G. B. (2006). Smart regenerative relays for link-adaptive cooperative communications. 2006 IEEE Conference on Information Sciences and Systems, CISS 2006 - Proceedings, 1038–1043.
- Wu, Y., Khisti, A., Xiao, C., Caire, G., Wong, K. K., & Gao, X. (2018). A survey of physical layer security techniques for 5G wireless networks and challenges ahead. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, 36(4), 679-695.
- Xie, N., Liu, Z., Wang, R., Wang, H., & Lin, X. (2014). Generalized selection combining with double threshold and performance analysis. Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing, 14(1), 56-63.
- Yang, H. C., & Alouini, M. S. (2003). Performance analysis of multibranch switched diversity systems. IEEE Transactions on Communications, 51(5), 782-794.
- Yang, H. C., & Alouini, M. S. (2005). MRC and GSC diversity combining with an output threshold. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, 54(3), 1081–1090.
- Yang, H. C., & Alouini, M. S. (2006). Improving the performance of switched diversity with

post-examining selection. IEEE Transactions on wireless communications, 5(1), 67-71.

- Yi, Z., & Kim, I. M. (2008). Diversity order analysis of the decode-and-forward cooperative networks with relay selection. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 7(5), 1792-1799.
- Zhang, D., Chen, Z., Zhou, H., Chen, L., & Shen, X. S. (2016). Energy-balanced cooperative transmission based on relay selection and power control in energy harvesting wireless sensor network. Computer Networks, 104, 189-197.
- Zhang, G., Wang, R., Zhao, L., Wu, S., Chen, L., Dai, B., & Yang, K. (2015). Joint relay selection and resource allocation for D2D-enabled cellular communications. Proceedings 15th IEEE International Conference on Computer and Information Technology, CIT 2015, 14th IEEE International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing and Communications, IUCC 2015, 13th IEEE International Conference on Dependable, Autonomic and Se, 1186–1192.
- Zhang, X., Hasna, M., & Ghrayeb, A. (2011). Performance analysis of relay assignment schemes for cooperative networks with multiple source-destination pairs. IEEE transactions on wireless communications, 11(1), 166-177.
- Zhao, Q., & Li, H. (2007). Differential modulation for cooperative wireless systems. IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, 55(5), 2273-2283.
- Zhao, Y., Adve, R., & Lim, T. J. (2006, July). Improving amplify-and-forward relay networks: optimal power allocation versus selection. In 2006 ieee international symposium on information theory (pp. 1234-1238). IEEE.
- Zhu, Y., Kam, P. Y., & Xin, Y. (2010). Differential modulation for decode-and-forward multiple relay systems. IEEE Transactions on Communications, 58(1), 189–199.
- Zorzi, M. (2013). Resource-Efficient Relay Selection in Cooperative Wireless Networks.
- Zou, Y., & Zhu, J. (2016). Physical-layer security for cooperative relay networks. Springer International Publishing.
- Zou, Y., Wang, X., & Shen, W. (2013). Intercept probability analysis of cooperative wireless networks with best relay selection in the presence of eavesdropping attack. Paper presented at the 2183-2187. doi:10.1109/ICC.2013.6654851
- Zou, Y., Wang, X., & Shen, W. (2013). Optimal relay selection for physical-layer security in cooperative wireless networks. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, 31(10), 2099–2111.

## Appendices

- A. Additional results on the Comparative Analysis of the proposed double threshold and Multi-threshold-based relay selection schemes
- **B.** Springer Nature License agreement for the paper titled "Relay Selection-Based Physical-Layer Security Enhancement in Cooperative Wireless Network"
- **C.** Copyright Clearance from IEEE for the paper titled "A survey on Relay selection in Cooperative D2D in 5G Cellular Networks"
- **D. Copyright Clearance from IAEME Publication for the paper titled** "Performance Analysis of Threshold based relay selection technique in cooperative wireless networks"
- **E.** Permission to reuse clearance mail from Scientific & Academic Publishing for the paper titled "Complexity analysis of double-threshold based relay selection in cooperative D2D network"

## **Appendix-A**

#### Additional Results on the Comparative Analysis of DiffAF and AF based Double Threshold Relay Selection Scheme

The results shown in figure A1 provides a comparison between DiffAF and AF based double threshold scheme with equal power allocation. Similar performance observed up to an SNR of 19dB for both DiffAF and AF relaying. Furthermore, this comparison considers 5-relay and 20-relay scenario with an input threshold set as 10dB and the output threshold of 5dB. The DiffAF shows performance improvement at high SNR compared to AF relaying with equal power allocation for the relay and the source. The difference of 1dB is notice between DiffAF and AF for 5-relay scenario with the DQPSK modulation scheme. Moreover, a difference in BER of 0.03553 noticed at an SNR of 26dB between DiffAF and AF for 20-relay scenario. DiffAF scheme shows improved performance compared to AF in this case.



Figure A1. Comparative Multi-relay Double-Threshold with DQPSK with Equal Power and Th\_In=10 and Th\_Out=5 (AF Vs DiffAF)



Figure A2. Comparison of AF vs DiffAF for Multi-relay Double-Threshold with DQPSK with  $P_s = 0.3P_t$  and  $P_r = 0.7P_t$  and Th\_In=10 and Th\_Out=5

Figure A2 shows the comparative analysis of double threshold with DiffAF and AF relaying for case (iii) with relays near to the source. The difference of 1dB observed between 20-relay and 5-relay scenario for DiffAF and AF relaying. Furthermore, in the comparative results, it is noticed that AF relaying with the double threshold outperform DiffAF relaying in this case.

### Additional Results on the Comparative Analysis of DiffAF and AF based Multi-Threshold Relay Selection Scheme

Comparative analysis of multi-threshold AF and DiffAF relaying schemes based on the number of relays shown in figure A3 for case(i). In this simulation input threshold of 20dB and combiner input threshold of 9dB and combiner output threshold of 25dB is considered. Multithreshold 3-relay AF outperforms 3-relay DiffAF with a difference of 1dB, and 7-relay scenario shows similar performance as that of direct transmission. Threshold comparative analysis of AF and DiffAF, shown in figure A4. Furthermore, similar performance observed between AF and DiffAF for the threshold considered in the simulation.



Figure A3. Comparative Analysis of Multi-Threshold AF Vs DiffAF Relay Comparison with for Case(i)



Figure A4. Comparative Analysis of Multi-Threshold AF Vs DiffAF Threshold Comparison with N=5 for Case(i)

Figure A5 depicts the comparative analysis for the case(ii) with power ratios shown, and the input threshold consider in the simulation is 5dB and combiner input and output threshold are 7dB and 15dB. Multi-threshold AF shows minor performance improvement compared to DiffAF in this case.



Figure A5. Comparative Analysis of Multi-Threshold AF Vs DiffAF for  $P_s = 0.8P_t$ ,  $P_r = 0.2P_t$ 



Figure A6. Comparative Analysis of Multi-Threshold AF Vs DiffAF Threshold Comparison with N=5 for Case(iii)

Figure A6 presents the comparative threshold analysis of AF and DiffAF for the 5-relay scenario. For the analysis, two threshold sets considered, and the results show DiffAF outperform AF in case(iii). Furthermore, for the high input and combiner input threshold values considered degradation in the performance observed.

The relay comparison of AF and DiffAF for case(iii) shown in figure A7. The comparative analysis consider 10-relay scenario, and results show that 10-relay AF outperform 10-relay DiffAF with a difference of 1dB for the BER of  $10^{-3}$ .



Figure A7. Comparative Analysis of Multi-Threshold AF Vs DiffAF Relay Comparison with In=20, Combiner In=9 and Out=25 for Case(iii)

## **Comparative Analysis of Double-Threshold and Multi-Threshold based AF** relaying schemes using Coherent Modulation

Figure A8 presents the relay comparison of Multi-threshold and Double threshold coherent AF schemes for 5-relay scenario. This comparison does not consider the same threshold values since the inclusion of additional threshold at the combiner input in the multi-threshold scheme. This comparison consider the case(ii) with relays located at a distance from the source and the power ratios of the source and relay are  $P_s = 0.7P_t$ ,  $P_r = 0.3P_t$ . In the result, 5-relay double threshold shows a minor performance improvement compared to the multi-threshold AF scheme.



Figure A8. Comparative Analysis of Multi-Threshold Vs Double-Threshold Coherent AF with Double Threshold (In=3, Out=5)-Multi-Threshold (In=5, Combiner In=3 and Out=5) for Case(ii)

### Comparative Analysis of Double-Threshold and Multi-Threshold based DiffAF relaying using Differential Modulation

Comparison of double threshold and multi-threshold DiffAF scheme shown in figure A9 for the 20-relay scenario. As opposed to the comparative results shown in figure A8 for AF, the results in figure A9 show substantial performance improvement for multi-threshold DiffAF compared to the double-threshold scheme. Moreover, above 8dB SNR both schemes show similar performance.



Figure A9. Comparative Analysis of Multi-Threshold Vs Double-Threhsold DiffAF with Double Threshold (In=3, Out=5)-Multi Threshold (In=5, Combiner In=3 and Out=5) for Case(ii)

## **Comparative Analysis of Double-Threshold and Multi-Threshold based AF** relaying schemes using Differential Modulation

Comparative analysis of double threshold and multi-threshold AF using DQPSK shown in figure A10 for case(ii). Moreover, the results significant performance improvement for the double threshold AF scheme compared to the multi-threshold alternative. The comparison considers 20-relay scenario. Furthermore, similar performance observed above 17dB.



Figure A10. Comparative Analysis of Multi-Threshold Vs Double-Threhsold AF with Double Threshold (In=3, Out=5)-Multi Threshold (In=5, Combiner In=3 and Out=5) for Case(ii)

# **Appendix-B**

#### SPRINGER NATURE LICENSE

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jul 27, 2020

This Agreement between Mr. Shamganth Kumarapandian ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4876980557866
License date	Jul 27, 2020
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Springer eBook
Licensed Content Title	Relay Selection-Based Physical-Layer Security Enhancement in Cooperative Wireless Network
Licensed Content Author	Shamganth Kumarapandian, Martin James Sibley
Licensed Content Date	Jan 1, 2020
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	electronic

Portion	full article/chapter
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution Author of this Springer Nature content	1000 - 1999 yes
Title	Threshold-based relay selection for Cooperative wireless network
Institution name	University of Huddersfield
Expected presentation date	Jan 2021
Order reference number	Free
	Mr. Shamganth Kumarapandian Ibra
Requestor Location	Ibra, 400 Oman Attn: Mr. Shamganth Kumarapandian
Total Terms and Conditions	0.00 USD

#### Springer Nature Customer Service Center GmbH Terms and Conditions

This agreement sets out the terms and conditions of the licence (the **Licence**) between you and **Springer Nature Customer Service Center GmbH** (the **Licensor**). By clicking 'accept' and completing the transaction for the material (**Licensed Material**), you also confirm your acceptance of these terms and conditions.

## Grant of License

**1.1.** The Licensor grants you a personal, non-exclusive, non-transferable, world-wide licence to reproduce the Licensed Material for the purpose specified in your order only. Licences are

granted for the specific use requested in the order and for no other use, subject to the conditions below.

**1. 2.** The Licensor warrants that it has, to the best of its knowledge, the rights to license reuse of the Licensed Material. However, you should ensure that the material you are requesting is original to the Licensor and does not carry the copyright of another entity (as credited in the published version).

**1.3.** If the credit line on any part of the material you have requested indicates that it was reprinted or adapted with permission from another source, then you should also seek permission from that source to reuse the material.

## Scope of Licence

**2.1.** You may only use the Licensed Content in the manner and to the extent permitted by these Ts&Cs and any applicable laws.

**2. 2.** A separate licence may be required for any additional use of the Licensed Material, e.g. where a licence has been purchased for print only use, separate permission must be obtained for electronic re-use. Similarly, a licence is only valid in the language selected and does not apply for editions in other languages unless additional translation rights have been granted separately in the licence. Any content owned by third parties are expressly excluded from the licence.

**2. 3.** Similarly, rights for additional components such as custom editions and derivatives require additional permission and may be subject to an additional fee.

Please apply to

<u>Journalpermissions@springernature.com/bookpermissions@springernature.com</u> for these rights.

**2. 4.** Where permission has been granted **free of charge** for material in print, permission may also be granted for any electronic version of that work, provided that the material is incidental to your work as a whole and that the electronic version is essentially equivalent to, or substitutes for, the print version.

**2. 5.** An alternative scope of licence may apply to signatories of the <u>STM Permissions</u> <u>Guidelines</u>, as amended from time to time.

## Duration of Licence

**3. 1.** A licence for is valid from the date of purchase ('Licence Date') at the end of the relevant period in the below table:

	Duration of Licence
Post on a website	12 months
Presentations	12 months
Scope of Licence	-

#### Books and journals Lifetime of the edition in the language purchased

## Acknowledgement

**4. 1.** The Licensor's permission must be acknowledged next to the Licenced Material in print. In electronic form, this acknowledgement must be visible at the same time as the figures/tables/illustrations or abstract, and must be hyperlinked to the journal/book's homepage. Our required acknowledgement format is in the Appendix below.

## Restrictions on use

**5. 1.** Use of the Licensed Material may be permitted for incidental promotional use and minor editing privileges e.g. minor adaptations of single figures, changes of format, colour and/or style where the adaptation is credited as set out in Appendix 1 below. Any other changes including but not limited to, cropping, adapting, omitting material that affect the meaning, intention or moral rights of the author are strictly prohibited.

5. 2. You must not use any Licensed Material as part of any design or trademark.

**5. 3.** Licensed Material may be used in Open Access Publications (OAP) before publication by Springer Nature, but any Licensed Material must be removed from OAP sites prior to final publication.

## **Ownership of Rights**

**6. 1.** Licensed Material remains the property of either Licensor or the relevant third party and any rights not explicitly granted herein are expressly reserved.

## Warranty

IN NO EVENT SHALL LICENSOR BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL OR INDIRECT DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND

WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF

SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.

## Limitations

**8. 1.** <u>BOOKS ONLY:</u> Where 'reuse in a dissertation/thesis' has been selected the following terms apply: Print rights of the final author's accepted manuscript (for clarity, NOT the published version) for up to 100 copies, electronic rights for use only on a personal website or institutional repository as defined by the Sherpa guideline (www.sherpa.ac.uk/romeo/).

## Termination and Cancellation

9. 1. Licences will expire after the period shown in Clause 3 (above).

**9. 2.** Licensee reserves the right to terminate the Licence in the event that payment is not received in full or if there has been a breach of this agreement by you.

#### Appendix 1 — Acknowledgements:

#### For Journal Content:

Reprinted by permission from [the Licensor]: [Journal Publisher (e.g.

Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

#### For Advance Online Publication papers:

Reprinted by permission from [the Licensor]: [Journal Publisher (e.g.

Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication), advance online publication, day month year (doi: 10.1038/sj.[JOURNAL ACRONYM].)

**For Adaptations/Translations:** Adapted/Translated by permission from [**the Licensor**]: [**Journal Publisher** (e.g.

# Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE

### CITATION

(Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

# <u>Note: For any republication from the British Journal of Cancer, the following credit line</u> <u>style applies:</u>

Reprinted/adapted/translated by permission from [the Licensor]: on behalf of Cancer

Research UK: : [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL

NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

For Advance Online Publication papers:

Reprinted by permission from The [the Licensor]: on behalf of Cancer Research UK: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME]

[**REFERENCE CITATION** (Article name, Author(s) Name), [**COPYRIGHT**] (year of publication), advance online publication, day month year (doi: 10.1038/sj.

[JOURNAL ACRONYM])

**For Book content:** Reprinted/adapted by permission from [**the Licensor**]: [**Book Publisher** (e.g.

Palgrave Macmillan, Springer etc) [Book Title] by [Book author(s)]

[COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

**Other Conditions**:

Version 1.2

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

# Appendix-C

Copyright Clearance Center	RightsLink®	A Home	<b>?</b> Help	Email Support	Sign in	<b>L</b> Create Accoun
	A survey on relay sele communication for 5	ection in co G cellular	oopera networ	tive device-to ks	-device (	(D2D)
Requesting permission	Conference Proceedings: 2017 International Conferen (ICECDS)	eedings: al Conference on Energy, Communication, Data Analytics and Soft Computing				
to reuse	Author: K. Shamganth					
an IEEE	Publisher: IEEE					
publication	Date: Aug. 2017					
	Copyright © 2017, IEEE					
Thesis / Dissert	ation Reuse					
The IEEE does not print out this stat Requirements to b copyrighted paper 1) In the case of te give full credit to t 2) In the case of ill IEEE appear prom 3) If a substantial p senior author's ap	require individuals working or mement to be used as a permiss be followed when using any por- r in a thesis: extual material (e.g., using short he original source (author, pape ustrations or tabular material, w inently with each reprinted figur portion of the original paper is t proval.	n a thesis to o ion grant: tion (e.g., figu quotes or ref er, publication ve require tha re and/or tabl o be used, an	obtain a f re, graph erring to ) followe it the cop e. d if you a	formal reuse licen , <i>table, or textual i</i> the work within th d by the IEEE copy yright line © [Year are not the senior a	nse, howeve material) or nese papers right line © r of original author, also	er, you may f an IEEE s) users must 2011 IEEE. I publication] p obtain the
The IEEE does not print out this stat Requirements to b copyrighted paper 1) In the case of te give full credit to t 2) In the case of ill IEEE appear prom 3) If a substantial p senior author's ap Requirements to b	e require individuals working or tement to be used as a permiss be followed when using any por- r in a thesis: extual material (e.g., using short he original source (author, pape ustrations or tabular material, v inently with each reprinted figur portion of the original paper is t proval.	n a thesis to o ion grant: tion (e.g., figu quotes or ref r, publication ve require tha re and/or tabl o be used, an e IEEE copyrig	bbtain a f re, graph erring to ) followe It the cop e. d if you a ghted pap	formal reuse licen , <i>table, or textual i</i> the work within th d by the IEEE copy yright line © [Year are not the senior a per in a thesis:	nse, however material) or nese papers right line © r of original author, also	er, you may f an IEEE 5) users must 2011 IEEE. I publication] 50 obtain the
The IEEE does not print out this stat Requirements to b copyrighted paper 1) In the case of te give full credit to t 2) In the case of ill IEEE appear prom 3) If a substantial p senior author's ap Requirements to b 1) The following IE publication] IEEE. I of publication] 2) Only the accept line. 3) In placing the th on the website: In not endorse any o of this material is promotional purpu- http://www.ieee.o from RightsLink.	require individuals working or tement to be used as a permiss be followed when using any por- r in a thesis: extual material (e.g., using short the original source (author, pape ustrations or tabular material, w inently with each reprinted figur portion of the original paper is t proval. be followed when using an entir EE copyright/ credit notice shou Reprinted, with permission, fror ed version of an IEEE copyrighted nesis on the author's university or reference to IEEE copyrighted in f [university/educational entiry]; permitted. If interested in reprin oses or for creating new collecti rg/publications_standards/	n a thesis to o ion grant: tion (e.g., figu quotes or ref er, publication ve require that re and/or tablo o be used, an e IEEE copyrig Id be placed p n [author nan ed paper can l website, pleas naterial which s name goes h nting/republis ve works for n ications/rights	bbtain a f re, graph erring to ) followe it the cop e. d if you a ghted pap prominer nes, pape be used v se display i is used v serej's pr hing IEEE resale or s/rights_l	formal reuse licen , table, or textual i the work within th d by the IEEE copy yright line © [Year are not the senior a per in a thesis: http: in the reference er title, IEEE publication when posting the per- with permission in oducts or services i copyrighted mate redistribution, ple ink.html to learn h	nse, however material) or nese papers right line © r of original author, also ces: © [year ation title, a paper or yo ssage in a p this thesis s. Internal o erial for adv ase go to now to obta	er, you may f an IEEE s) users must 2011 IEEE. I publication] to obtain the o obtain the or of original and month/year ur thesis on- prominent place , the IEEE does or personal use vertising or in a License
The IEEE does not print out this stat Requirements to b copyrighted paper 1) In the case of te give full credit to t 2) In the case of ill IEEE appear prom 3) If a substantial p senior author's ap Requirements to b 1) The following IE publication] IEEE. I of publication] 2) Only the accept line. 3) In placing the th on the website: In not endorse any o of this material is promotional purp- http://www.ieee.o from RightsLink.	e require individuals working or tement to be used as a permiss be followed when using any por- r in a thesis: extual material (e.g., using short he original source (author, pape ustrations or tabular material, w inently with each reprinted figur portion of the original paper is t proval. be followed when using an entir EE copyright/ credit notice shou Reprinted, with permission, from ed version of an IEEE copyrighted nesis on the author's university w reference to IEEE copyrighted hesis on the author's university w reference to IEEE copyrighted in reprir oses or for creating new collecti rg/publications_standards/public ersity Microfilms and/or ProQue	n a thesis to o ion grant: tion (e.g., figu quotes or ref r, publication ve require tha re and/or tabl o be used, an e IEEE copyrig Id be placed j n [author nan ed paper can l website, pleas naterial which s name goes h atting/republis ve works for r ications/rights	bbtain a f re, graph erring to ) followe it the cop e. d if you a ghted pap prominer nes, pape be used v re display is used v rere]'s pr hing IEEE resale or s/rights_l the Arch	formal reuse licen a, table, or textual i the work within th d by the IEEE copy yright line © [Year are not the senior a per in a thesis: the posting the p r the following mes with permission in roducts or services i copyrighted mate redistribution, ple ink.html to learn h ives of Canada ma	ise, however material) or nese papers right line © r of original author, also ces: © [year ation title, a baper or yo ssage in a p this thesis . Internal o erial for adv ase go to low to obta y supply sin	er, you may f an IEEE s) users must 2011 IEEE. I publication] to obtain the o obtain the o obtain the r of original and month/year ur thesis on- prominent place , the IEEE does or personal use yertising or in a License ngle copies of

© 2020 Copyright - All Rights Reserved | Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. | Priva statement | Terms and Conditions Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at customercare@copyright.com https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet#formTop 1/1

# Appendix-D

## COPYRIGHT CLEARANCE

This Agreement between "Shamganth Kumarapandian" and IAEME Publication "IAEME Publication" consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by IAEME Publication and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	: 3011-0401
Licence Date:	: 28-07-2020
Licensed Content date	: 03-Oct-2016
Licensed Content Publisher	: IAEME Publication
Licensed Content Publication	: IAEME E-Publication
Licensed Content Title:	: PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS OF THRESHOLD BASED RELAY SELECTION TECHNIQUE IN COOPERATIVE WIRELESS NETWORKS
Licensed Content Author	: K.Shamganth, Dr.Sami Al-Ghnimi and Dr.Martin J Sibley
Type of Use	: Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	: Academic/University or Research Institute
Format	: Electronic
Portion	: Full Article/Chapter
Expected presentation Date	: Open Access
Author of this IAEME Publication	
Content	: Yes
Will you be translating?	: No
Institution name	: University of Huddersfield, Uk
Order reference number	: Free Mr. Shamganth Kumarapandian Ibra Ibra, 400

Requestor Location	: Ibra, 400 Oman Attn: Mr. Shamganth Kumarapandian
Order reference number	: Free
Total	: 0.00 USD

## LICENSE AGREEMENT

For the submission of an article (mention paper type here):

I hereby declare, on behalf of myself and my co-authors (if any), that:

- [1] The article submitted is an original work and has neither been published in any other peerreviewed journal nor is under consideration for publication by any other journal. More so, the article does not contravene any existing copyright or any other third-party rights.
- [2] I am/we are the sole author(s) of the article and maintain the authority to enter into this agreement and the granting of rights to International Association for Engineering and Management Education, India (IAEME in short) does not infringe any clause of this agreement
- [3] The article contains no such material that may be unlawful, defamatory, or which would, if published, in any way whatsoever, violate the terms and conditions as laid down in the agreement.
- [4] I/we have taken due care that the scientific knowledge and all other statements contained in the article conform to true facts and authentic formulae and will not, if followed precisely, be detrimental to the user.
- [5] I/we permit the adaptation, preparation of derivative works, oral presentation or distribution, along with the commercial application of the work.
- [6] No responsibility is assumed by IAEME, its staff or members of the editorial board for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of products liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products instruction, advertisements or ideas contained in a publication by IAEME.

## Grant of License

The Licensor grants you a personal, non-exclusive, non-transferable, world-wide licence to reproduce the Licensed Material for the purpose specified in your order only. Licences are granted for the specific use requested in the order and for no other use, subject to the conditions below.

The Licensor warrants that it has, to the best of its knowledge, the rights to license reuse of the Licensed Material. However, you should ensure that the material you are requesting is original to the Licensor and does not carry the copyright of another entity (as credited in the published version).

If the credit line on any part of the material you have requested indicates that it was reprinted or adapted with permission from another source, then you should also seek permission from that source to reuse the material.

## Scope of Licence

You may only use the Licensed Content in the manner and to the extent permitted by these Ts&Cs and any applicable laws.

A separate licence may be required for any additional use of the Licensed Material, e.g. where a licence has been purchased for print only use, separate permission must be obtained for electronic re-use. Similarly, a licence is only valid in the language selected and does not apply for editions in other languages unless additional translation rights have been granted separately in the licence. Any content owned by third parties are expressly excluded from the licence.

Similarly, rights for additional components such as custom editions and derivatives require additional permission and may be subject to an additional fee. Please apply to <u>iaemedu@gmail.com</u> <u>editor@iaeme.com</u> for these rights

Where permission has been granted free of charge for material in print, permission may also be granted for any electronic version of that work, provided that the material is incidental to your work as a whole and that the electronic version is essentially equivalent to, or substitutes for, the print version.

## Acknowledgement

The Licensor's permission must be acknowledged next to the Licenced Material in print. In electronic form, this acknowledgement must be visible at the same time as the figures/tables/illustrations or abstract, and must be hyperlinked to the journal/book's homepage. Our required acknowledgement format is in the Appendix below.

## Restrictions on use

Use of the Licensed Material may be permitted for incidental promotional use and minor editing privileges e.g. minor adaptations of single figures, changes of format, colour and/or style where the adaptation is credited as set out in Appendix 1 below. Any other changes including but not limited to, cropping, adapting, omitting material that affect the meaning, intention or moral rights of the author are strictly prohibited.

You must not use any Licensed Material as part of any design or trademark.

Licensed Material may be used in Open Access Publications (OAP) before publication by IAEME Publication, but any Licensed Material must be removed from OAP sites prior to final publication.

## Ownership of Rights

Licensed Material remains the property of either Licensor or the relevant third party and any rights not explicitly granted herein are expressly reserved.

## Warranty

In no event shall licensor be liable to you or any other party or Any other person or for any special, consequential, incidental Or indirect damages, however caused, arising out of or in Connection with the downloading, viewing or use of the Materials regardless of the form of action, whether for breach Of contract, breach of warranty, tort, negligence, infringement Or otherwise (including, without limitation, damages based on Loss of profits, data, files, use, business opportunity or claims of Third parties), and Whether or not the party has been advised of the possibility of Such damages. This limitation shall apply notwithstanding any Failure of essential purpose of any limited remedy provided Herein.

## Limitations

BOOKS ONLY: Where 'reuse in a dissertation/thesis' has been selected the following terms apply: Print rights of the final author's accepted manuscript (for clarity,

NOT the published version) for up to 100 copies, electronic rights for use only on a

personal website or institutional repository as defined by the Sherpa guideline

## Termination and Cancellation

Licences will expire after the period shown in Clause 3 (above).

Licensee reserves the right to terminate the Licence in the event that payment is not received in full or if there has been a breach of this agreement by you.

Questions? information@iaeme.com or +91 98847-98314

## **Appendix-E**

8/16/2020

Gmail - Request for Permission to use my published paper in Thesis



shamganth kumarapandian <shamganth@gma

24 June 2020 at 15:

## Request for Permission to use my published paper in Thesis

editoreditor@sapub.org
To: shamganth kumarapandian <shamganth@gmail.com>

Dear Shamganth,

Thanks for your email.

We agree you to use your published paper in your thesis.

Best wishes,

Evelyn Miller Editorial assistant Scientific & Academic Publishing (http://www.sapub.org/ ), USA

-----Original Message-----

From: shamganth kumarapandian <shamganth@gmail.com> To: editor@sapub.org

Date: Wed, 24 Jun 2020 16:03:07 +0400

Subject: Request for Permission to use my published paper in Thesis

> Dear Sir,

>

> Greetings.

>

> I published the article in the journal Journal of Wireless Networking > and

> Communications

> And the paper details are as follows:

 > Title: Complexity Analysis of Double-Threshold Based Relay > Selection in
 D2D Cooperative Network > Authors:

- > 1. Shamganth Kumarapandian
- > 2. Martin James Sibley
- > Year of publication: 2018
- > Volume and Page number: 8(1): 1-6
- > DOI: 10.5923/j.jwnc.20180801.01
- >

> I request permission to include the contents of this paper in my > thesis. I

> am writing my thesis and i want to include this publication in the > thesis.

>

> Thanks & Regards

>

> Shamganth

 $\label{eq:https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0?ik=161a6a4d7d&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1670382637199289014&dsqt=1&simpl=msg-f%3A...$ 

1/1